Mathematics

http://dspace.org

Thesis and Dissertations

2020-09-15

# LFuzzy Ideals and LFuzzy Congruence Relations in Universal Algebra

Gezahagne, Mulat

http://hdl.handle.net/123456789/11216 Downloaded from DSpace Repository, DSpace Institution's institutional repository



# *L*–Fuzzy Ideals and *L*–Fuzzy Congruence

# Relations in Universal Algebra

By

Gezahagne Mulat Addis

Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Bahir Dar University

A Dissertation Submitted to the Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Bahir Dar University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics.

Advisor: Berhanu Assaye (PhD, Associate Professor)Co-Advisor: Mihret Alamneh (PhD, Associate Professor),Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Bahir Dar University

June 23, 2020,

Bahir Dar, Ethiopia.

#### **Bahir Dar University**

#### Department of Mathematics

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a Dissertation entitled "L-Fuzzy Ideals and L-Fuzzy Congruence Relations in Universal Algebras" by Gezahagne Mulat Addis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Date: June 8, 2020

External Examiner-1: -	
	Guddati Chakradhara Rao (PhD., Professor)
External Examiner-2: _	
	Unsal Tekir (PhD., Professor)
Internal Examiner:	7.1.1. m. T. I. m. Wills (DLD. Assist Decferrer)
	Zelalem Tesnome Walle (PnD., Assist. Professor)
Research Supervisor:	
	Berhanu Assaye Alaba (PhD., Assoc. Professor)
Research Co-supervisor	:
	Mihret Alamneh Taye (PhD., Assoc. Professor)

# **Declaration of Authorship**

I here by declare that the work presented in this thesis entitled, 'L-Fuzzy Ideals and L-Fuzzy Congruence Relations in Universal Algebras' is based on the original work done by me under the supervision of Dr. Berhanu Assaye Alaba, in the Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Bahir Dar University; and no part of the thesis has been presented for the award of any other degree or diploma.

Signature: ..... Date: .....

Gezahagne Mulat Addis

# Abstract

In this thesis, we introduce the notion of fuzzy ideals in a more general context in universal algebras by the use of ideal terms. Fuzzy ideals generated by a fuzzy set are characterized from the fuzzy point of view as well as from the algebraic point of view. It is shown that the class of fuzzy ideals of an algebra A of a given type  $\mathfrak{F}$  forms an algebraic closure fuzzy set system together with the inclusion ordering of fuzzy sets. The commutator of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras is defined as a common abstraction of the product of fuzzy normal subgroups in groups, fuzzy ideals in rings, etc. Using this commutator, we define and characterize fuzzy prime ideals, fuzzy semiprime ideals, maximal fuzzy ideals, the radical of fuzzy ideals and the space of fuzzy prime ideals in universal algebras.

On the other hand, we deal with fuzzy congruence relations and their classes so-called fuzzy congruence classes in universal algebras. We characterize fuzzy congruence relations generated by a fuzzy relation and we give a representation for fuzzy congruence relations using crisp congruences. Mainly, we make a theoretical study on fuzzy congruence classes of algebras in different varieties. Several Mal'cev type characterizations are given for a fuzzy subset of an algebra in a given variety to be a class of some fuzzy congruence. Particularly, finite characterizations are given for fuzzy congruence classes in regular and permutable varieties.

We also introduce the notion of fuzzy cosets in universal algebras by the use of coset terms. It is shown that, fuzzy ideas and more generally fuzzy congruence classes are the natural examples of fuzzy cosets. But the converse does not hold in general. We give sufficient conditions for fuzzy cosets to be a class of some fuzzy congruence relation. Moreover, the theory of fuzzy cosets is applied to characterize permutable varieties. In some class of algebras (like groups and rings), each ideal I is the zero congruence class of a unique congruence relation denoted by  $I^{\delta}$ , and the map  $I \mapsto I^{\delta}$  defines a one to one correspondence between the lattice of ideals and the lattice of congruences on that algebra. A class of such algebras is called ideal determined. In this thesis, we study special fuzzy congruence classes so-called fuzzy congruence kernels and we give necessary and sufficient conditions (in a fuzzy sense) for a class of algebras to be an ideal determined. In this view, we study the structure of quotient algebras induced by fuzzy ideals in ideal determined varieties.

# Acknowledgements

It would not have been possible to write this dissertation without the help and support of the kind people around me, to only some of whom it is possible to give a particular mention here.

Above all, I would like to thank the almighty God for his mercy that endowed upon me. Next, I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Berhanu Assaye and my co-advisor Dr. Mihret Alamneh for their support during the preparation of this manuscript.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my friends, Mr. Wondwosen Gebeyaw, Mr. Wondwosen Zemene, Mr. Derso Abeje and Mr. Terefi Getachew for the truly friendship that you gave me since we know each other. During the preparation of this dissertation, Dr. Tilahun Bejitual has supported me by editing the language usage of this dissertation. I just want to say 'thank you for your help'. My special thanks also goes to Prof. Ivan chajda and Prof. Radim Belohlavek for giving me comments and suggestions to improve the quality of the dissertation. They have also given me the copy of several books and research articles which are not accessible for me.

I should also thank the University of Gondar and Bahir Dar university for giving me the opportunity to do my Doctoral Degree. I would also like to thank all the academic and administrative staffs of the Department of Mathematics, Bahir Dar University and specially Ms. Emebet, the secretary of the Department for her kind support during my stay in the university.

Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to my wife Ephrata Fetene. In my daily work, I have been blessed with your unconditional love, kindness, support and encouragement. You have been the source of my strength. I am also indebted to my families; mom, dad and my brothers, helping me throughout my work in different ways.

# Contents

De	Declaration of Authorship ii			iii	
In	Introduction			1	
1	Prel	eliminaries			5
	1.1	Univer	rsal Algebras	•	5
		1.1.1	Definitions and Examples	•	5
		1.1.2	Homomorphisms and Congruence Relations	•	8
		1.1.3	Ideals in Universal Algebras	•	12
	1.2	L-Fuz	zzy Sets	•	14
		1.2.1	Complete Lattices	•	14
		1.2.2	L-Fuzzy Sets	•	15
		1.2.3	Closure Systems in Fuzzy Sets	•	18
2	L-F	Fuzzy Ideals 2		21	
	2.1	Fuzzy	Ideals: Definition and Examples	•	22
	2.2	Some	Characterizations	•	24
	2.3	Fuzzy	Ideals Generated by a Fuzzy Set	•	28
	2.4	The La	attice of Fuzzy Ideals	•	35
	2.5	Homo	morphisms and Fuzzy Ideals	•	36
	2.6	Fuzzy	Ideals of Fuzzy Subalgebras	•	43
3	L-F	uzzy P	rime Ideals		49
	3.1	The Co	ommutator of Fuzzy Ideals	•	50

	3.2	Fuzzy Prime Ideals	54
	3.3	Generalized Fuzzy Prime Ideals	60
	3.4	Homomorphisms and Fuzzy Prime Ideals	62
	3.5	Maximal Fuzzy Ideals	67
	3.6	Generalized Maximal Fuzzy Ideals	70
4	L-F	uzzy Semi-Prime Ideals	73
	4.1	Fuzzy Semi-Prime Ideals	74
	4.2	The Radical of Fuzzy Ideals	77
	4.3	The Fuzzy Prime Spectrum	83
5	L-F	<b>Suzzy Congruence Relations</b>	95
	5.1	Fuzzy Congruences	96
	5.2	Fuzzy Congruence Classes	106
	5.3	Fuzzy Congruence Classes in Regular and Permutable Varieties	112
	5.4	Fuzzy Congruence Classes in Regular Varieties	122
	5.5	Fuzzy Congruence Classes Which are Fuzzy Subuniverses	130
6	L-F	uzzy Cosets	135
	6.1	Fuzzy Cosets	135
	6.2	Fuzzy Cosets Generated by a Fuzzy Set	138
	6.3	The Lattice of Fuzzy Cosets	143
	6.4	Fuzzy Cosets and Fuzzy Congruences	144
	6.5	Characterizing Congruence Permutable Varieties	147
7	L–l	Fuzzy Ideals and <i>L</i> -Fuzzy Congruences	155
	7.1	Fuzzy Congruence Kernels	156
	7.2	Ideal Determined Varieties	161
	7.3	Quotient Algebra Induced by Fuzzy Ideals	166

### Conclusion

173

### Bibliography

174

# **List of Abbreviations**

Con(A)	The class of all congruence relations on A
con(11)	The class of an congruence relations on m
FCon(A)	The class of all fuzzy congruence relations on A
I(A)	The class of all ideals in A
FI(A)	The class of all fuzzy ideals in A
$C_a(A)$	The class of all cosets in $A$ determined by the element $a$
$FC_a(A)$	The class of all fuzzy cosets in $A$ determined by the element $a$
$L_a(A)$	The set of all congruence classes in $A$ determined by the element $a$
$FL_a(A)$	The set of all fuzzy congruence classes in $A$ determined by the element $a$

# List of Symbols

Z-	The set of integers
$Z_0-$	The set of nonnegative integers
$Z^+-$	The set of positive integers
$\mathfrak{F}^-$	A type (or a language) of algebras.
$\mathfrak{F}_n-$	The set of all $n$ -ary fundamental operations
$\mathscr{K}-$	A class of algebras of a given type
T(X)-	The set of all terms over a set <i>X</i>
$T_n$ –	The set of all $n$ -ary terms over the given algebra $A$
$P_n(A)-$	The set of all $n$ -ary polynomials over the algebra $A$
$\langle X  angle -$	The ideal of A generated by the set X
$\langle \lambda  angle -$	A fuzzy ideal of A generated by the fuzzy set $\lambda$
$\overline{X}^{a}$ -	The coset of <i>A</i> determined by the element $a \in A$ and generated by the set <i>X</i>
$\overline{\lambda}^a -$	The fuzzy coset of <i>A</i> determined by the element $a \in A$ and generated by the fuzzy set $\lambda$
$\Theta(R)$ –	The congruence relation on $A$ generated by the relation $R$
$\Theta_L(oldsymbol{ ho})-$	The fuzzy congruence relation on A generated by the fuzzy relation $\rho$

Dedicated to: My Wife Ephrata Fetene and to My Son Nathan Gezahagne xviii

### **Publications**

From this dissertation, the following four papers are published and the last four papers are communicated:

- 1. *L*-Fuzzy ideals in universal algebras, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics, 17(1), (2019), 31-39
- Homomorphisms and *L*-Fuzzy ideals in universal algebras, International Journal of Fuzzy Mathematical Archive, 17(1) (2019),
- L-Fuzzy prime ideals in universal algebras, Advances in Fuzzy Systems, Vol. 2019, Article ID 5925036, 7 pages, 2019.
- L-Fuzzy semi-prime ideals in universal algebras, Korean Journal of Mathematics, 27(2), (2019), 327-340.
- 5. The fuzzy prime spectrum of universal algebras, (communicated).
- 6. *L*-fuzzy congruence relations and their classes, (communicated).
- 7. L-fuzzy cosets in universal algebras, (communicated).
- 8. Quotient algebras induced by L-fuzzy ideals, (communicated).

# Introduction

In 1965, L. A. Zadeh [158] introduced the notion of a fuzzy subset of a set X as a function from X into the unit interval [0,1]. This idea marked a new direction and stirred the interest of researchers worldwide. It provided tools and an approach to model imprecision and uncertainty present in phenomena that do not have sharp boundaries. A lot of work on fuzzy sets has come into being with many applications to various fields such as computer science, artificial intelligence, expert systems, control systems, decision making, medical diagnosis, management science, operations research, pattern recognition, neural network and others (see [80, 135, 153, 164]).

In 1971, Rosenfeld [136] applied fuzzy sets in group theory and has formulated the concept of a fuzzy subgroup of a group. Since then, many researchers have been studying fuzzy subalgebras of several algebraic structures; fuzzy subgroups and fuzzy normal subgroups of a group (see [1, 14, 16, 32, 33, 34, 41, 57, 64, 92, 102, 129, 130]), fuzzy action of groups (see [5, 47]), fuzzy ideals of a semigroup (see [86, 106, 109, 110]), fuzzy subrings and fuzzy ideals of a ring see (see [2, 65, 66, 113, 122, 123, 132, 99]), prime and maximal fuzzy ideals of a ring (see [97, 98, 119, 120, 121, 131, 143]), fuzzy sublattices and fuzzy ideals of a lattice (see [15, 46, 26, 27]), fuzzy ideals of a pseudo-complemented semi-lattice (see [28]), fuzzy ideals of a poset (see [29, 30]), fuzzy ideals and fuzzy filters of MS-algebras (see [22, 23, 24, 25]), fuzzy ideals of BCC-algebras (see [68, 69]), fuzzy ideals of BCI/BCK algebras ([125, 87, 88]), fuzzy submodules of a module (see [3, 117, 161, 162]), fuzzy subspaces of a vector space (see [44, 58, 89]), etc.

In this thesis, we introduce and investigate the notion of fuzzy ideals in a more general

context in universal algebras as a common abstraction to most of the existing theories of fuzzy ideals in different algebraic structures. We apply the general theory of algebraic fuzzy systems developed in [144, 145] to study the properties of fuzzy ideals that they have in common in different algebraic structures. In this setting, basic concepts that are connected to ideals like the generator, the commutator, primeness, semi-primeness, the prime spectrum, maximality and the radical are extended to the class of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras.

The concept of fuzzy equivalence relations was first defined by Zadeh [159] as a generalization of the concept of an equivalence relation. They have been since widely studied as a way to measure the degree of indistinguishability or similarity between the objects of a given universe of discourse, and they have shown to be useful in different contexts such as fuzzy control, approximate reasoning, fuzzy cluster analysis, etc. In literature, fuzzy equivalence relations appeared in different names such as similarity relations (see [159]), indistinguishability operators (see [152, 82, 83, 59, 60]), *I*-equivalences (see [61, 62]), etc. Fuzzy congruence relations on algebraic structures are fuzzy equivalence relations which are compatible (in a fuzzy sense) with all fundamental operations of the algebra. Fuzzy congruences have been studied in different algebraic structures; in semigroups (see [56, 108, 138, 148, 157]), in groups and rings (see [91, 94, 107, 112, 128, 137, 163]), in modules and vectorspaces (see [70, 142]), in lattice structures (see [21, 46, 146]), and more generally on universal algebras (see [52, 73, 133, 134, 139, 140]). Other important concepts that we study in this thesis are fuzzy congruence relations and their classes in universal algebras. We give several Mal'cev type characterizations in a fuzzy setting. We study, the connection between fuzzy ideals and fuzzy congruence relations in a general context.

This thesis is organized in seven chapters. The first chapter contains basic concepts of universal algebras and fuzzy set theory collected from literature. The next three chapters are devoted to the development of the general theory of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras. Whereas the last three chapters are concerned with the study of fuzzy congruence relations and fuzzy congruence classes in different equational classes of algebras like regular, permutable and idealdetermined varieties.

To be more specific: in chapter two, we define fuzzy ideals of universal algebras as a normalized fuzzy set which are  $\vec{y}$ -closed under each ideal term  $t(\vec{x}, \vec{y})$  in  $\vec{y}$ . Examples and several characterizing theorems are given. Mainly, fuzzy ideals generated by fuzzy sets are fully characterized. Furthermore, fuzzy ideals of fuzzy subalgebras are studied in the chapter. The main concern of the third chapter is to study fuzzy prime ideals and their generalization by applying the commutator of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras. We give an internal characterization for fuzzy prime ideals of universal algebras analogous to the well-known characterization of Swamy and Swamy [143] in the case of rings. Those fuzzy ideals (not necessarily 2-valued) in which every level subset is either the *A* or prime are also studied in the chapter under a name generalized fuzzy prime ideals. Moreover, we study maximal fuzzy ideals and their generalizations in the chapter.

In chapter four, the commutator of fuzzy ideals is applied to define and investigate fuzzy semi-prime ideals and the radical of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras. The radical of fuzzy ideals is described in different ways. Several characterizing theorems are given for a fuzzy ideal of an algebra *A* to be fuzzy semi-prime. In addition, the space of fuzzy prime ideals equipped with the hull-kernel topology is also presented in the chapter.

A. I. Mal'ceve [118] has proved that a nonempty subset *H* of an algebra *A* of some type  $\mathfrak{F}$  is a class of some  $\theta \in Con(A)$  if and only if for any  $a, b \in H$  and any unary polynomial *p* over *A* it holds that

$$p(a) \in H \Rightarrow p(b) \in H$$

One of the main results in this thesis is that we give a Mal'cev type characterization for fuzzy subsets of an algebra A to be a class of some fuzzy congruence on A. This result is proved in Chapter five. In particular, in regular and permutable varieties, a polynomial characterization

is given for fuzzy congruence classes using finite number of finitary terms. Furthermore, some equivalent conditions are also given for a variety of algebras to posses fuzzy congruence classes which are also fuzzy subuniverse.

In Chapter six, we define fuzzy cosets in universal algebras and investigate some of their properties. Fuzzy cosets generated by a fuzzy set are fully characterized. It is shown that fuzzy ideals and in general fuzzy congruence classes are the natural examples of fuzzy cosets. But the converse is not true in general. We give a sufficient condition for fuzzy cosets to be a class of some fuzzy congruence relation. Moreover, we give several characterization for a class of algebras to be permutable using fuzzy cosets.

The last chapter is about fuzzy ideals and fuzzy congruence relations. A special fuzzy congruence classes; called fuzzy congruence kernels are studied in the chapter. It is observed that fuzzy congruence classes are fuzzy ideals but the converse need not necessarily be true. We obtain a class of algebras in which fuzzy ideals are a kernel of unique fuzzy congruence. This establishes a one to one correspondence between ideals and fuzzy congruence relations. Finally, we study the structure of quotient algebras induced by fuzzy ideals in some general context. We characterize fuzzy prime ideals using their quotient structure.

# **Chapter 1**

# **Preliminaries**

In this chapter, we present basic notions and results that will be used throughout the thesis.

### **1.1 Universal Algebras**

Most of the results in this section are standard and are collected from [48, 50, 74, 78]

#### **1.1.1 Definitions and Examples**

For a nonempty set *A* and *n* a nonnegative integer we define  $A^0 = \{\emptyset\}$ , and, for n > 0,  $A^n$  is the set of *n*-tuples  $(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n)$  of elements from *A*.

**Definition 1.1.1.** An *n*-ary operation (or function) on a set *A* is any function *f* from  $A^n$  to *A*. In this case, *n* is the arity (or rank) of *f*.

An operation f on A is unary, binary, or ternary if its arity is 1,2, or 3, respectively.

**Definition 1.1.2.** A language (or type) of algebras is a set  $\mathfrak{F}$  of function symbols such that a nonnegative integer *n* is assigned to each member *f* of  $\mathfrak{F}$ . This integer is called the arity (or rank) of *f*, and *f* is said to be an *n*-ary function symbol. The subset of *n*-ary function symbols in  $\mathfrak{F}$  is denoted by  $\mathfrak{F}_n$ .

**Definition 1.1.3.** An algebra **A** of type  $\mathfrak{F}$  is an ordered pair  $(A, \mathfrak{F})$  where *A* is a nonempty set and  $\mathfrak{F}$  is a family of finatary operations  $f^{\mathbf{A}}$  on *A* (or a language of algebras). The set *A* is called the

universe (or underlying set) of  $\mathbf{A} = (A, F)$  and the  $f^{\mathbf{A}}$ 's are called the fundamental operations of  $\mathbf{A}$ .

In other words, an algebra is just a model for a first order language  $\mathfrak{F}$  whose nonlogical symbols are finitary operation symbols *f* with arity  $n \ge 0$ .

If there is no confusion, we prefer to write just f for  $f^{\mathbf{A}}$ . If  $\mathfrak{F}$  is finite, say  $\mathfrak{F} = \{f_1, ..., f_k\}$ , we often write  $(A, f_1, ..., f_k)$  for (A, F), usually adopting the convention:

arity 
$$f_1 \ge arity f_2 \ge \dots \ge arity f_k$$

Whenever we deal with a class of algebras, it will be assumed that all the algebras are models for one language, i.e., that they are of the same similarity type. Thus each class  $\mathscr{K}$  of algebras is attached to a language (or a type)  $\mathfrak{F}$ , and  $\mathscr{K} \subseteq Mod(\mathfrak{F})$ , where of course  $Mod(\mathfrak{F})$  denotes the class of all models (or algebras) of the given type  $\mathfrak{F}$ . When  $A \in Mod(\mathfrak{F})$  and  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_k$  as above, then  $f^A$  is called the interpretation of f in A, and it is a k-ary operation on the set A.

*Example* 1.1.4. A **groupoid** is an algebra  $(G, \cdot)$  of type (2), i.e., a groupoid is nonempty set *G* together with a binary operation  $\cdot$ . A **semigroup** is an associative groupoid.

*Example* 1.1.5. A **group** is an algebra  $(G, \cdot, {}^{-1}, e)$  of type (2, 1, 0) in which the following identities are true:

- 1.  $a \cdot (b \cdot c) = (a \cdot b) \cdot c$
- 2.  $e \cdot a = a = a \cdot e$
- 3.  $a \cdot a^{-1} = e = a^{-1} \cdot a$

Sometimes groups are written additively in a form like (G, +, -.0).

*Example* 1.1.6. A **ring** is an algebra  $(R, +, \cdot, -, 0, 1)$  of type (2, 2, 1, 0, 0) in which the following identities are true:

1. (R, +, -, 0) is an abelian group

2. 
$$a \cdot (b \cdot c) = (a \cdot b) \cdot c$$

3.  $a \cdot (b+c) = (a \cdot b) + (a \cdot c)$ 

*Example* 1.1.7. A **distributive lattice** is an algebra  $(L, \lor, \land)$  of type (2, 2) in which the following identities are true:

- 1.  $a \lor b = b \lor a$  and  $a \land b = b \land a$
- 2.  $a \lor (b \lor c) = (a \lor b) \lor c$  and  $a \land (b \land c) = (a \land b) \land c$

3. 
$$a \wedge (a \lor b) = a = a \lor (a \land b)$$

4. 
$$a \land (b \lor c) = (a \land b) \lor (a \land c)$$
 or  $a \lor (b \land c) = (a \lor b) \land (a \lor c)$ 

for all  $a, b, c \in L$ . Moreover, a bounded distributive lattice **L** is an algebra  $(L, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  of type (2,2,0,0) such that:

- 1.  $(L, \lor, \land)$  is a distributive lattice.
- 2.  $0 \wedge a = 0$  and  $a \wedge 1 = a$

for all  $a \in L$ .

*Example* 1.1.8. A **Boolean algebra** is an algebra  $(B, \lor, \land, ', 0, 1)$  of type (2, 2, 1, 0, 0) satisfying the following identities:

- 1.  $(B, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a bounded distributive lattice
- 2.  $a \wedge a' = 0$  and  $a \vee a' = 1$  for all  $a \in B$ .

Boolean algebras were of course discovered as a result of Boole's investigations into the underlying laws of correct reasoning. Since then they have become vital to electrical engineering, computer science, axiomatic set theory, model theory, and other areas of science and mathematics.

*Example* 1.1.9. A **Heyting algebra** is an algebra  $(H, \lor, \land, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$  with three binary and two nullary operations such that:

1.  $(L, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a bounded distributive lattice

- 2.  $a \rightarrow a = 1$
- 3.  $(a \rightarrow b) \land b = b$  and  $a \land (a \rightarrow b) = a \land b$
- 4.  $a \to (b \land c) = (a \to b) \land (a \to c)$  and  $(a \lor b) \to c = (a \to c) \land (b \to c)$  for all  $a, b, c \in H$ .

Heyting algebras were introduced by Birkhoff under a different name, Brouwerian algebras, and with a different notation (a : b for  $a \rightarrow b$ ).

*Example* 1.1.10. An **implication algebra** is a groupoid  $(A, \cdot)$  satisfying the identities

- 1. (xy)x = x;
- 2. (xy)y = (yx)x and
- 3. x(yz) = y(xz)

Implication algebras play an important role in logic.

#### 1.1.2 Homomorphisms and Congruence Relations

**Definition 1.1.11.** Let *A* and *B* be algebras of the same type  $\mathfrak{F}$ . A mapping  $h : A \to B$  is called a homomorphism from *A* to *B* if:

$$h(f^{A}(a_{1}, a_{2}, ..., a_{n})) = f^{B}(h(a_{1}), h(a_{2}), ..., h(a_{n}))$$

for each *n*-ary operation *f* in  $\mathfrak{F}$  and each sequence  $a_1, a_2, ..., a_n$  from *A*.

**Definition 1.1.12.** A homomorphism  $h : A \rightarrow B$  is said to be:

- 1. a monomorphism, if it is injective (or one-one).
- 2. an epimorphism, if it is surjective (or onto).
- 3. an isomorphism, if it is bijective (or a one-to-one correspondence).

We say *A* is isomorphic to *B*, written as  $A \cong B$  if there is an isomorphism from *A* onto *B*.

Note that, a monomorphism  $h : A \to B$  may sometimes be called an embedding of A into B and in this case we say A can be embedded into B.

**Definition 1.1.13.** Let *A* and *B* be two algebras of the same type. Then *B* is a subalgebra of *A* if  $B \subseteq A$  and every fundamental operation of *B* is the restriction of the corresponding operation of *A*, i.e., for each function symbol *f*,  $f^B$  is  $f^A$  restricted to *B*; we write simply  $B \leq A$  to say that *B* is a subalgebra of *A*.

**Definition 1.1.14.** A binary relation  $\theta$  on *A* is an equivalence relation on *A* if, for any elements  $a, b, c \in A$ , it satisfies:

- 1.  $(a,a) \in \theta$  (reflexivity)
- 2.  $(a,b) \in \theta \Rightarrow (b,a) \in \theta$  (symmetry)
- 3.  $(a,b), (b,c) \in \theta \Rightarrow (a,c) \in \theta$  (transitivity)

Sometimes we may write  $a\theta b$  to say that  $(a,b) \in \theta$ . The set of all equivalence relations on *A* is denoted by Eq(A), and it is observed that Eq(A) is a complete lattice together with the inclusion order.

**Definition 1.1.15.** Let *A* be an algebra of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ . A binary relation  $\theta$  on *A* is called an admissible relation if  $\theta$  satisfies the following compatibility property: for each *n*-ary  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  with n > 0 and  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_n \in A$ , if  $(a_i, b_i) \in \theta$  for i = 1, ..., n, then  $(f^A(a_1, ..., a_n), f^A(b_1, ..., b_n)) \in \theta$ 

**Definition 1.1.16.** Let *A* be an algebra of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ . By a congruence relation on *A* we mean an admissible equivalence relation on *A*. The set of congruence relations on *A* is denoted by Con(A) and it is a complete lattice together with the usual inclusion ordering  $\subseteq$ .

**Definition 1.1.17.** Let X be a set of (distinct) objects called variables. Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  be a type of algebras. The set T(X) of terms of type  $\mathfrak{F}$  over X is the smallest set such that:

- 1.  $X \cup \mathfrak{F}_0 \subseteq T(X)$
- 2. If  $p_1, p_2, ..., p_n \in T(X)$  and  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_n$ , then the "string"  $f(p_1, p_2, ..., p_n) \in T(X)$ .

For  $n \in Z^+$ , we denote by  $T_n$  the set of all n-ary terms over A. For a binary function symbol "." we usually prefer to write  $p_1.p_2$  to  $.(p_1,p_2)$ . For pinT(X) we often write p as  $p(x_1,...,x_n)$  to indicate that the variables occurring in p are among  $x_1,...,x_n$ . A term p is n-ary if the number of variables appearing explicitly in p is  $\leq n$ .

*Example* 1.1.18. Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  consists of a single binary operation symbol  $\cdot$  and let  $X = \{x, y, z\}$ . Then

$$x, y, z, x \cdot y, y \cdot z, x \cdot (y \cdot z)$$
, and  $(x \cdot y) \cdot z$ 

are some of the terms over X.

**Definition 1.1.19.** Given a term  $p(x_1, ..., x_n)$  of type  $\mathfrak{F}$  over some set *X* and given an algebra *A* of type  $\mathfrak{F}$  we define a mapping  $p^A : A^n \to A$  as follows:

- 1. If p is a variable  $x_i$ , then  $p^A(a_1,..,a_n) = a_i$  for  $a_1,..,a_n \in A$ , i.e.,  $p^A$  is the  $i^{th}$  projection map.
- 2. If *p* is of the form  $f(p_1(x_1,...,x_n),...,p_k(x_1,...,x_n))$  where  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_k$ , then

$$p^{A}(a_{1},..,a_{n}) = f^{A}(p_{1}(a_{1},..,a_{n}),...,p_{k}(a_{1},..,a_{n}))$$

In particular, if  $p = f \in \mathfrak{F}$ , then  $p^A = f^A$ . We call  $p^A$  the term function corresponding to the term p or in the older literature, derived operations.

**Theorem 1.1.20.** For any algebras A and B of the same type  $\mathfrak{F}$  we have the following

- 1. Let p be an n-ary term of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ ,  $\theta \in Con(A)$ , and suppose  $(a_i, b_i) \in \theta$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . Then,  $(p^A(a_1, ..., a_n), p^A(b_1, ..., b_n))) \in \theta$
- 2. If p is an n-ary term of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ , and  $h: A \to B$  a homomorphism, then

$$h(p^{A}(a_{1},..,a_{n})) = p^{B}(h(a_{1}),...,h(a_{n}))$$

for all  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ .

**Definition 1.1.21.** The polynomial operations of A constitute the smallest set that is closed under composition and contains the basic operations of A, the projection operations, and the constant nullary operations on A.

**Definition 1.1.22.** For each polynomial operation  $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$  of A, there exist an (m+n)-ary term operation  $p(y_1, ..., y_m, x_1, ..., x_n)$  and elements  $a_1, ..., a_m \in A$ , such that

$$f(x_1,...,x_n) = p(a_1,...,a_m,x_1,...,x_n)$$

for all  $x_1, ..., x_n \in A$ . Specifically, if f(x) is a unary polynomial over A, then there exists an (m+1)-ary term  $p(y_1, ..., y_m, x)$  and elements  $a_1, ..., a_m \in A$ , such that

$$f(x) = p(a_1, \dots, a_m, x)$$

The expression algebraic function is often used in the old literature to refer to what we call a polynomial operation. For  $n \in Z^+$ , the set of all *n*-ary polynomials over *A* is denoted by  $P_n(A)$ .

Suppose that  $\mathscr{K}$  is a class of algebras of a given type  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . Let  $p = p(x_1, ..., x_n)$ and  $t = t(y_1, ..., y_n)$  be terms of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ . The formula  $p \approx t$  is called an equation. We write  $A \models p \approx t$  to say that  $p^A = t^A$ , i.e.,  $p^A(a_1, ..., a_n) = t^A(a_1, ..., a_n)$  for all  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ . When  $A \models p \approx t$  holds, we say that  $p \approx t$  is an identity (or an equation) of A.  $\mathscr{K} \models p \approx t$  means that  $A \models p \approx t$  for all  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . If  $\Sigma$  is a set of equations of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ , then

$$Mod(\Sigma) = \{A \in Mod(\mathfrak{F}) : A \models \varepsilon \text{ for all } \varepsilon \in \Sigma\}$$

Classes of the form  $Mod(\Sigma)$ , where  $\Sigma$  is a set of equations of  $\mathfrak{F}$  are called varieties (or equational classes). By a theorem of G. Birkhoff [43], a class  $\mathscr{K} \subseteq Mod(\mathfrak{F})$  is a variety if and only if  $\mathscr{K}$  is closed under the formation of homomorphic images, subalgebras and products. The smallest variety containing a class  $\mathscr{K} \subseteq Mod(\mathfrak{F})$  is identical with  $HSP(\mathscr{K})$ , where H, S and P are the operators which close classes under homomorphic images, subalgebras and direct products, respectively. We interpret these operators in such a way that the closure of  $\mathscr{K}$  under any of them contains all isomorphic copies of its members.

#### 1.1.3 Ideals in Universal Algebras

The results presented in this subsection are taken from [79, 149]. For a positive integer *n*, we write  $\overrightarrow{a}$  to denote the *n*-tuple  $\langle a_1, a_2, ..., a_n \rangle \in A^n$ .

**Definition 1.1.23.** A term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is said to be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  if and only if  $p(a_1, ..., a_n, 0, 0, ...0) = 0$  for all  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ .

*Example* 1.1.24. Let  $(G, \cdot, {}^{-1}, e)$  be a group. Then

- 1.  $p(y) = y^{-1}$  is an ideal term in y
- 2.  $p(y_1, y_2) = y_1 \cdot y_2$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y} = (y_1, y_2)$ .
- 3.  $p(x,y) = xyx^{-1}$  is an ideal term in y.

And all other ideal terms in G are the compositions of these terms only.

*Example* 1.1.25. Let  $(R, +, \cdot, -, 0)$  be a ring. Then

- 1. p(y) = -y is an ideal term in y
- 2.  $p(y_1, y_2) = y_1 + y_2$  is an ideal term in  $\vec{y} = (y_1, y_2)$ .
- 3. p(x,y) = xy is an ideal term in y.

And all other ideal terms in R are the compositions of these terms only.

*Example* 1.1.26. Let  $(L, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  be a distributive lattice with zero. Then

- 1.  $p(y_1, y_2) = y_1 \lor y_2$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y} = (y_1, y_2)$ .
- 2.  $p(x,y) = x \land y$  is an ideal term in y.

And all other ideal terms in L are the compositions of these terms only.

**Definition 1.1.27.** A nonempty subset *I* of *A* is called an ideal of *A* if and only if for each  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A, b_1, ..., b_m \in I$  and any ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}, p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in I$ .

We denote the class of all ideals of *A*, by *I*(*A*). It is easy to check that the intersection of any family of ideas of *A* is an ideal. So, for a subset  $S \subseteq A$ , always there exists a smallest ideal of *A* containing *S* which we call it the ideal of *A* generated by *S* and it is denoted by  $\langle S \rangle$ . Note that  $x \in \langle S \rangle$  if and only if  $x = p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)$  for some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ , and  $b_1, ..., b_m \in S$  where  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an (n+m)-ary ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . If  $S = \{a\}$ , then we write  $\langle a \rangle$  instead of  $\langle S \rangle$ . In this case,  $x \in \langle a \rangle$  if and only if  $x = p(a_1, ..., a_n, a)$  for some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ , where  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an (n+1)-ary ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ .

A nonzero element *u* in *A* is said to be a formal unit, if  $A = \langle u \rangle$ , i.e., *A* is generated by *u* as an ideal. A cyclic group, a ring with unity, a bounded lattice and an almost distributive lattice with maximal elements are examples of an algebra having a formal unit. A formal unit (if it exists) in an algebra is not necessarily unique (e.g., cyclic groups and almost distributive lattices may have several formal units).

**Definition 1.1.28.** A class  $\mathscr{K}$  of algebras is called an ideal determined if every ideal *I* is the zero congruence class of a unique congruence relation denoted by  $I^{\delta}$ . In this case the map  $I \mapsto I^{\delta}$  defines an isomorphism between the lattice of ideals and congruences on *A*.

**Definition 1.1.29.** A term  $t(\vec{x}, \vec{y}, \vec{z})$  is said to be a commutator term in  $\vec{y}, \vec{z}$  if and only if it is an ideal term in  $\vec{y}$  and an ideal term in  $\vec{z}$ .

**Definition 1.1.30.** For each  $I, J \in I(A)$ , their commutator [I, J] is defined by:

$$[I,J] = \{t(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{i},\overrightarrow{j}): \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, \overrightarrow{i} \in I^m \text{ and } \overrightarrow{j} \in J^k, t(\overrightarrow{x},\overrightarrow{y},\overrightarrow{z}) \text{ is a commutator term in } \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}\}$$

The following theorem gives a characterization for the commutator of ideals using the general commutator of congruences in ideal determined varieties.

**Theorem 1.1.31.** In an ideal determined variety, the commutator [I,J] of ideals I and J is the zero congruence class of the commutator congruence  $[I^{\delta}, J^{\delta}]$ .

For subsets H, G of A, [H, G] denotes the product  $[\langle H \rangle, \langle G \rangle]$ . In particular, for  $a, b \in A$ ,  $[\langle a \rangle, \langle b \rangle]$  is denoted by [a, b]. A proper ideal P of A is called prime (respectively semi-prime) if

and only if for all  $I, J \in I(A)$ :

$$[I,J] \subseteq P \Rightarrow I \subseteq P \text{ or } J \subseteq P \text{ (respectively } [I,I] \subseteq P \Rightarrow I \subseteq P)$$

It is observed that, for a proper ideal P of A to be prime (respectively semi-prime) it is necessary and sufficient that:

$$[a,b] \subseteq P \Rightarrow a \in P \text{ or } b \in P \text{ (respectively } [a,a] \subseteq P \Rightarrow a \in P)$$

for all  $a, b \in A$ .

**Definition 1.1.32.** A nonempty subset *M* of *A* is said to be an *m*-system (respectively an *n*-system) of *A* if for any  $a, b \in M$ , it holds that  $M \cap [a, b] \neq \emptyset$  (respectively  $M \cap [a, a] \neq \emptyset$ ).

### 1.2 *L*-Fuzzy Sets

This section is concerned to present the basic definitions and results on L-fuzzy sets. We begin by defining Brouwerian lattices.

#### **1.2.1** Complete Lattices

**Definition 1.2.1.** A partially ordered set (poset) is a non-empty set *P* together with a binary relation  $\leq$  which satisfies for all  $x, y, z \in P$  the following conditions:

(P1)  $x \le x$  (Reflexive)

(P2) If  $x \le y$  and  $y \le x$ , then x = y (Antisymmetry)

(P3) If  $x \le y$  and  $y \le z$ , then  $x \le z$  (Transitivity)

An upper bound of a subset *A* of a poset *P* is an element  $x \in P$  such that  $a \le x$  for all  $a \in A$ . The least upper bound (or suprimum) of *A* is an upper bound *x* of *A* for which  $x \le y$  for all upper bounds *y* of *A*. The notion of a lower bound and a greatest lower bond (or infimum) of *A* are defined dually. It is clear from (P2) that a subset of a poset can have at most one suprimum and one infimum.

**Definition 1.2.2.** A lattice is a poset *L* in which any two elements have infimum and supremum. In this case, the infimum and supremum of  $x, y \in L$  are denoted by  $x \wedge y$  and  $x \vee y$  respectively.

**Remark.** Lattices can also be defined as an algebra with two binary operations as given in Definition 1.1.7.

**Definition 1.2.3.** A lattice *L* is said to be complete if each of its subset *S* has both infimum and supremum in *L*.

**Definition 1.2.4.** Let *L* be a lattice. An element  $a \in L$  is said to be compact if for a subset  $A \subseteq L$  for which  $\forall A$  exists,  $a \leq \forall A$  implies  $a \leq \forall F$  for some finite subset *F* of *A*. *L* is compactly generated if and only if every element in *L* is the supremum of a set of compact elements in *L*. A lattice *L* is called algebraic if it is complete and compactly generated.

**Definition 1.2.5.** By a complete Brouwerian lattice, we mean a complete lattice *L* satisfying the infinite meet distributive law; i.e.,

$$\alpha \wedge (\bigvee_{\beta \in M} \beta) = \bigvee_{\beta \in M} (\alpha \wedge \beta)$$

for all  $\alpha \in L$  and any  $M \subseteq L$ .

From now onwards  $\mathbf{L} = (L, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$  is a complete Brouwerian lattice; i.e., *L* is a complete lattice satisfying the infinite meet distributive law. For more detail on lattices we refer to [42, 77]

#### **1.2.2 L-Fuzzy Sets**

The results in this subsection are collected from [75, 111, 126].

**Definition 1.2.6.** By an L-fuzzy subset of a nonempty set X, we mean a function  $\mu$  from X into L, i.e,  $\mu : X \to L$ . In this case  $\mu$  is called the membership function and the value  $\mu(x)$  is thought of as the degree of membership of the element x to the L-fuzzy subset of X defined by the membership function  $\mu$ . The set of all L-fuzzy subsets of X is denoted by  $L^X$ .

For the sake of convenience, we drop the prefix L- and simply write fuzzy subset instead of L-fuzzy subset. We use lower case Greece letters  $\mu, \nu, \eta$ ... to denote fuzzy subsets.

**Definition 1.2.7.** Let  $\mu \in L^X$ . Then the set  $Img(\mu) = {\mu(x) : x \in X}$  is called the image of  $\mu$  and it may sometimes be denoted by  $\mu(X)$ . A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of X is called normalized or unitary if  $1 \in Img(\mu)$ .

**Definition 1.2.8.** Let  $\mu \in L^X$ . Then  $\mu$  is said to have the sup property if for every  $A \subseteq X$  there exists  $a \in A$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}(a) = \bigvee \{ \boldsymbol{\mu}(x) : x \in A \}$$

The class  $L^X$  is a complete lattice with the point-wise ordering induced by the ordering of L. Using this ordering, the notions of inclusion, equality, strict inclusion, union, intersection and complement of fuzzy subsets are defined in the following way.

**Definition 1.2.9.** For  $\mu, \nu \in L^X$ :

- 1.  $\mu \leq v$  (inclusion) if and only if  $\mu(x) \leq v(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ .
- 2.  $\mu = v$  (equality) if and only if  $\mu \leq v$  and  $v \leq \mu$ .
- 3.  $\mu < v$  (strict inclusion) if and only if  $\mu \leq v$  and  $\mu(x) \neq v(x)$  for at least one  $x \in X$ .
- 4.  $\mu \cap v$  (intersection) is defined as

$$(\boldsymbol{\mu} \cap \boldsymbol{\nu})(x) = \boldsymbol{\mu}(x) \wedge \boldsymbol{\nu}(x)$$
 for all  $x \in X$ 

where  $\wedge$  is the infimum of elements in *L*. More generally, if  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  is a family of fuzzy subsets of *X*, then  $\bigcap_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i$  (the arbitrary intersection) is a fuzzy subset of *X* defined by:

$$\bigcap_{i\in\Delta}\mu_i(x) = \bigwedge_{i\in\Delta}\mu_i(x) \text{ for all } x\in X$$

5.  $\mu \cup v$  (union) is defined as

$$(\boldsymbol{\mu} \cup \boldsymbol{\nu})(x) = \boldsymbol{\mu}(x) \lor \boldsymbol{\nu}(x) \text{ for all } x \in X$$

where  $\vee$  is the supremum of elements in *L*. More generally, if  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  is a family of fuzzy subsets of *X*, then  $\bigcup_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i$  (the arbitrary union) is a fuzzy subset of *X* defined by:

$$\bigcup_{i\in\Delta}\mu_i(x)=\bigvee_{i\in\Delta}\mu_i(x) \text{ for all } x\in X$$

**Definition 1.2.10.** Let  $\mu \in L^X$ . For  $\alpha \in L$  define  $\mu_{\alpha}$  as follows

$$\mu_{\alpha} = \{x \in X : \mu(x) \ge \alpha\}$$

 $\mu_{\alpha}$  is called the  $\alpha$ -level set (the  $\alpha$ -cut) of  $\mu$ .

Every fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  can be describe as follows. The theorem is taken from [93].

**Theorem 1.2.11.** *For any fuzzy subset*  $\lambda$  *of* A *and each*  $x \in A$ *, we have* 

$$\lambda(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \lambda_{\alpha} \}$$

**Definition 1.2.12.** For each  $H \subseteq X$ , and  $\alpha \in L$  we define a fuzzy subset  $\alpha_H$  of X as follows:

$$\alpha_H(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in H \\ \alpha & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

In particular  $1_X$  (resp.  $0_X$ ) denotes the fuzzy set

$$1_X(y) = 1(\text{ resp. } 0_X(y) = 0) \text{ for all } y \in X$$

and we call it the improper (resp. the empty) fuzzy subset of X.

**Definition 1.2.13.** [156] For each  $x \in X$  and  $0 \neq \alpha \in L$ , the fuzzy subset  $x_{\alpha}$  of X given by:

$$x_{\alpha}(z) = \begin{cases} \alpha & \text{if } z = x \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
is called an *L*-fuzzy point (or a fuzzy point for short) of *X*. In this case *x* is called the support of  $x_{\alpha}$  and  $\alpha$  its value. For a fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *X* and a fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  of *X*, we write  $x_{\alpha} \in \mu$  whenever  $\mu(x) \ge \alpha$ .

We now turn our attention to defining mappings between fuzzy subsets of two sets. So let *X* and *Y* be two non-empty sets and let *f* be a mapping from *X* to *Y*. Then *f* extends to a mapping from  $L^X$  to  $L^Y$  in the following way. For each  $\mu \in L^X$ ,  $f(\mu) \in L^Y$  is defined as:

$$f(\mu)(y) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } f^{-1}(y) = \emptyset \\ & \bigvee \{\mu(x) : x \in f^{-1}(y)\} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $y \in Y$ , where  $f^{-1}(y)$  denotes  $f^{-1}(\{y\})$ .  $f(\mu)$  is referred to as the image of the fuzzy set  $\mu$  under f. Further, for each  $v \in L^Y$ ,  $f^{-1}(v) \in L^X$  is defined as:

$$f^{-1}(\mathbf{v})(x) = \mathbf{v}(f(x))$$

for all  $x \in X$ .  $f^{-1}(v)$  is the pre-image (or the inverse image) of v under f.

**Definition 1.2.14.** Let  $f : X \to Y$  be a mapping. A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of X is said to be f-invariant if for each  $x, y \in Y$ , f(x) = f(y) implies  $\mu(x) = \mu(y)$ .

#### **1.2.3** Closure Systems in Fuzzy Sets

The results in this subsection are due to Swamy et.al [144] and V. Murali [133]. Let  $\mathscr{C}$  be a nonempty collection of fuzzy subsets of a nonempty set *X*.

**Definition 1.2.15.**  $\mathscr{C}$  is said to be a closure system in  $L^X$  if it is closed under arbitrary intersection of fuzzy sets, i.e., if for any subcollection  $\mathscr{D}$  of fuzzy subsets of X in  $\mathscr{C}$  it holds that

$$\bigwedge_{\mu\in\mathscr{D}}\mu\in\mathscr{C}$$

A closure system of fuzzy sets is also known as the "Moor family" of fuzzy sets.

**Theorem 1.2.16.** If  $\mathscr{C}$  is a closure fuzzy set system in  $L^X$ , then  $(\mathscr{C}, \leq)$  forms a complete lattice, where  $\leq$  is the inclusion ordering of fuzzy sets.

**Definition 1.2.17.** A nonempty collection  $\mathscr{C}$  of fuzzy subsets of *X* is called inductive if every nonempty chain in  $\mathscr{C}$  has a supremum in  $\mathscr{C}$ .

**Definition 1.2.18.** An inductive closure fuzzy set system  $\mathscr{C}$  in  $L^X$  is called an algebraic closure fuzzy set system.

## **Chapter 2**

# L-Fuzzy Ideals

#### Introduction

The concept of a ring ideal, a lattice ideal and a normal subgroup were extended to the notion of an ideal in a universal algebra having a constant 0 by A. Ursini [150]. However, the origin of this concept can be found in papers by R. Magari [116], E. Beutler ([38, 39, 40]), K. Fichtner [72], H. J. Hoehnke [81] and G. Matthiessen [124]. A remarkable development of the theory started with papers by A. Ursini ([149, 150, 151]), by P. Agliano ([9, 10, 11, 12, 13]), by H. P. Gumm and A. Ursini [79] and by G. Janelidze [84].

Loosely speaking, an ideal of an algebra with a constant 0 is a nonempty set which is  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under each ideal term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ , where by an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  we mean a term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  such that

$$t(a_1,...,a_n,0,0,...,0) = 0$$

for all  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ .

In this chapter, we introduce the notion of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras having a constant 0. This subsumes the well know structures: fuzzy normal subgroups in groups, fuzzy ideals in rings, fuzzy submodule in modules, fuzzy subspaces in vector spaces, fuzzy ideals in lattices with least element 0, etc. Mainly, we give several characterization for fuzzy ideals generated by fuzzy sets and show that the class of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras forms an algebraic closure fuzzy set system. Fuzzy ideals of fuzzy subalgebras are also defined and characterized in detail.

Throughout this thesis, unless and otherwise it is mentioned,  $A \in \mathcal{K}$ , where  $\mathcal{K}$  is a class of algebras of a fixed type  $\mathfrak{F}$  and we assume that there is an equationally definable constant in all algebras of  $\mathcal{K}$  denoted by 0.

#### 2.1 Fuzzy Ideals: Definition and Examples

The following concept of a  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed subset of an algebra was introduced recently by R. Bělohlávek [35].

**Definition 2.1.1.** A subset *H* of *A* is said to be  $\overrightarrow{y}$  closed under the (n+m)-ary term operation  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  if for all  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ ,

$$b_1, \dots, b_m \in H \Rightarrow p(a_1, \dots, a_n, b_1, \dots, b_m) \in H$$

Analogous to this concept, we define the following in a fuzzy setting.

**Definition 2.1.2.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is said to be  $\overrightarrow{y}$  closed under the (n+m)-ary term operation  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  if

$$\mu(p(a_1,\ldots,a_n,b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \geq \mu(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

for all  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ .

We use this concept to define fuzzy ideals.

**Definition 2.1.3.** An *L*-fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* is said to be an *L*-fuzzy ideal of *A* (or shortly a fuzzy ideal of *A*) if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

1.  $\mu(0) = 1$  and

2.  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$  closed under each ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ , i.e., for each (n+m)-ary ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  and each  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ , it holds that

$$\mu(p(a_1,\ldots,a_n,b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \ge \mu(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

We denote by FI(A), the set of all fuzzy ideals of *A*. It follows immediately from the definition that both  $1_0$  and  $1_A$  are the smallest and the largest fuzzy ideals of *A* respectively.

**Remark.** The condition (1) in the definition is just to put a restriction  $\mu$  be nonempty in the fuzzy sense. In fact, one may think that, to be nonempty, it is enough to assume  $\mu(0) > 1$ . But for our purpose we chose the value of  $\mu(0)$  to be 1, i.e., the element 0 certainly belongs to the fuzzy ideal  $\mu$ .

*Example* 2.1.4. Let  $(G, \cdot, -1, e)$  be a group. A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of G is a fuzzy ideal of G if and only if:

- 1.  $\mu(e) = 1$
- 2.  $\mu(xy) \ge \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$
- 3.  $\mu(y^{-1}) \ge \mu(y)$
- 4.  $\mu(xyx^{-1}) \ge \mu(y)$

According to [137],  $\mu$  is a fuzzy normal subgroup of *G*. Rosenfield [136], in his definition does not assume the condition  $\mu(e) = 1$ .

*Example* 2.1.5. Let  $(R, +, \cdot, -, 0, 1)$  be a ring. A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of R is a fuzzy ideal of R if and only if:

- 1.  $\mu(0) = 1$
- 2.  $\mu(x+y) \ge \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$
- 3.  $\mu(-y) \ge \mu(y)$

4.  $\mu(xy) \ge \mu(x) \lor \mu(y)$ 

These properties coincide with that of [137]. In other words  $\mu$  is a normalized fuzzy ideal of *R* in the sense of [113].

*Example* 2.1.6. Let  $(L, \lor, \land, 0)$  be a distributive lattice with least element 0. A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *L* is a fuzzy ideal of *L* if and only if:

- 1.  $\mu(0) = 1$
- 2.  $\mu(x \lor y) \ge \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$
- 3.  $\mu(x \wedge y) \ge \mu(x) \lor \mu(y)$

In other words,  $\mu$  is fuzzy ideal of L in the sense of [146].

#### 2.2 Some Characterizations

**Definition 2.2.1.** Let  $p(\vec{x})$  be an *n*-ary term operation on *A*. For each fuzzy subsets  $\eta_1, ..., \eta_n$  of *A* define

$$p: L^A \times ... \times L^A \to L^A$$
  
 $p(\eta_1, ..., \eta_n) \mapsto \eta$ 

where,  $\eta(x) = \bigvee \{\eta_1(x_1) \land ... \land \eta_n(x_n) : p(x_1,...,x_n) = x\}$ . Supremum being taken over all *n*-tuples  $(x_1,...,x_n) \in A^n$  for which  $p(x_1,...,x_n) = x$ .

**Theorem 2.2.2.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy ideal of A if and only if

- *1*.  $\mu(0) = 1$ , and
- 2. For each fuzzy subsets  $\eta_1, ..., \eta_n$  of A, and each (n+m)-ary ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  it holds that:  $p(\eta_1, ..., \eta_n, \mu, \mu, ..., \mu) \leq \mu$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Let  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an (n+m)-ary ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ and  $\eta_1, ..., \eta_n$  be arbitrary fuzzy subsets of A. For simplicity, let us put  $\eta = p(\eta_1, ..., \eta_n, \mu, \mu, ..., \mu)$ . For  $x \in A$ , if there are no (n+m)-tuples  $(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_m) \in A^{n+m}$  such that  $x = p(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_m)$ , then  $\eta(x) = 0$  and hence  $\eta(x) \le \mu(x)$ . Assume that there are such (n+m)-tuples. Let  $(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in A^{n+m}$  be an (n+m)-tuple such that  $x = p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)$ . Since  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  and  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal we get:

$$\mu(x) \geq \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m)$$
  
 
$$\geq \eta_1(a_1) \wedge ... \wedge \eta_n(a_n) \wedge \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

This implies that

$$\mu(x) \ge \bigvee \{\eta_1(x_1) \land ... \land \eta_n(x_n) \land \mu(y_1) \land ... \mu(y_m) : p(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_m) = x\} = \eta(x)$$

Thus,  $\eta \leq \mu$ . Conversely suppose that the above two conditions are satisfied. We show that  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$  closed under each (n+m)-ary ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Let  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an (n+m)-ary ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ , and let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ . Put  $x = p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)$ . For each  $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$  define fuzzy subsets  $\eta_i$  of A by:

$$\eta_i(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z = a_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Again put  $\eta = p(\eta_1, ..., \eta_n, \mu, \mu, ..., \mu)$ . By condition (2), we have  $\eta(x) \le \mu(x)$ , which implies that  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m)$ . Therefore  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Hence proved.

The following theorem gives an equivalent condition for fuzzy subsets to be a fuzzy ideal in terms of their level sets.

**Theorem 2.2.3.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy ideal of A if and only if  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of A for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. For any  $\alpha \in L$ , let  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  and  $b_1, ..., b_m \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . Then,  $\mu(b_i) \ge \alpha$  for all  $1 \le i \le m$ . This implies  $\mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m) \ge \alpha$ . Let  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Since  $\mu$  is given to be a fuzzy ideal of A, we have

$$\mu(p(a_1,\ldots,a_n,b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \ge \mu(b_1) \land \ldots \land \mu(b_m) \ge \alpha$$

So, we get  $p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and hence each  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of *A*. Conversely, suppose that the level subset  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of *A* for all  $\alpha \in L$ . In particular  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal for  $\alpha = 1$ . So that  $\mu(0) = 1$ . Let  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  and  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ . Put  $\alpha = \mu(b_1) \land$  $... \land \mu(b_m)$ . Then  $b_1, ..., b_m \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . Since each  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of *A*, we get  $p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in$  $\mu_{\alpha}$ . So that

$$\mu(p(a_1,\ldots,a_n,b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \ge \alpha = \mu(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

Therefore  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*.

The previous theorem confirms that a fuzzy ideal of *A* is precisely a fuzzy  $\mathfrak{L}$ -subset of *A*, in the sense of [144]; where  $\mathfrak{L}$  is the set of all ideals of *A*.

**Lemma 2.2.4.** A subset I of A is an ideal of A if and only if  $\alpha_I$  is a fuzzy ideal of A, for any  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ , where  $\alpha_I$  is as given in Definition 1.2.12.

*Proof.* Suppose that *I* is an ideal of *A* and let  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ . Then  $0 \in I$  and hence  $\alpha_I(0) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . If  $\alpha_I(b_j) = \alpha$  for some *j*, then

$$\alpha_I(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \alpha_I(b_m) = \alpha \leq \alpha_I(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m))$$

Assume that  $\alpha_I(b_j) \neq \alpha$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq m$ . Then  $b_1, ..., b_m \in I$ . By our assumption, *I* is an ideal of *A*. So,  $p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in I$  and hence

$$\alpha_I(p(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) = 1 \ge \alpha_I(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \alpha_I(b_m)$$

Thus  $\alpha_I$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Conversely, suppose that  $\alpha_I$  is a fuzzy ideal of A for some  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ . Then  $\alpha_I(0) = 1$  and hence  $0 \in I$ ; that is, I is nonempty. Also, let  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ ,  $b_1, ..., b_m \in I$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Then  $\alpha_I(b_j) = 1$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq m$ , which gives,  $\alpha_I(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \alpha_I(b_m) = 1$ . Being  $\alpha_I$  a fuzzy ideal, we obtain  $\alpha_I(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)) =$ 

1. Equivalently,  $p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in I$  and hence *I* is an ideal of *A*. This completes the proof.

**Corollary 2.2.5.** A subset I of A is an ideal of A if and only if its characteristic mapping  $\chi_I$  is a fuzzy ideal of A.

**Lemma 2.2.6.** Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy ideal of A. If A has a unit element say u, then  $\mu(u) \leq \mu(x)$  for all  $x \in A$ .

**Lemma 2.2.7.** *Let*  $\mu$  *be a fuzzy ideal of* A *and*  $x \in A$ *. Then we have the following:* 

- *1.* For each  $a \in A$ , if  $x \in \langle a \rangle$ , then  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(a)$ .
- 2. For any  $a_1, ..., a_m \in A$ , if  $x \in \langle \{a_1, ..., a_m\} \rangle$ , then  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(a_1) \land ... \land \mu(a_m)$ . More generally, for any nonempty subset *S* of *A*, if  $x \in \langle S \rangle$ , then there exist  $a_1, ..., a_m \in S$  such that  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(a_1) \land ... \land \mu(a_m)$ .
- *Proof.* 1. Suppose that  $x \in \langle a \rangle$ . Then  $x = p(a_1, ..., a_n, a)$  for some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  and an (n+1)-ary ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, y)$  in y. Being  $\mu$  a fuzzy ideal, we get

$$\mu(x) = \mu(p(a_1, \dots, a_n, a)) \ge \mu(a)$$

2. Suppose that  $x \in \langle \{a_1, ..., a_m\} \rangle$ . Then,  $x = p(b_1, ..., b_n, a_1, ..., a_m)$  for some  $b_1, ..., b_n \in A$ and some ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . So we have the following:

$$\mu(x) = \mu(p(b_1, ..., b_n, a_1, ..., a_m)) \ge \mu(a_1) \land ... \land \mu(a_m)$$

Hence proved.

**Theorem 2.2.8.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy ideal of A if and only if for each  $m \ge 0$  and each  $b_1, b_2, ..., b_m \in A$ , if  $x \in \langle \{b_1, ..., b_m\} \rangle$ , then  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m)$ .

*Proof.* One part of this theorem is proved in Lemma 6.1.6. So we proceed to the converse part. Assume the given condition is satisfied for  $\mu$ . Let us put  $S_m = \{b_1, ..., b_m\}$ . If we take m = 0, then  $S_m = \emptyset$  and it is known that  $\langle \emptyset \rangle = \{0\}$ . So by our assumption, we have

$$\mu(0) \ge \bigwedge_{b \in \emptyset} \mu(b) = 1$$

Thus  $\mu(0) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\vec{x}, \vec{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\vec{y}$ . If we put  $S_m = \{b_1, ..., b_m\}$ , then one can observe that  $p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in \langle S_m \rangle$ . It follows from our assumption that  $\mu(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)) \ge \mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m)$ . Therefore  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Hence proved.

In the following theorem, we give a more general setting to characterize fuzzy ideals.

**Theorem 2.2.9.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy ideal of A if and only if for any subset S of A

$$\mu(a) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in S} \mu(x) \text{ for all } a \in \langle S \rangle$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. If  $S = \emptyset$ , then  $\langle S \rangle = (0)$  and the condition holds trivially. Assume that S is nonempty and let  $a \in \langle S \rangle$ . Then  $a = t(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)$  for some  $b_1, ..., b_m \in S, a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  and some ideal term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy ideal, it follows that

$$\mu(a) \ge \mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m) \ge \bigwedge_{b \in S} \mu(b)$$

The converse part follows from the above Theorem 6.1.7 by assuming the condition for finite sets.  $\Box$ 

#### 2.3 Fuzzy Ideals Generated by a Fuzzy Set

In this section, we characterize fuzzy ideals generated by fuzzy sets in different ways.

**Theorem 2.3.1.** If  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  is a family of fuzzy ideals of A, then  $\cap_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i$  is a fuzzy ideal of A.

*Proof.* Let us put  $\mu = \bigcap_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i$ ; i.e., for each  $x \in A$ 

$$\mu(x) = \bigwedge_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i(x)$$

for all  $x \in A$ . It is clear that  $\mu(0) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ , and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \mu(p(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) &= \bigwedge_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i(p(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) \\ &\geq \bigwedge_{i \in \Delta} (\mu_i(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu_i(b_m)) \\ &= \left( \bigwedge_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i(b_1) \right) \wedge ... \wedge \left( \bigwedge_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i(b_m) \right) \\ &= \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m) \end{split}$$

Thus  $\mu = \bigcap_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i$  is a fuzzy ideal.

This theorem confirms that, for any fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of *A* always there exists a smallest fuzzy ideal containing  $\lambda$  which we call it the fuzzy ideal of *A* generated by  $\lambda$  and is denoted by  $\langle \lambda \rangle$ .

**Lemma 2.3.2.** Let  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  be fuzzy subsets of A. Then

- *1.*  $\mu \in FI(A)$  *if and only if*  $\langle \mu \rangle = \mu$
- 2.  $\mu \leq \eta \Rightarrow \langle \mu \rangle \leq \langle \eta \rangle$

It can be deduced from this lemma that the map  $\mu \mapsto \langle \mu \rangle$  forms a closure operator on the lattice  $L^A$  of fuzzy subsets of A, and fuzzy ideals of A are those closed elements of  $L^A$  with respect to this closure operator.

**Lemma 2.3.3.** For any subset *S* of *A* and each  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ ,  $\langle \alpha_S \rangle = \alpha_{\langle S \rangle}$ .

*Proof.* We show that  $\alpha_{\langle S \rangle}$  is the smallest fuzzy ideal of *A* containing  $\alpha_S$ . Since  $\langle S \rangle$  is an ideal of *A*, it follows from Lemma 2.2.4 that  $\alpha_{\langle S \rangle}$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. It is also clear that  $\alpha_S \leq \alpha_{\langle S \rangle}$ . Suppose  $\lambda$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A* such that  $\alpha_S \leq \lambda$ . Then  $\lambda(s) = 1$  for all  $s \in S$ . More generally,

 $\lambda(z) \ge \alpha$  for all  $z \in A$ . Let z be any element in A. If  $z \notin \langle S \rangle$ , then  $\alpha_{\langle S \rangle}(z) = \alpha \le \lambda(z)$ . Also, if  $z \in \langle S \rangle$ , then  $z = p(a_1, ..., a_n, s_1, ..., s_m)$  for some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ ,  $s_1, ..., s_m \in S$  and some ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Now consider:

$$\lambda(z) = \lambda(p(a_1, \dots, a_n, s_1, \dots, s_m)) \ge \lambda(s_1) \land \dots \land \lambda(s_m) = 1$$

So that  $\alpha_{\langle S \rangle} \leq \lambda$ . Therefore  $\alpha_{\langle S \rangle} = \langle \alpha_S \rangle$ .

**Corollary 2.3.4.** Let S be any subset of A and  $\chi_S$  its characteristic function. Then  $\langle \chi_S \rangle = \chi_{\langle S \rangle}$ .

In the following theorem, we characterize a fuzzy ideal generated by a fuzzy set in terms of its level sets.

**Theorem 2.3.5.** For a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A, let  $\hat{\lambda}$  be a fuzzy subset of A defined by:

$$\widehat{\lambda}(x) = \bigvee \{ lpha \in L : x \in \langle \lambda_{lpha} 
angle \}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Then  $\widehat{\lambda} = \langle \lambda \rangle$ .

*Proof.* We show that  $\hat{\lambda}$  is the smallest fuzzy ideal of *A* containing  $\lambda$ . Let us first show that  $\hat{\lambda}$  is a fuzzy ideal.

1.  $\widehat{\lambda}(0) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : 0 \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha} \rangle \} = 1$ 

2. Let  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Then consider:

$$\begin{split} &(\widehat{\lambda})^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) &= \bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \widehat{\lambda}(b_{i}) \\ &= \bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \{ \bigvee \{ \alpha_{i} \in L : b_{i} \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha_{i}} \rangle \} \} \\ &= \bigvee \{ \bigwedge \{ \alpha_{i} \in L : 1 \leq i \leq m \} : b_{i} \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha_{i}} \rangle \} \end{split}$$

If we put  $\beta = \bigwedge \{ \alpha_i \in L : 1 \le i \le m \}$ , where  $b_i \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha_i} \rangle$ , then we get  $\lambda_{\alpha_i} \subseteq \lambda_\beta$  for all  $1 \le i \le m$ , which gives that

$$\langle \lambda_{lpha_i} 
angle \subseteq \langle \lambda_eta 
angle$$

for all  $1 \le i \le m$ . So that  $b_1, ..., b_m \in \langle \lambda_\beta \rangle$ . Now it follows from the above equality that;

$$\begin{aligned} (\widehat{\lambda})^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) &= \bigvee \{ \bigwedge \{ \alpha_{i} \in L : 1 \leq i \leq m \} : b_{i} \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha_{i}} \rangle \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ \beta \in L : b_{1}, ..., b_{m} \in \langle \lambda_{\beta} \rangle \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ \beta \in L : p(a_{1}..., a_{n}, b_{1}, ..., b_{m}) \in \langle \lambda_{\beta} \rangle \} \\ &= \widehat{\lambda}(p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore  $\hat{\lambda}$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. It is also clear to see that  $\lambda \leq \hat{\lambda}$ . Suppose that  $\mu$  is any other fuzzy ideal of *A* such that  $\lambda \leq \mu$ . Then  $\langle \lambda_{\alpha} \rangle \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Now for any  $x \in A$  consider:

$$\widehat{\lambda}(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha} \rangle \}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \mu_{\alpha} \}$$
  
$$= \mu(x) \quad (by Theorem 1.2.11)$$

Therefore  $\widehat{\lambda}$  is the smallest fuzzy ideal containing  $\lambda$  and hence  $\widehat{\lambda} = \langle \lambda \rangle$ .

**Corollary 2.3.6.** For any fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A and each  $\alpha \in L$ ,  $\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle \subseteq \langle \mu \rangle_{\alpha}$ . Moreover, if L is a chain and  $\mu$  is finite valued or equivalently if  $\mu$  has sup property, then the equality holds.

The following theorem gives a better description for  $\alpha$ -level cuts of the fuzzy ideal generated by a fuzzy set.

**Theorem 2.3.7.** *Let*  $\mu$  *be a fuzzy subset of* A *and*  $\alpha \in L$ *:* 

$$\langle \mu \rangle_{\alpha} = \bigcup \{ \bigcap_{\gamma \in M} \langle \mu_{\gamma} \rangle : M \subseteq L \text{ and } \alpha \leq supM \}$$

Proof. Let us put

$$H = \bigcup \{ \bigcap_{\gamma \in M} \langle \mu_{\gamma} \rangle : \alpha \leq supM \}$$

If  $x \in H$ , then  $x \in \bigcap_{\gamma \in M} \langle \mu_{\gamma} \rangle$  for some  $M \subseteq L$  with  $\alpha \leq supM$ ; i.e.,  $x \in \langle \mu_{\gamma} \rangle$  for all  $\gamma \in M$  and  $\alpha \leq supM$ . By Theorem 2.3.5 we have the following

$$\langle \mu \rangle(x) = \bigvee \{ \beta \in L : x \in \langle \mu_{\beta} \rangle \}$$

So that  $\langle \mu \rangle(x) \ge \gamma$  for all  $\gamma \in M$ . This gives  $\langle \mu \rangle(x) \ge \alpha$ . Thus  $x \in \langle \mu \rangle_{\alpha}$  and hence  $H \subseteq \langle \mu \rangle_{\alpha}$ . To prove the other inequality, let us take  $x \in \langle \mu \rangle_{\alpha}$ . Then

$$\bigvee \{\beta \in L : x \in \langle \mu_{\beta} \rangle \} \geq \alpha$$

If we put  $M = \{\beta \in L : x \in \langle \mu_{\beta} \rangle\}$ , then  $M \subseteq L$  such that  $\alpha \leq supM$  and  $x \in \langle \mu_{\gamma} \rangle$  for all  $\gamma \in M$ . This means that  $x \in \bigcap_{\gamma \in M} \langle \mu_{\gamma} \rangle$  and  $\alpha \leq supM$ . Thus  $x \in H$ , and hence the proof ends.

In the following, we give an algebraic characterization for fuzzy ideals generated by fuzzy sets.

**Definition 2.3.8.** For a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A, define  $\overline{\lambda}$  to be a fuzzy subset of A as follows:  $\overline{\lambda}(0) = 1$  and for  $0 \neq x \in A$ 

$$\overline{\lambda}(x) = \bigvee \{\lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x, \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}) \text{ is an ideal term in } \overrightarrow{y} \}$$

**Theorem 2.3.9.** For any fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A,  $\overline{\lambda} = \langle \lambda \rangle$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.3.5 it is enough to show that  $\overline{\lambda} = \widehat{\lambda}$ . It is clear from the definition that  $\overline{\lambda}(0) = \widehat{\lambda}(0)$ . For each  $0 \neq x \in A$ , let us define two sets  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{\lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, P(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x, \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, P(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}) \text{ is an ideal term in } \overrightarrow{y} \}$$
$$G_x = \{\alpha \in L : x \in \langle \lambda_\alpha \rangle \}$$

Clearly both  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  are nonempty subsets of L. Our claim is to show that:  $\forall H_x = \forall G_x$ . If  $\alpha \in H_x$ , then  $\alpha = \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) = \lambda(b_1) \land ... \land \lambda(b_m)$ , for some  $b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ , with  $p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x$  for

some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ , where  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . That is,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\lambda_{\alpha})^m$ . So that  $x \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha} \rangle$ , which gives  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Thus  $H_x \subseteq G_x$  and hence  $\bigvee H_x \leq \bigvee G_x$ . To prove the other inequality it is enough to show that, for each  $\alpha \in G_x$ , there exists  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . Let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then  $x \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha} \rangle$ ; that is,  $x = p(\overrightarrow{\alpha}, \overrightarrow{b})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\lambda_{\alpha})^m$ , and  $\overrightarrow{\alpha} \in A^n$  where  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . If we put  $\beta = \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b})$ , then  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.3.10.** For each  $x \in A$  and  $\alpha \in L - \{0\}$ , the fuzzy ideal of A generated by the fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  is characterized as:

$$\langle x_{\alpha} \rangle(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z = 0 \\ \alpha & \text{if } z \in \langle x \rangle - \{0\} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ .

**Notation.** We write  $F \subset \subset A$ , to say that *F* is a finite subset of *A*.

In the following theorem we characterize fuzzy ideals generated by a fuzzy set using finitely generated crisp ideals.

**Theorem 2.3.11.** For a fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A, let  $\overline{\mu}$  be a fuzzy subset of A defined by:

$$\overline{\mu}(x) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{a \in F} \mu(a) : x \in \langle F \rangle, F \subset \subset A \}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Then  $\overline{\mu} = \langle \mu \rangle$ .

*Proof.* It is enough if we show that  $\overline{\mu} = \widehat{\mu}$ . Clearly,  $\overline{\mu}(0) \ge \bigwedge_{a \in F} \mu(a)$  for all finite subsets *F* of *A* (since  $0 \in \langle F \rangle$ ,  $\forall F \subset \subset A$ ). In particular,

$$\overline{\mu}(0) \ge \bigwedge_{a \in \emptyset} \mu(a) = 1$$

Thus  $\overline{\mu}(0) = 1$ . For each  $0 \neq x \in A$ , let us take the set  $G_x$  as in Theorem 2.3.9 and define a set  $H_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{\bigwedge_{a \in F} \mu(a) : x \in \langle F \rangle, F \subset \subset A\}$$

Our claim is to show that:

$$igvee \{ lpha: lpha \in H_x \} = igvee \{ lpha: lpha \in G_x \}$$

One way we show that  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . If  $\alpha \in H_x$ , then  $\alpha = \bigwedge_{a \in F} \mu(a)$  and  $x \in \langle F \rangle$  for some finite subset *F* of *A*. That is,  $a \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $a \in F$  and  $x \in \langle F \rangle$ . So that  $x \in \langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle$ . Then  $\alpha \in G_x$ and hence  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . The other way, we prove that, for each  $\alpha \in G_x$ , there exists  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . For, let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then  $x \in \langle \lambda_{\alpha} \rangle$ ; that is,  $x = P(\overrightarrow{\alpha}, \overrightarrow{b})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\lambda_{\alpha})^m$ , and  $\overrightarrow{\alpha} \in A^n$  where  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Let  $\overrightarrow{b} = (b_1, b_2, ..., b_m)$  and  $\beta = \bigwedge_{i=1}^m \mu(b_i)$ . Then  $\beta \geq \alpha$ . Moreover, if we put  $F = \{b_1, b_2, ..., b_m\}$ , then *F* is a finite subset of *A* such that  $x \in \langle F \rangle$ . Thus  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This completes the proof.

**Theorem 2.3.12.** Suppose that  $\{I_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in L}$  is a family of ideals of A such that

$$\bigcap_{\alpha\in M}I_{\alpha}=I_{supM}$$

for all  $M \subseteq L$ . Then, there is a unique fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A for which  $\mu_{\alpha} = I_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Moreover, every fuzzy ideal of A is obtained in this way only.

*Proof.* We first show that the map  $\alpha \mapsto I_{\alpha}$  is antitone; in the sense that, for each  $\alpha, \beta \in L$  $\alpha \leq \beta \Rightarrow I_{\beta} \subseteq I_{\alpha}$ . Let  $\alpha, \beta \in L$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . Put  $M = \{\alpha, \beta\}$ . Then  $supM = \beta$ . By our hypothesis  $I_{\alpha} \cap I_{\beta} = I_{supM} = I_{\beta}$ . So that  $I_{\beta} \subseteq I_{\alpha}$  and hence the map  $\alpha \mapsto I_{\alpha}$  is antitone. Define a fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A by:

$$\mu(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in I_{\alpha} \}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Clearly  $\mu$  is well defined. Our aim is to show that  $\mu_{\alpha} = I_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . The inclusion  $I_{\alpha} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  follows easily from the definition of  $\mu$ . To prove the other inclusion, let  $x \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\mu(x) \ge \alpha$ , i.e.,

$$\bigvee \{\gamma \in L : x \in I_{\gamma}\} \geq \alpha$$

If we put  $M = \{\gamma \in L : x \in I_{\gamma}\}$ , then  $M \subseteq L$  such that  $\alpha \leq supM$  and  $x \in I_{\gamma}$  for all  $\gamma \in M$ , i.e.,

$$x \in \bigcap_{\gamma \in M} I_{\gamma}$$

By our assumption it follows that  $x \in I_{supM}$ . Since  $\alpha \leq supM$  and the map  $\alpha \mapsto I_{\alpha}$  is antitone we get  $x \in I_{\alpha}$ . Thus  $I_{\alpha} = \mu_{\alpha}$ . This means that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy subset of A for which its  $\alpha$ -level sets are  $I_{\alpha}$ 's. Each  $I_{\alpha}$  being an ideal of A, it follows from Theorem 2.2.3 that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal. The uniqueness of  $\mu$  follows from the fact  $\mu_{\alpha} = I_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

#### 2.4 The Lattice of Fuzzy Ideals

As observed in the previous section, the intersection of any family of fuzzy ideals of *A* is a fuzzy ideal, i.e., the subfamily FI(A) of the lattice  $L^A$  is closed under arbitrary intersection of fuzzy sets. So that  $(FI(A), \leq)$  forms a closure fuzzy set system and hence by Theorem 1.2.16 it is a complete lattice, where  $\leq$  is a pointwise ordering of fuzzy sets. The following theorem summarizes this.

**Theorem 2.4.1.** The set of all fuzzy ideals of A forms a complete lattice where the infimum and supremum of any family  $\{\mu_i : i \in \Delta\}$  of fuzzy ideals of A is given by:

$$\wedge \mu_i = \cap \mu_i \text{ and } \vee \mu_i = \langle \cup \mu_i \rangle$$

**Theorem 2.4.2.**  $(FI(A), \leq)$  is an algebraic closure fuzzy set system.

*Proof.* By Definition 1.2.18, it is enough to show that FI(A) is inductive in  $L^A$ . Let  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  be a chain in FI(A). Let us put

$$\eta = igcup_{i\in\Delta}\mu_i$$

We show that  $\eta$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Clearly  $\eta(0) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . First observe that, for each m-tuples  $i_1, ..., i_m \in \Delta$ , there exists  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$  such that  $\mu_{i_j} \leq \mu_{i_k}$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ . Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \eta(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \eta(b_m) &= \left( \bigvee_{i_1 \in \Delta} \mu_{i_1}(b_1) \right) \wedge ... \wedge \left( \bigvee_{i_m \in \Delta} \mu_{i_m}(b_m) \right) \\ &= \bigvee_{i_1, \dots, i_m \in \Delta} (\mu_{i_1}(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu_{i_m}(b_m)) \\ &\leq \bigvee_{i_k \in \Delta} (\mu_{i_k}(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu_{i_k}(b_m)) \\ &\leq \bigvee_{i_k \in \Delta} \mu_{i_k}(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)) \\ &= \eta(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $\eta$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A* and this completes the proof.

### 2.5 Homomorphisms and Fuzzy Ideals

Let *A* and *B* be algebras of the same type  $\mathfrak{F}$ . A mapping  $h : A \to B$  is called a homomorphism from *A* to *B* if:

$$h(f^{A}(a_{1}, a_{2}, ..., a_{n})) = f^{B}(h(a_{1}), h(a_{2}), ..., h(a_{n}))$$

for each *n*-ary operation  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  and each sequence  $a_1, a_2, ..., a_n$  from A. It is observed that if p is an *n*-ary term of type  $\mathfrak{F}$ , then

$$h(p^{A}(a_{1}, a_{2}, ..., a_{n})) = p^{B}(h(a_{1}), h(a_{2}), ..., h(a_{n}))$$

for all  $a_1, a_2, ..., a_n \in A$ .

**Theorem 2.5.1.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a homomorphism. Then we have the following:

- 1. If  $\sigma$  is a fuzzy ideal of B, then  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy ideal of A
- 2. If  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A and h is surjective, then  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy ideal of B.

*Proof.* Let  $h : A \rightarrow B$  be a homomorphism.

 Suppose that σ is a fuzzy ideal of B and let a<sub>1</sub>, a<sub>2</sub>,..., a<sub>n</sub>, b<sub>1</sub>, b<sub>2</sub>,..., b<sub>m</sub> ∈ A. Then h(a<sub>1</sub>), h(a<sub>2</sub>),..., h(a<sub>n</sub>), h(b<sub>1</sub>), h(b<sub>2</sub>),..., h(b<sub>m</sub>) ∈ B. If p(x, y) is an (n+m)-ary ideal term in y, then we get:

$$\sigma(p^{B}(h(a_{1}), h(a_{2}), ..., h(a_{n}), h(b_{1}), h(b_{2}), ..., h(b_{m}))) \geq \sigma(h(b_{1})) \land ... \land \sigma(h(b_{m}))$$

Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} h^{-1}(\sigma)(p^A(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) &= & \sigma(h(p^A(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m))) \\ &= & \sigma(p^B(h(a_1),...,h(a_n),h(b_1),...,h(b_m))) \\ &\geq & \sigma(h(b_1)) \wedge ... \wedge \sigma(h(b_m)) \\ &= & h^{-1}(\sigma)(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge h^{-1}(\sigma)(b_m) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*.

Suppose that *h* is surjective and let μ be a fuzzy ideal of *A*. If u<sub>1</sub>, u<sub>2</sub>,..., u<sub>n</sub>, v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>,..., v<sub>m</sub> ∈ B, then there exist a<sub>1</sub>, a<sub>2</sub>,..., a<sub>n</sub>, b<sub>1</sub>, b<sub>2</sub>, ..., b<sub>m</sub> ∈ A such that h(a<sub>i</sub>) = u<sub>i</sub> and h(b<sub>j</sub>) = v<sub>j</sub> for all i, j. If p(x̄, ȳ) is an n+m ideal term in ȳ, then we get:

$$h(p^{A}(a_{1},...,a_{n},b_{1},...,b_{m})) = p^{B}(h(a_{1}),...,h(a_{n}),h(b_{1}),...,h(b_{m}))$$
$$= p^{B}(u_{1},...,u_{n},v_{1},...,v_{m})$$

So that  $p^A(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m) \in h^{-1}(p^B(u_1, ..., u_n, v_1, ..., v_m))$ . Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} h(\mu)(p^B((u_1,...,u_n,v_1,...,v_m)) &= \bigvee \{\mu(a) : a \in h^{-1}(p^B((u_1,...,u_n,v_1,...,v_m))\} \\ &\geq \mu(p^A(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) \\ &\geq \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m) \end{split}$$

Since  $b_j$  is arbitrary in  $h^{-1}(v_j)$  for all j = 1, 2, ..., m, it follows that

$$h(\mu)(p^B((u_1,...,u_n,v_1,...,v_m)) \geq \left(\bigvee_{b_1 \in h^{-1}(v_1)} \mu(b_1)\right) \wedge ... \wedge \left(\bigvee_{b_m \in h^{-1}(v_m)} \mu(b_m)\right)$$
$$= h(\mu)(v_1) \wedge ... \wedge h(\mu)(v_m)$$

Therefore  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *B*.

**Theorem 2.5.2.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism, then the mapping  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  defines a one-to-one correspondence between the set of all h-invariant fuzzy ideals of A and the set of all fuzzy ideals of B.

*Proof.* By (2) of the above theorem,  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  is well-defined. To show that it is onto, let  $\sigma$  be a fuzzy ideal of B. Put  $\mu = h^{-1}(\sigma)$ . Then it follows from the above theorem that  $\mu$  is an h-invariant fuzzy ideal of A such that  $h(\mu) = \sigma$ . So that the map  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  is onto. It remains to show that it one-one. Let  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  be an h-invariant fuzzy ideals of A such that  $h(\mu_1) = h(\mu_2)$ . Let  $x \in A$ . Then  $h(x) \in B$  and  $h(\mu_1)(h(x)) = h(\mu_2)(h(x))$ . Since  $\mu_1$  is h-invariant we have  $\mu_1(x) = \mu_1(a)$  for all  $a \in h^{-1}(x)$ . So,

$$\mu_{1}(x) = \bigvee \{ \mu_{1}(a) : a \in h^{-1}(x) \}$$
  
=  $h(\mu_{1})(h(x))$   
=  $h(\mu_{2})(h(x))$   
=  $\bigvee \{ \mu_{2}(b) : b \in h^{-1}(x) \}$   
=  $\mu_{2}(x)$ 

Thus  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  and hence the map  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  is a one-to-one correspondence.

**Theorem 2.5.3.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a homomorphism,  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  be fuzzy ideals of A. Then

$$h(\mu \lor \mathbf{v}) = h(\mu) \lor h(\mathbf{v})$$

*Proof.* We show that  $h(\mu \lor v)$  is the smallest fuzzy ideal of *B* containing both  $h(\mu)$  and h(v). By Theorem 2.5.1,  $h(\mu \lor v)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *B*. Now let  $y \in B$ . If  $h^{-1}(y) = \emptyset$ , then  $h(\mu)(y) = 0 \le h(\mu \lor v)(y)$ . Also if  $h^{-1}(y) \ne \emptyset$ , then consider the following:

$$h(\mu)(y) = \bigvee \{\mu(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y)\}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{(\mu \lor \mathbf{v})(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y)\}$$
  
$$= h(\mu \lor \mathbf{v})(y)$$

So that  $h(\mu) \le h(\mu \lor \nu)$ . Similarly, we can verify that  $h(\nu) \le h(\mu \lor \nu)$ . Now for any fuzzy ideal  $\eta$  of *B*:

$$\begin{split} h(\mu) &\leq \eta, h(\nu) \leq \eta \quad \Rightarrow \quad h^{-1}(h(\mu)) \leq h^{-1}(\eta), h^{-1}(h(\nu)) \leq h^{-1}(\eta) \\ &\Rightarrow \quad \mu \leq h^{-1}(\eta), \nu \leq h^{-1}(\eta) \\ &\Rightarrow \quad \mu \lor \nu \leq h^{-1}(\eta) \\ &\Rightarrow \quad h(\mu \lor \nu) \leq h(h^{-1}(\eta)) \leq \eta \end{split}$$

Therefore  $h(\mu \lor v)$  is the smallest fuzzy ideal of *B* containing both  $h(\mu)$  and h(v). So that,  $h(\mu \lor v) = h(\mu) \lor h(v)$ .

**Theorem 2.5.4.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a homomorphism, and  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  be fuzzy ideals of A. Then

$$h(\boldsymbol{\mu} \wedge \boldsymbol{\nu}) \leq h(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \wedge h(\boldsymbol{\nu})$$

Moreover, if either  $\mu$  or  $\nu$  is *h*-invariant, then the equality holds.

*Proof.* Let y be any element in B. If  $h^{-1}(y) = \emptyset$ , then  $h(\mu)(y) = 0 = h(\nu)(y) = h(\mu \wedge \nu)(y)$ . Let  $h^{-1}(y) \neq \emptyset$ . Then consider the following:

$$h(\mu \wedge \mathbf{v})(y) = \bigvee \{(\mu \wedge \mathbf{v})(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y)\}$$
  
$$= \bigvee \{\mu(x) \wedge \mathbf{v}(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y)\}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{\mu(a) \wedge \mathbf{v}(b) : a, b \in h^{-1}(y)\}$$
  
$$= \bigvee \{\mu(a) : a \in h^{-1}(y)\} \wedge \bigvee \{\mathbf{v}(b) : b \in h^{-1}(y)\}$$
  
$$= h(\mu)(y) \wedge h(\mathbf{v})(y)$$

Therefore  $h(\mu \wedge v) \leq h(\mu) \wedge h(v)$ . Moreover, assume without loss of generality that  $\mu$  is h-invariant. Then  $\mu(a) = \mu(b)$ , whenever h(a) = h(b). Now for each  $y \in B$ , with  $h^{-1}(y) \neq \emptyset$ , consider the following:

$$\begin{aligned} h(\mu)(y) \wedge h(\nu)(y) &= \bigvee \{\mu(a) : a \in h^{-1}(y)\} \wedge \bigvee \{\nu(b) : b \in h^{-1}(y)\} \\ &= \bigvee \{\mu(a) \wedge \nu(b) : a, b \in h^{-1}(y)\} \\ &= \bigvee \{\mu(x) \wedge \nu(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y)\} \\ &= \bigvee \{(\mu \wedge \nu)(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y)\} \\ &= h(\mu \wedge \nu)(y) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore  $h(\mu \wedge v) = h(\mu) \wedge h(v)$ .

**Theorem 2.5.5.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a homomorphism, and  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy ideals of B. Then

$$h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \vee h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \leq h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \vee \boldsymbol{\theta})$$

Moreover, the equality holds whenever h is surjective.

*Proof.* For each  $x \in A$ , consider:

$$h^{-1}(\sigma)(x) = \sigma(h(x)) \le (\sigma \lor \theta)(h(x)) = h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)(x)$$

So that  $h^{-1}(\sigma) \leq h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$ . Similarly it can be verified that  $h^{-1}(\theta) \leq h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$ . Therefore  $h^{-1}(\sigma) \lor h^{-1}(\theta) \leq h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$ . Further, let we assume that *h* is surjective. To prove the equality, it is enough if we show that  $h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$  is the smallest fuzzy ideal of *A* containing both  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  and  $h^{-1}(\theta)$ . From Theorem 2.5.1 we have that  $h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. From the above inequality also we have  $h^{-1}(\sigma) \leq h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$  and  $h^{-1}(\theta) \leq h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)$ . Now let  $\mu$  be any other fuzzy ideal of *A* such that  $h^{-1}(\sigma) \leq \mu$  and  $h^{-1}(\theta) \leq \mu$ . Then  $h(h^{-1}(\sigma)) \leq h(\mu)$  and  $h(h^{-1}(\theta)) \leq h(\mu)$ . Since *h* is surjective, it follows that  $\sigma \leq h(\mu)$  and  $\theta \leq h(\mu)$ . So that,  $\sigma \lor \theta \leq h(\mu)$ , which gives  $h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta) \leq h^{-1}(h(\mu))$ . Our aim is to show that  $h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta) \leq \mu$ . Suppose not. Then there exists  $a \in A$  such that  $h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta)(a) \leq \mu(a)$ . If we put z = h(a), then we get  $(\sigma \lor \theta)(z) \nleq h(\mu)(z)$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore  $h^{-1}(\sigma \lor \theta) \leq \mu$  and hence the equality holds.

**Theorem 2.5.6.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a homomorphism, and  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy ideals of B. Then

$$h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \wedge \boldsymbol{\theta}) = h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \wedge h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\theta})$$

*Proof.* For each  $a \in A$ , consider the following:

$$h^{-1}(\sigma \wedge \theta)(a) = (\sigma \wedge \theta)(h(a))$$
$$= \sigma(h(a)) \wedge \theta(h(a))$$
$$= h^{-1}(\sigma)(a) \wedge h^{-1}(\theta)(a)$$
$$= (h^{-1}(\sigma) \wedge h^{-1}(\theta))(a)$$

Therefore  $h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \wedge \boldsymbol{\theta}) = h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \wedge h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\theta}).$ 

**Theorem 2.5.7.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a surjective homomorphism. For any h-invariant fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A, we have:

$$h(\langle \mu \rangle) = \langle h(\mu) \rangle$$

*Proof.* For any  $y \in B$ , consider:

$$h(\langle \mu \rangle)(y) = \bigvee \{ \langle \mu \rangle(x) : x \in h^{-1}(y) \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle \} : x \in h^{-1}(y) \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle \text{ and } h(x) = y \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : y \in h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle) \}$$

on the other hand

$$\langle h(\mu)\rangle(y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : y \in \langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle \}$$

Now it is enough to show that

$$h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle) = \langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle$$

Let  $z \in h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle)$ . Then z = h(x) for some  $x \in \langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle$ . There exist  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A, b_1, ..., b_m \in \mu_{\alpha}$ and an ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  such that  $x = p^A(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)$ . So,

$$z = h(x)$$
  
=  $h(p^{A}(a_{1},...,a_{n},b_{1},...,b_{m}))$   
=  $p^{B}(h(a_{1}),...,h(a_{n}),h(b_{1}),...,h(b_{m}))$ 

For each j = 1, 2, ..., m we have

$$h(\mu)(h(b_j)) = \bigvee \{\mu(x) : x \in h^{-1}(h(b_j))\}$$

Since  $\mu$  is *h*-invariant and each  $b_j \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , we get

$$h(\mu)(h(b_j)) = \mu(b_j) \ge \alpha$$

for all j = 1, 2, ..., m; that is  $h(b_j) \in h(\mu)_{\alpha}$  for all j and  $z = p^B(h(a_1), ..., h(a_n), h(b_1), ..., h(b_m)$ . This means  $z \in \langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle$ . So that

$$h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle) \subseteq \langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle$$

To prove the other inclusion, let  $z \in \langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle$ . Then  $z = p^{B}(\overrightarrow{u}, \overrightarrow{v})$  for some  $u_{1}, ..., u_{n} \in B$ ,  $v_{1}, ..., v_{m} \in h(\mu)_{\alpha}$  and some ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Since h is surjective, there exist  $a_{1}, ..., a_{n}, b_{1}, ..., b_{m} \in A$  such that  $h(a_{i}) = u_{i}$  and  $h(b_{j}) = v_{j}$  for all i = 1, ..., n and j = 1, ..., m. As each  $v_{j} \in h(\mu)_{\alpha}$ , we have  $h(\mu)(h(b_{j})) \ge \alpha$ . Since  $\mu$  is h-invariant we get  $\mu(b_{j}) \ge \alpha$ ; that is,  $b_{j} \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all j. Put  $x = p^{A}(a_{1}, ..., a_{n}, b_{1}, ..., b_{m})$ . Then  $x \in \langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle$ . Moreover

$$h(x) = h(p^{A}(a_{1},...,a_{n},b_{1},...,b_{m}))$$
  
=  $p^{B}(h(a_{1}),...,h(a_{n}),h(b_{1}),...,h(b_{m})))$   
=  $p^{B}(u_{1},...,u_{n},v_{1},...,v_{m})$   
=  $z$ 

That is, z = h(x), where  $x \in \langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle$ , which gives  $z \in h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle)$ . Thus  $\langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle \subseteq h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle)$ . Hence  $h(\langle \mu_{\alpha} \rangle) = \langle h(\mu)_{\alpha} \rangle$  and this completes the proof.

#### 2.6 Fuzzy Ideals of Fuzzy Subalgebras

In this section, we introduce the notion of fuzzy ideals of fuzzy subalgebras in universal algebra. The following definition is due to V. Murali [133].

**Definition 2.6.1.** An *L*-fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* is called an *L*-fuzzy subalgebra of *A* if the following are satisfied:

- 1.  $\mu(f^A) = 1$  for all nullary operation symbols f in  $\mathfrak{F}$ .
- 2. If *f* is an *n*-ary operation symbol with n > 0 and  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ , then

$$\mu(f^A(a_1,\ldots,a_n)) \ge \mu(a_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(a_n)$$

It is obvious that subalgebras of A are closed under term functions. In the sense that, if B is a subalgebra of A,  $p(x_1,...,x_m)$  is an *m*-ary term and  $a_1,...,a_m \in B$ , then  $p(a_1,...,a_m) \in B$ . Similarly, one can verify that fuzzy subalgebras are also closed (in the fuzzy sense) under term functions. In the sense that, if  $\mu$  is a fuzzy subalgebra of A,  $p(x_1,...,x_m)$  is an *m*-ary term, then

$$\mu(p(a_1,...,a_m)) \geq \mu(a_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(a_m)$$

for all  $a_1, ..., a_m \in A$ . Fundamental operations of *A* can be viewed as an ideal term operation on *A*. using this fact, one can easily verify that fuzzy ideals of *A* are also fuzzy subalgebras of *A*.

**Theorem 2.6.2.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy subalgebra of A if and only if the level subset  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a subalgebra of A for any  $\alpha \in L$ .

**Lemma 2.6.3.** A subset  $S \subseteq A$  is a subalgebra of A if and only if  $\alpha_S$  is a fuzzy subalgebra of A for some  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ .

**Definition 2.6.4.** Let  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  be fuzzy subalgebras of A such that  $\mu \leq \eta$ . Then  $\mu$  is called a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$  if the following holds for each  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and any ideal term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ ,

$$\mu(p(a_1,\ldots,a_n,b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \geq \eta(a_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \eta(a_n) \wedge \mu(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

Lemma 2.6.5. Every fuzzy subalgebra of A is a fuzzy ideal of itself.

*Proof.* Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy subalgebra of A. Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an (n + m)-ary ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Since fuzzy subalgebras are closed under term functions, we get

$$\mu(p(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) \geq \mu(a_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(a_n) \wedge \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

Therefore  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of itself.

**Lemma 2.6.6.** Let  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  be fuzzy subalgebras of A. Then

- 1.  $\mu \in FI(A)$  if and only if  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of the fuzzy set  $1_A$ .
- 2. If  $\mu \in FI(A)$  and  $\mu \leq \eta$ , then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$ .
- *3. If*  $\mu \in FI(A)$ *, then*  $\mu \cap \eta$  *is a fuzzy ideal of*  $\eta$ *.*

**Theorem 2.6.7.** Let  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  be fuzzy subalgebras of A. Then,  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$  if and only if  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\eta_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$ . Let  $\alpha \in L$ . By Theorem 2.6.2, both  $\mu_{\alpha}$  and  $\eta_{\alpha}$  are subalgebras of A such that  $\mu_{\alpha} \subseteq \eta_{\alpha}$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n \in \eta_{\alpha}, b_1, ..., b_m \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . Then

$$\eta(a_1) \wedge ... \wedge \eta(a_n) \geq \alpha$$
 and  $\mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m) \geq \alpha$ 

Let  $p(\vec{x}, \vec{y})$  be an (n+m)-ary ideal term in  $\vec{y}$ . Since  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$ , we get

$$\mu(p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b})) \geq \eta(a_1) \wedge ... \wedge \eta(a_n) \wedge \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m) \geq \alpha$$

So that  $p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . Thus  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\eta_{\alpha}$ . Conversely, suppose that  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\eta_{\alpha}$  for each  $\alpha \in L$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ , and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an (n+m)-ary ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Let us put

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{\eta}(a_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \boldsymbol{\eta}(a_n) \wedge \boldsymbol{\mu}(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \boldsymbol{\mu}(b_m)$$

Then

$$a_1,...,a_n \in \eta_{\alpha}$$
 and  $b_1,...,b_m \in \mu_{\alpha}$ 

Since  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\eta_{\alpha}$ , we get

$$p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b})\in\mu_{\alpha}$$

So that

$$\mu(p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b})) \geq \alpha = \eta(a_1) \wedge ... \wedge \eta(a_n) \wedge \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_m)$$

Thus  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$ . Hence proved.

**Theorem 2.6.8.** Let I and B be subalgebras of A. Then, I is an ideal of B if and only if  $\alpha_I$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\alpha_B$  for all  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ .

**Theorem 2.6.9.** Let  $h : A \to B$  be a homomorphism. Let  $\eta$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy subalgebras of A and B respectively. Then we have the following:

- 1. If  $\sigma$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\theta$ , then  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $h^{-1}(\theta)$ .
- 2. If  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$  and h is surjective, then  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $h(\eta)$ .

**Theorem 2.6.10.** Let  $\eta$  be a fuzzy subalgebra of A. If  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in I}$  is a family of fuzzy ideals of  $\eta$ , then  $\bigcap_{i \in I} \mu_i$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$ .

Given a fuzzy subalgebra  $\eta$  of *A*, the above theorem shows that the family  $FI(\eta)$  of all fuzzy ideals of *A* forms a closure fuzzy set system together with the inclusion ordering of fuzzy sets. So, by Theorem 1.2.16 it is a complete lattice. Note that its least element is  $\chi_{\{0\}}$  and the largest element is  $\eta$ .

#### **Theorem 2.6.11.** $(FI(\eta), \leq)$ is an algebraic closure fuzzy set system.

*Proof.* By Definition 1.2.18, it is enough to show that  $FI(\eta)$  is inductive in  $L^A$ . Let  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  be a chain in  $FI(\eta)$ . Let us put

$$\mu = igcup_{i\in\Delta} \mu_i$$

We show that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$ . Clearly  $\mu(0) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . First observe that, for each *m*-tuples  $i_1, ..., i_m \in \Delta$ , there exists

 $k \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$  such that  $\mu_{i_j} \leq \mu_{i_k}$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ . Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \eta(a_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \eta(a_{n}) \wedge \mu(b_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu(b_{m}) &= \eta(a_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \eta(a_{n}) \wedge \left(\bigvee_{i_{1} \in \Delta} \mu_{i_{1}}(b_{1})\right) \wedge \dots \wedge \left(\bigvee_{i_{m} \in \Delta} \mu_{i_{m}}(b_{m})\right) \\ &= \eta(a_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \eta(a_{n}) \wedge \left(\bigvee_{i_{1},\dots,i_{m} \in \Delta} (\mu_{i_{1}}(b_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu_{i_{m}}(b_{m}))\right) \\ &\leq \eta(a_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \eta(a_{n}) \wedge \left(\bigvee_{i_{k} \in \Delta} (\mu_{i_{k}}(b_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu_{i_{k}}(b_{m}))\right) \\ &= \bigvee_{i_{k} \in \Delta} (\eta(a_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \eta(a_{n}) \wedge \mu_{i_{k}}(b_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu_{i_{k}}(b_{m})) \\ &\leq \bigvee_{i_{k} \in \Delta} \mu_{i_{k}}(p(a_{1},\dots,a_{n},b_{1},\dots,b_{m})) \\ &= \mu(p(a_{1},\dots,a_{n},b_{1},\dots,b_{m})) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of  $\eta$  and this completes the proof.

## **Chapter 3**

# *L*–**Fuzzy Prime Ideals**

#### Introduction

In the theory of groups, the important concepts of Abelian group, solvable group, nilpotent group, the center of a group and centralizers, are all defined from the binary operation  $[x,y] = x^{-1}y^{-1}xy$ . Each of these notions, except centralizers of elements, may also be defined in terms of the commutator of normal subgroups. The commutator [M,N] (where M and N are normal subgroups of a group) is the (normal) subgroup generated by all the commutators [x,y] with  $x \in M, y \in N$ . Similarly, the commutator of ideals I and J of a ring R, written as IJ, is the ideal of R generated by all products ij and ji, with  $i \in I$  and  $j \in J$ ; i.e.,

$$IJ = \{x \in R : x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i z_i, y_i \in I, z_i \in J\}$$

The concept of commutators has also been extended to the class of distributive lattices. This has a significant role to have a ring theoretic interpretation for the problems in order theory. For ideals *I* and *J* of a distributive lattice *L*, their commutator [I, J] is an ideal of *L* generated by those elements of the form  $a \wedge b$  where  $a \in I$  and  $b \in J$ , i.e.'

$$[I,J] = \{a \land b : a \in I, b \in J\}$$

Swamy and Swamy [143] defined the commutator (or the product) of *L*-fuzzy ideals  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  of a ring *R* as follows:

$$[\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\sigma}](\boldsymbol{x}) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} (\boldsymbol{\mu}(y_i) \wedge \boldsymbol{\sigma}(z_i)) : \boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{i=1}^{n} y_i z_i\}$$

for all  $x \in R$ . They have used this commutator to define *L*-fuzzy prime ideals of rings.

In this chapter, we define and characterize the commutator of fuzzy ideals in a more general context, in universal algebras. We use this commutator to study fuzzy prime ideals, fuzzy semiprime ideals and the radical of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras.

### 3.1 The Commutator of Fuzzy Ideals

It is observed in the second chapter that, a fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* is a fuzzy ideal of *A* if and only if every  $\alpha$ -level set of  $\mu$  is an ideal of *A*. Here we define the commutator of fuzzy ideals using their level ideals.

**Definition 3.1.1.** The commutator of fuzzy ideals  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  of A denoted by  $[\mu, \sigma]$  is a fuzzy subset of A defined by:

$$[\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\sigma}](\boldsymbol{x}) = \bigvee \{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \land \boldsymbol{\beta} : \boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\beta} \in L, \boldsymbol{x} \in [\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}] \}$$

for all  $x \in A$ .

For each  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\lambda$  in *L* with  $\lambda = \alpha \land \beta$ , it can be verified that,

$$x \in [\mu_{\alpha}, \sigma_{\beta}] \Rightarrow x \in [\mu_{\lambda}, \sigma_{\lambda}]$$

So the commutator of fuzzy ideals can be equivalently redefined as follows:

$$[\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\sigma}](\boldsymbol{x}) = \bigvee \{\boldsymbol{\lambda} \in L : \boldsymbol{x} \in [\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}]\}$$

For fuzzy subsets  $\eta$  and  $\theta$  of A,  $[\eta, \theta]$  denotes the  $[\langle \eta \rangle, \langle \theta \rangle]$ . In particular, for fuzzy points  $x_{\alpha}$  and  $y_{\beta}$  of A,  $[\langle x_{\alpha} \rangle, \langle y_{\beta} \rangle]$  is denoted by  $[x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}]$ .

The following lemmas can be verified easily.

**Lemma 3.1.2.** For any fuzzy ideals  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  of A,  $[\mu, \sigma]$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that:  $[\mu, \sigma] \leq \mu \cap \sigma$ .

**Lemma 3.1.3.** For any ideals I and J of A  $\chi_{[I,J]} = [\chi_I, \chi_J]$ .

In the following theorem, we give an algebraic characterization for the commutator of fuzzy ideals.

**Theorem 3.1.4.** *For each*  $x \in A$ *, and fuzzy ideals*  $\mu$  *and*  $\sigma$  *of* A*:* 

$$[\mu, \sigma](x) = \bigvee \{ \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \sigma^k(\overrightarrow{c}) : x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}), \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, \overrightarrow{c} \in A^k, \text{ and} t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}) \text{ is a commutator term in } \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z} \}$$

*Proof.* For each  $x \in A$ , let us define two sets  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  as follows:

$$H_{x} = \{\mu^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \sigma^{k}(\overrightarrow{c}) : x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}), \overrightarrow{a} \in A^{n}, \overrightarrow{b} \in A^{m}, \overrightarrow{c} \in A^{k}$$
  
and  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  is a commutator term in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}\}$   
$$G_{x} = \{\alpha \in L : x \in [\mu_{\alpha}, \sigma_{\alpha}]\}$$

Clearly both  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  are nonempty subsets of L. Our claim is to see that  $\forall H_x = \forall G_x$ . If  $\alpha \in H_x$ , then  $\alpha = \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \sigma^k(\overrightarrow{c})$ , where  $x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, \overrightarrow{c} \in A^k$  and some commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$ . That is,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\mu_\alpha)^m$  and  $\overrightarrow{c} \in (\sigma_\alpha)^k$ . So that  $x \in [\mu_\alpha, \sigma_\alpha]$ . Then  $\alpha \in G_x$  and hence  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . To prove the other inequality, we show that for each  $\alpha \in G_x$ , there exists  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . Let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then  $x \in [\mu_\alpha, \sigma_\alpha]$ . So that  $x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, \overrightarrow{b} \in (\mu_\alpha)^m$ , and  $\overrightarrow{c} \in (\sigma_\alpha)^k$ , where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  is a commutator term in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$ . That is,  $\mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \geq \alpha$  and  $\sigma^k(\overrightarrow{c}) \geq \alpha$ . If we put  $\beta = \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \sigma^k(\overrightarrow{c})$ , then  $\beta \geq \alpha$  and  $\beta \in H_x$ . This completes the proof.

**Corollary 3.1.5.** *For each*  $\mu, \sigma \in FI(A)$  *and each*  $\alpha \in L$ *,* 

$$[\mu_{\alpha}, \sigma_{\alpha}] \subseteq [\mu, \sigma]_{\alpha}$$

**Theorem 3.1.6.** *For each*  $\mu, \sigma \in FI(A)$  *and each*  $\alpha \in L$ *,* 

$$[\mu,\sigma]_{lpha} = \bigcup \{\bigcap_{\gamma \in M} [\mu_{\gamma},\sigma_{\gamma}] : M \subseteq L \ and \ lpha \leq supM \}$$

**Definition 3.1.7.** For each  $a \in A$  and  $\mu \in FI(A)$ , we define  $[a, \mu]$  to be  $[\chi_{\{a\}}, \mu]$ .

The following Theorem is an easy consequence of Theorem 3.1.4.

**Theorem 3.1.8.** *Let*  $a \in A$  *and*  $\mu \in FI(A)$ *. Then for each*  $x \in A$ *,* 

$$[a,\mu](x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in [a,\mu_{\alpha}] \}$$

**Theorem 3.1.9.** If  $x_{\alpha}$  and  $y_{\beta}$  are fuzzy points of A, then the commutator  $[x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}]$  is characterized as:

$$[x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}](z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z = 0\\\\ \alpha \wedge \beta & \text{if } z \in [x, y] - \{0\}\\\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The following theorem gives a finite representation for the commutator of fuzzy ideals.

**Theorem 3.1.10.** *For each*  $x \in A$ *, and fuzzy ideals*  $\mu$  *and*  $\sigma$  *of* A*:* 

$$[\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\sigma}](x) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{a \in E, b \in F} (\boldsymbol{\mu}(a) \land \boldsymbol{\sigma}(b)) : x \in [E, F], E, F \subset \subset A\}$$

*Proof.* For each  $x \in A$ , let us take the set  $G_x$  as in Theorem 3.1.4 and define a set  $H_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{\bigwedge_{a \in E, b \in F} (\mu(a) \land \sigma(b)) : x \in [E, F], E, F \subset \subset A\}$$

Our claim is to show that  $\forall H_x = \forall G_x$ . If  $\alpha \in H_x$ , then

$$\alpha = \bigwedge_{a \in E, b \in F} (\mu(a) \wedge \sigma(b))$$

where *E* and *F* are finite subsets of *A* such that  $x \in [E, F]$ . That is,  $\mu(a) \wedge \sigma(b) \ge \alpha$  for all  $a \in E$ and all  $b \in F$ . Then  $E \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $F \subseteq \sigma_{\alpha}$ . So that  $[E, F] \subseteq [\mu_{\alpha}, \sigma_{\alpha}]$ . Thus  $x \in [\mu_{\alpha}, \sigma_{\alpha}]$  and hence  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Therefore  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . To prove the other inequality, we show that for each  $\alpha \in G_x$ , there exists  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \le \beta$ . Let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then,  $x \in [\mu_{\alpha}, \sigma_{\alpha}]$ . So  $x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, \overrightarrow{b} = \langle b_1, b_2, ..., b_m \rangle \in (\mu_{\alpha})^m$ , and  $\overrightarrow{c} = \langle c_1, c_2, ..., c_k \rangle \in (\sigma_{\alpha})^k$ , where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  is a commutator term in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$ . That is,

$$\mu^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) = \mu(b_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu(b_{m}) \geq \alpha \text{ and } \sigma^{k}(\overrightarrow{c}) = \sigma(c_{1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \sigma(c_{m}) \geq \alpha$$

If we put  $E = \{b_1, b_2, ..., b_m\}$  and  $F = \{c_1, c_2, ..., c_k\}$ , then *E* and *F* are both finite subsets of *A* such that  $x \in [E, F]$ . Moreover, if we take

$$\beta = \bigwedge_{a \in E, b \in F} (\mu(a) \wedge \sigma(b))$$

then  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This completes the proof.

**Definition 3.1.11.** For each  $\mu \in FI(A)$ , we define by induction:

$$\mu^{(1)} = \mu = \mu^{1};$$
  
 $\mu^{(n+1)} = [\mu^{(n)}, \mu^{(n)}]$  and  $\mu^{n+1} = [\mu^{n}, \mu]$ 

**Definition 3.1.12.** Let  $\mu, \eta \in FI(A)$ .

 μ is said to be fuzzy solvable over η, if μ<sup>(n)</sup> ≤ η for some n ∈ Z<sub>+</sub>. μ is fuzzy solvable if it is solvable over χ<sub>(0)</sub>.
μ is said to be fuzzy nilpotent over η, if μ<sup>n</sup> ≤ η for some n ∈ Z<sub>+</sub>. μ is fuzzy nilpotent if it is solvable over χ<sub>(0)</sub>.

**Lemma 3.1.13.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is fuzzy nilpotent (resp. fuzzy solvable) if and only if  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is nilpotent (resp. solvable) for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

**Definition 3.1.14.** An algebra *A* is called solvable (resp. nilpotent) if *A* is solvable (resp. nilpotent) as an ideal; i.e., if

$$A^{(n)} = (0)$$
 (resp.  $A^n = (0)$ )

for some  $n \in Z_+$ .

### 3.2 Fuzzy Prime Ideals

In this section we define fuzzy prime ideals and investigate some of their properties. This generalizes fuzzy prime ideals of those well known structures: semigroups [63, 141], rings [119, 131, 143], semirings [63], ternary semirings [95],  $\Gamma$ -rings [71], modules [3], lattices [146] and others.

**Definition 3.2.1.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is called fuzzy prime if and only if:

$$[v,\sigma] \leq \mu \Rightarrow$$
 either  $v \leq \mu$  or  $\sigma \leq \mu$ 

for all  $v, \sigma \in FI(A)$ .

In the following theorem we characterize fuzzy prime ideals using fuzzy points.

**Theorem 3.2.2.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is fuzzy prime if and only if for any fuzzy points  $x_{\alpha}$  and  $y_{\beta}$  of A:

$$[x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}] \leq \mu \Rightarrow \text{ either } x_{\alpha} \in \mu \text{ or } y_{\beta} \in \mu$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  satisfies the condition:

$$[x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}] \leq \mu \Rightarrow either x_{\alpha} \in \mu \text{ or } y_{\beta} \in \mu$$

for all fuzzy points  $x_{\alpha}$  and  $y_{\beta}$  of A. Let  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy ideals of A such that  $[\sigma, \theta] \leq \mu$ . Suppose if possible that  $\sigma \nleq \mu$  and  $\theta \nleq \mu$ . Then there exist  $x, y \in A$  such that  $\sigma(x) \nleq \mu(x)$  and  $\theta(y) \nleq \mu(y)$ . If we put  $\alpha = \sigma(x)$  and  $\beta = \theta(y)$ , then  $x_{\alpha}$  and  $y_{\beta}$  are fuzzy points of A such that  $x_{\alpha} \in \sigma$  but  $x_{\alpha} \notin \mu$  and  $y_{\beta} \in \theta$  but  $y_{\beta} \notin \mu$ . So that  $[x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}] \leq [\sigma, \theta] \leq \mu$ , but  $x_{\alpha} \notin \mu$  and  $y_{\beta} \notin \mu$ . This contradicts to our hypothesis. Thus either  $\sigma \leq \mu$  or  $\theta \leq \mu$ . Therefore  $\mu$  is prime. The other way is clear.

In the following theorem, we give an internal characterization for fuzzy prime ideals of universal algebras analogous to the well-known characterization of Swamy et al. [143] in the case of rings.

**Theorem 3.2.3.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal if and only if  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$ , where  $\alpha$  is a prime element in L and the set  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$  is a prime ideal of A.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a prime fuzzy ideal. Clearly  $1 \in Img(\mu)$  and since  $\mu$  is non-constant there is some  $a \in A$  such that  $\mu(a) < 1$ . We show that  $\mu(a) = \mu(b)$  for all  $a, b \in A - \mu_*$ . Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $\mu(a) < 1$  and  $\mu(b) < 1$ . Let us define L-fuzzy subsets  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  of A as follows:

$$\sigma(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in \langle a \rangle \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\theta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0 \\ \mu(a) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Then it can be verified that both  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  are fuzzy ideals of A. Moreover, for each  $x \in A$  we have:

$$[\sigma, \theta](x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0\\ \mu(a) & \text{if } x \in [a, a] - \{0\}\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then  $[\sigma, \theta] \leq \mu$ . But  $\sigma(a) = 1 > \mu(a)$ . So  $\sigma \nleq \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime, we get  $\theta \leq \mu$ , which gives  $\theta(b) \leq \mu(b)$ ; that is,  $\mu(a) \leq \mu(b)$ . Similarly it can be verified that  $\mu(b) \leq \mu(a)$ . So that  $\mu(a) = \mu(b)$  for all  $a, b \in A - \mu_*$ . Thus  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$  for some  $\alpha \neq 1$  in *L*. Next we show that the level ideal  $\mu_*$  is prime. Put  $P = \mu_*$  and let *I* and *J* be ideas of *A* such that  $[I,J] \subseteq P$ . Then  $\chi_{[I,J]} \leq \chi_P \leq \mu$ . That is,  $[\chi_I, \chi_J] \leq \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime, either  $\chi_I \leq \mu$  or  $\chi_J \leq \mu$  implying that either  $I \subseteq P$  or  $J \subseteq P$ . Therefore *P* is prime. It remains to show that  $\alpha$  is a prime element in *L*. Let  $\beta, \gamma \in L$  such that  $\beta \wedge \gamma \leq \alpha$ . Consider *L*-fuzzy subsets  $\overline{\beta}$  and  $\overline{\gamma}$  of *A* defined by:

$$\overline{\beta}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0 \\ \beta & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\overline{\gamma}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0 \\ \gamma & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Then  $\overline{\beta}$  and  $\overline{\gamma}$  are both fuzzy ideals of A such that  $[\overline{\beta}, \overline{\gamma}] \leq \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is L-fuzzy prime, either  $\overline{\beta} \leq \mu$  or  $\overline{\gamma} \leq \mu$ . So that either  $\beta \leq \alpha$  or  $\gamma \leq \alpha$ . Hence  $\alpha$  is prime in L. Conversely, suppose that  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$ , where  $\alpha$  is a prime element in L and  $P = \mu_*$  is a prime ideal of A. Let  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy ideals of A such that  $[\sigma, \theta] \leq \mu$ . Suppose if possible that, there exist  $x, y \in A$  such that  $\sigma(x) \nleq \mu(x)$  and  $\theta(y) \nleq \mu(y)$ . Since  $\mu$  is 2-valued,  $\mu(x) = \mu(y) < 1$  so that both x and y do not belong to P. Since P is prime, there exists  $z \in [x, y]$  such that  $z \notin P$ ; that is,  $\mu(z) = \alpha$ . Otherwise if  $[x, y] \subseteq P$ , then either  $x \in P$  or  $y \in P$ . As  $z \in [x, y], z = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in \langle x \rangle^m$ ,  $\overrightarrow{c} \in \langle y \rangle^k$ , where  $t(\overrightarrow{u}, \overrightarrow{v}, \overrightarrow{w})$  is a commutator term in  $\overrightarrow{v}, \overrightarrow{w}$ . Now consider the following:

$$\alpha = \mu(z)$$

$$\geq [\sigma, \theta](z)$$

$$\geq \sigma^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) \wedge \theta^{k}(\overrightarrow{c})$$

$$\geq \sigma(x) \wedge \theta(y)$$

That is,  $\sigma(x) \wedge \theta(y) \le \alpha$ . Since  $\alpha$  is a prime element in *L* it follows that either  $\sigma(x) \le \alpha = \mu(x)$ or  $\theta(y) \le \alpha = \mu(y)$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime.

Let *P* be a prime ideal of *A* and  $\alpha$  be a prime element in *L*. Consider a fuzzy subset  $\alpha_P$  of *A* defined by:

$$\alpha_P(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in P \\ \alpha & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . The above theorem confirms that fuzzy prime ideals of *A* are only of the form  $\alpha_P$ . This establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the class of all fuzzy prime ideals of *A* and the collection of all pairs  $(P, \alpha)$  where *P* is a prime ideal in *A* and  $\alpha$  is a prime element in *L*.

**Corollary 3.2.4.** Let P be an ideal of A and  $\alpha$  a prime element in L. Then P is a prime ideal if and only if  $\alpha_P$  is a fuzzy prime ideal.

**Definition 3.2.5.** A fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A is called a fuzzy m-system (resp. a fuzzy n-system) if for all  $a, b \in A$ , there exists  $x \in [a, b]$  (resp. there exists  $x \in [a, a]$ ) such that

$$\lambda(x) \ge \lambda(a) \land \lambda(b) \quad (\text{resp. } \lambda(x) \ge \lambda(a))$$

**Lemma 3.2.6.** A fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A is a fuzzy m-system (resp. a fuzzy n-system) if and only if the level set  $\lambda_{\alpha}$  is an m-system (resp. an n-system) for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

**Definition 3.2.7.** For a normalized fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A, define a fuzzy subset  $\mu^c$  of A by:

$$\mu^{c}(x) = \begin{cases} \bigwedge_{y \in A} \mu(y) & \text{if } \mu(x) = 1\\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . We call  $\mu^c$ , the generalized complement of  $\mu$ .

**Theorem 3.2.8.** If  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A, then  $\mu^c$  is a fuzzy m-system.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is prime. Then  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$  for some prime element  $\alpha \in L$  and  $\mu_*$  is a prime ideal. In this case  $\mu^c$  is of the form

$$\mu^{c}(x) = \begin{cases} \alpha & \text{if } x \in \mu_{*} \\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Now let  $a, b \in A$ . If  $\mu^c(a) \wedge \mu^c(b) = \alpha$ , then the result holds trivially. Let  $\mu^c(a) \wedge \mu^c(b) = 1$ . Then  $\mu^c(a) = 1 = \mu^c(b)$ , i.e.,  $a \notin \mu_*$  and  $b \notin \mu_*$ . Being  $\mu_*$  a prime ideal, we get  $[a,b] \nsubseteq \mu_*$ . So there exists  $x \in [a,b]$  such that  $x \notin \mu_*$ , i.e.,

$$\mu^{c}(x) = 1 \ge \mu^{c}(a) \wedge \mu^{c}(b)$$

Therefore  $\mu^c$  is a fuzzy *m*-system.

**Theorem 3.2.9.** Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$  where  $\alpha$  is a prime element in L. If  $\mu^c$  is a fuzzy m-system, then  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime.

*Proof.* By Theorem 3.2.3, It is enough to show that the set  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$  is a prime ideal of *A*. It is clear that  $\mu_*$  is a proper ideal of *A*. Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $[a, b] \subseteq \mu_*$ . Then  $\mu(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in [a, b]$ , i.e.,  $\mu^c(x) = \alpha$  for all  $x \in [a, b]$ . Since  $\mu^c$  is a fuzzy *m*-system, there exists  $x \in [a, b]$  such that

$$\alpha = \mu^c(x) \ge \mu^c(a) \land \mu^c(b)$$

So that  $\mu^c(a) \wedge \mu^c(b) = \alpha$ . Since  $\alpha$  is prime either  $\mu^c(a) = \alpha$  or  $\mu^c(b) = \alpha$ , i.e., either  $\mu(a) = 1$  or  $\mu(b) = 1$ , which implies either  $a \in \mu_*$  or  $b \in \mu_*$ . So that  $\mu_*$  is prime and this completes the proof.

It is natural to question our self that does every algebra in  $\mathcal{K}$  has fuzzy prime ideals. Of course, probably no. In the following theorem we give a sufficient condition for an algebra *A* to have fuzzy prime ideals.

#### **Theorem 3.2.10.** Let A be an algebra satisfying:

$$x \in [x, x]$$
 for all  $x \in A$ 

If  $a \in A$ , and  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that  $\mu(a) \leq \alpha$  where  $\alpha$  is an irreducible element in L. Then there exists a fuzzy prime ideal  $\theta$  of A such that:

$$\mu \leq \theta$$
 and  $\theta(a) \leq \alpha$ 

*Proof.* Put  $\mathfrak{F} = \{\sigma \in FI(A) : \mu \leq \sigma \text{ and } \sigma(a) \leq \alpha\}$ . Clearly  $\mu \in \mathfrak{F}$  so that  $\mathfrak{F}$  is nonempty and hence it forms a poset under the inclusion ordering of fuzzy sets. By applying Zorn's lemma we can choose a maximal element say  $\theta$  in  $\mathfrak{F}$ . Now it is enough to show that  $\theta$  is prime. Suppose not. Then there exist fuzzy ideals  $\sigma$  and  $\nu$  of A such that  $[\sigma, \nu] \leq \theta$  but  $\sigma \nleq \theta$  and  $\nu \nleq \theta$ . Put  $\theta_1 = \theta \lor \sigma$  and  $\theta_2 = \theta \lor \nu$ . Then  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  are fuzzy ideals of A such that  $\theta \gneqq \theta_1$  and  $\theta \gneqq \theta_2$ . By the maximality of  $\theta$  in  $\mathfrak{F}$  both  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  do not belong to  $\mathfrak{F}$ . Thus

$$\theta_1(a) \nleq \alpha \text{ and } \theta_2(a) \nleq \alpha$$

Since  $\alpha$  is  $\wedge$ -irreducible element in L,  $\theta_1(a) \wedge \theta_2(a) \nleq \alpha$ . Again since  $a \in [a, a]$  it holds that  $[\theta_1, \theta_2](a) \ge \theta_1(a) \wedge \theta_2(a)$  and hence  $[\theta_1, \theta_2](a) \nleq \alpha$ , implying that  $\theta(a) \nleq \alpha$ . This is a contradiction. Therefore  $\theta$  is prime.

If *A* is a non-trivial algebra such that  $a \in [a, a]$  for all  $a \in A$ , then it can be deduced from the above theorem that fuzzy prime ideals exist in *A*, provided that *L* has irreducible elements.

**Theorem 3.2.11.** Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy ideal of A and  $\lambda$  a fuzzy m-system such that  $\mu \cap \lambda \leq \alpha$ , where  $\alpha$  is an irreducible element in L. Then there exists a fuzzy prime ideal  $\theta$  of A such that

$$\mu \leq \theta$$
 and  $\theta \cap \lambda \leq \alpha$ 

*Proof.* Put  $\mathfrak{F} = \{ \sigma \in FI(A) : \mu \leq \sigma \text{ and } \sigma \cap \lambda \leq \alpha \}$ . Clearly  $\mu \in \mathfrak{F}$  so that  $\mathfrak{F}$  is nonempty and hence it forms a poset under the inclusion ordering of fuzzy sets. By applying Zorn's lemma we can choose a maximal element say  $\theta$  in  $\mathfrak{F}$ . Now it is enough to show that  $\theta$  is prime. Suppose

not. Then there exist fuzzy ideals  $\sigma$  and v of A such that  $[\sigma, v] \leq \theta$  but  $\sigma \nleq \theta$  and  $v \nleq \theta$ . Put  $\theta_1 = \theta \lor \sigma$  and  $\theta_2 = \theta \lor v$ . Then  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  are fuzzy ideals of A such that  $\theta \gneqq \theta_1$  and  $\theta \gneqq \theta_2$ . By the maximality of  $\theta$  in  $\mathfrak{F}$  both  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  does not belongs to  $\mathfrak{F}$  so there exists  $a, b \in A$  such that:

$$(\theta_1 \cap \lambda)(a) \nleq \alpha \text{ and } (\theta_2 \cap \lambda)(b) \nleq \alpha$$

This gives  $\theta_1(a) \nleq \alpha, \lambda(a) \nleq \alpha, \theta_2(b) \nleq \alpha$  and  $\lambda(b) \nleq \alpha$ , which implies that  $\theta_1(a) \land \theta_2(b) \nleq \alpha$ and  $\lambda(a) \land \lambda(b) \nleq \alpha$ . Since  $[\sigma, v] \le \theta$ , we have  $[\theta_1, \theta_2] \le \theta$ . If  $x \in [a, b]$ , then  $x = t(\overrightarrow{c}, \overrightarrow{u}, \overrightarrow{v})$ for some  $\overrightarrow{c} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{u} \in \langle a \rangle^m$ ,  $\overrightarrow{v} \in \langle b \rangle^k$  and some commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$ . Then for each  $x \in [a, b]$  it holds that:

$$\theta(x) \ge [\theta_1, \theta_2](x) \ge \theta_1(a) \land \theta_2(b)$$

Also we have  $\theta_1(a) \land \theta_2(b) \nleq \alpha$ , which gives that  $\theta(x) \nleq \alpha$ . But since  $\theta \cap \lambda \le \alpha$  and  $\alpha$  is an irreducible element in *L* we get that  $\lambda(x) \le \alpha$  for all  $x \in [a,b]$ . This contradicts to that;  $\lambda$  is a fuzzy *m*-system. Therefore  $\theta$  is prime.

For a non trivial algebra A, to have a fuzzy m-system is a sufficient condition for A to possess fuzzy prime ideals, provided that L has irreducible elements.

### 3.3 Generalized Fuzzy Prime Ideals

**Definition 3.3.1.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of *A* is called generalized fuzzy prime ideal if and only if each level ideal  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is either *A* or prime.

**Theorem 3.3.2.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is generalized fuzzy prime ideal if and only if

either 
$$\mu(a) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in [a,b]} \mu(x)$$
 or  $\mu(b) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in [a,b]} \mu(x)$ 

for all  $a, b \in A$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is generalized fuzzy prime and let  $a, b \in A$  such that

$$\mu(a) \not\geq \bigwedge_{x \in [a,b]} \mu(x)$$

Let us put

$$\bigwedge_{x\in[a,b]}\mu(x)=\alpha$$

Then  $\mu(x) \ge \alpha$  for all  $x \in [a,b]$  and  $\mu(a) \not\ge \alpha$ , i.e.,  $[a,b] \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $a \notin \mu_{\alpha}$ . So that  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a proper ideal of *A* such that  $[a,b] \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$ . By our hypothesis  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is prime and hence  $b \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , i.e.,  $\mu(b) \ge \alpha$ . Hence proved.

To prove the converse part, let  $\alpha \in L$  such that  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a proper ideal. We need to show that  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is prime. Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $[a, b] \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\mu(x) \ge \alpha$  for all  $x \in [a, b]$ , i.e.,

$$\bigwedge_{x\in[a,b]}\mu(x)\geq\alpha$$

By our assumption, either  $\mu(a) \ge \alpha$  or  $\mu(b) \ge \alpha$ , which implies that either  $a \in \mu_{\alpha}$  or  $b \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . Mean that  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is prime and this completes the proof.

It can be deduced from the previous theorem that, for a non constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of *A*, to be generalized fuzzy prime is equivalent to satisfy the condition:

$$\mu(a) \lor \mu(b) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in [a,b]} \mu(x)$$

for all  $a, b \in A$ , provided that  $Img(\mu)$  is a chain.

**Theorem 3.3.3.** If  $\mu$  is generalized fuzzy prime, then  $Img(\mu)$  is a chain in L.

*Proof.* Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $\mu(a) \neq \mu(b)$ . We show that either  $\mu(a) \leq \mu(b)$  or  $\mu(b) \leq \mu(a)$ . Put  $\alpha = \mu(a) \lor \mu(b)$ . Since  $\mu(a) \neq \mu(b)$  the level ideal  $\mu_{\alpha}$  does not contain one of  $\mu(a), \mu(b)$  so that it is proper. Since  $\mu$  is generalized fuzzy prime  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a prime ideal in A. Now consider the following:

$$x \in [a,b] \Rightarrow \mu(x) \ge \mu(a) \text{ and } \mu(x) \ge \mu(b)$$
  
 $\Rightarrow \mu(x) \ge \mu(a) \lor \mu(b) = \alpha$   
 $\Rightarrow x \in \mu_{\alpha}$ 

Thus  $[a,b] \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$ . Being  $\mu_{\alpha}$  prime, either  $a \in \mu_{\alpha}$  or  $b \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , i.e., either  $\mu(a) \ge \alpha \ge \mu(b)$  or  $\mu(b) \ge \alpha \ge \mu(a)$ . Hence proved.

**Theorem 3.3.4.** Every fuzzy prime ideal of A is generalized fuzzy prime.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime. By Theorem 3.2.3  $\mu$  has only two level ideals namely *A* and  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$ , which is prime. Then  $\mu$  is generalized fuzzy prime.

**Theorem 3.3.5.** Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$ , where  $\alpha$  is a prime element in L. If  $\mu$  is generalized fuzzy prime, then it is fuzzy prime.

*Proof.* The proof follows from Theorem 3.2.3.

### 3.4 Homomorphisms and Fuzzy Prime Ideals

**Theorem 3.4.1.** Let  $h : A \rightarrow B$  be a surjective homomorphism.

1. If  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  are fuzzy ideals of A, then

$$h([\mu,\sigma]) = [h(\mu),h(\sigma)]$$

2. If  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  are fuzzy ideals of *B*, then

$$[h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}), h^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\theta})] \leq h^{-1}([\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\theta}])$$

*Proof.* (1) Let  $y \in B$ . Since *h* is assumed to be surjective, the set  $h^{-1}(y)$  is always nonempty. By definition we have:

$$h([\mu,\eta])(y) = \bigvee \{ [\mu,\eta](x) : x \in h^{-1}(y) \}$$
  
=  $\bigvee \{ \bigvee \{ \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \eta^k(\overrightarrow{c}) : x = t^A(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b},\overrightarrow{c}) \} : x \in h^{-1}(y) \}$   
=  $\bigvee \{ \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \eta^k(\overrightarrow{c}) : y = h(t^A(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b},\overrightarrow{c})) \}$ 

which gives

$$h([\mu,\eta])(y) \ge \mu^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \eta^{k}(\overrightarrow{c})$$
(3.4.1)

for any  $b_1, ..., b_m, c_1, ..., c_k \in A$ , with  $y = h(t^A(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}))$  for some commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$ in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$  and some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ . Now let  $y = t^B(\overrightarrow{u}, \overrightarrow{v}, \overrightarrow{w})$  be any expression of y using commutator terms, where  $u_1, ..., u_n, v_1, ..., v_m, w_1, ..., w_k \in B$ . Since h is surjective there exist  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m, c_1, ..., c_k \in A$  such that  $h(a_i) = u_i$ ,  $h(b_j) = v_j$  and  $h(c_r) = w_r$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n, j = 1, 2, ..., m and r = 1, 2, ..., k. Equivalently, each  $a_i \in h^{-1}(u_i), b_j \in h^{-1}(v_j)$ and  $c_r \in h^{-1}(w_r)$ . Now consider:

$$h(t^{A}(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b},\overrightarrow{c})) = t^{B}(h(a_{1}),...,h(a_{a}),h(b_{1}),...,h(b_{m}),h(c_{1}),...,h(c_{k}))$$
$$= t^{B}(u_{1},...,u_{n},v_{1},...,v_{m},w_{1},...,w_{k})$$
$$= t^{B}(\overrightarrow{u},\overrightarrow{v},\overrightarrow{w})$$
$$= y$$

So, by eq. (3.4.1) we get

$$h([\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\eta}])(\boldsymbol{y}) \geq \boldsymbol{\mu}(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \boldsymbol{\mu}(b_m) \wedge \boldsymbol{\eta}(c_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \boldsymbol{\eta}(c_k)$$

Since each  $b_j$  (respectively  $c_r$ ) is arbitrary in  $h^{-1}(v_j)$  (respectively in  $h^{-1}(w_r)$ ), it follows that

This gives

$$\begin{split} h([\mu,\eta])(y) &\geq \bigvee \{h(\mu)^m(\overrightarrow{v}) \wedge h(\eta)^k(\overrightarrow{w}) : y = t^B(\overrightarrow{u},\overrightarrow{v},\overrightarrow{w})\} \\ &= [h(\mu),h(\eta)](y) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $[h(\mu), h(\eta)] \le h([\mu, \eta])$ . To prove the other inequality, consider

$$[h(\mu), h(\eta)](y) = \bigvee \{h(\mu)^m(\overrightarrow{v}) \wedge h(\eta)^k(\overrightarrow{w}) : y = t^B(\overrightarrow{u}, \overrightarrow{v}, \overrightarrow{w})\}$$

So that

$$[h(\mu), h(\eta)](y) \geq h(\mu)^m(\overrightarrow{v}) \wedge h(\eta)^k(\overrightarrow{w})$$
(3.4.2)

for all  $v_1, ..., v_m, w_1, ..., w_k \in B$ , with  $y = t^B(\overrightarrow{u}, \overrightarrow{v}, \overrightarrow{w})$ }, for some commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$ in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$  and some  $u_1, ..., u_n \in B$ . Now let  $y = h(t^A(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}))$  for some  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m, c_1, ..., c_k \in A$  and commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$ . That is,

$$y = t^{B}(h(a_{1}),...,h(a_{n}),h(b_{1}),...,h(b_{m})),h(c_{1}),...,h(c_{k}))$$

By eq. (3.4.2) we get

$$[h(\mu),h(\eta)](y) \geq h(\mu)(h(b_1)) \wedge \ldots \wedge h(\mu)(h(b_m)) \wedge h(\eta)(h(c_1)) \wedge \ldots \wedge h(\eta)(h(c_k))$$

using the fact that  $h(\mu)(h(a)) \ge \mu(a)$  for all  $a \in A$ , we get the following:

$$\begin{split} [h(\mu), h(\eta)](y) &\geq h(\mu)(h(b_1)) \wedge \dots \wedge h(\mu)(h(b_m)) \wedge h(\eta)(h(c_1)) \wedge \dots \wedge h(\eta)(h(c_k)) \\ &\geq \mu(b_1) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu(b_m) \wedge \eta(c_1) \wedge \dots \wedge \eta(c_k) \\ &= \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \wedge \eta^k(\overrightarrow{c}) \end{split}$$

Since these  $b_i$ 's and  $c_j$ 's are arbitrary, it follows that

$$[h(\mu), h(\eta)](y) \geq \bigvee \{\mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \eta^k(\overrightarrow{c}) : y = h(t^A(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}))\}$$
$$= h([\mu, \eta])(y)$$

which gives  $h([\mu, \eta]) \leq [h(\mu), h(\eta)]$  and therefore the equality holds.

(2) Let  $x \in A$  be any element. Then

$$[h^{-1}(\sigma), h^{-1}(\theta)](x) = \bigvee \{\mu^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) \land \sigma^{k}(\overrightarrow{c}) : x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}),$$
  
where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  is a commutator term in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}\}$ 

Now let  $x = t^A(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c})$ ; for some commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}, \overrightarrow{z}$  and  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m, c_1, ..., c_k \in A$ . Then

$$h(x) = h(t^{A}(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}, \overrightarrow{c}))$$
  
=  $t^{B}(h(a_{1}), ..., h(a_{n}), h(b_{1}), ..., h(b_{m}), h(c_{1}), ..., h(c_{k}))$ 

Consider the following:

$$h^{-1}([\sigma,\theta])(x) = [\sigma,\theta](h(x))$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \sigma^{m}(\overrightarrow{v}) \land \theta^{k}(\overrightarrow{w}) : h(x) = t^{B}(\overrightarrow{u},\overrightarrow{v},\overrightarrow{w}) \}$$

$$\geq \sigma(h(b_{1})) \land \dots \land \sigma(h(b_{m})) \land \theta(h(c_{1})) \land \dots \land \theta(h(c_{k})))$$

$$= h^{-1}(\sigma)(b_{1}) \land \dots \land h^{-1}(\sigma)(b_{m}) \land h^{-1}(\theta)(c_{1}) \land \dots \land h^{-1}(\theta)(c_{k})$$

$$= (h^{-1}(\sigma))^{m}(b) \land (h^{-1}(\theta))^{k}(\overrightarrow{c})$$

Since each  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m, c_1, ..., c_k$  are arbitrary, we get

$$h^{-1}([\sigma,\theta])(x) \geq \bigvee \{ (h^{-1}(\sigma))^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \wedge (h^{-1}(\theta))^k(\overrightarrow{c}) : x = t^A(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b},\overrightarrow{c}) \}$$
$$= [h^{-1}(\sigma), h^{-1}(\theta)](x)$$

Therefore  $[h^{-1}(\sigma), h^{-1}(\theta)] \leq h^{-1}([\sigma, \theta]).$ 

**Theorem 3.4.2.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism and  $\mu$  is an h-invariant fuzzy prime ideal of A, then  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of B.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is an h-invariant fuzzy prime ideal of A. It follows from Theorem 2.5.1 that  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy ideal of B. Let  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy ideals of B such that  $[\sigma, \theta] \leq h(\mu)$ . Then,  $h^{-1}([\sigma, \theta]) \leq h^{-1}(h(\mu))$ . Since  $\mu$  is given to be an h-invariant, we have  $h^{-1}(h(\mu)) = \mu$ . So that,  $h^{-1}([\sigma, \theta]) \leq \mu$ . Also, by (2) of Theorem 3.4.1, we have  $[h^{-1}(\sigma), h^{-1}(\theta)] \leq h^{-1}([\sigma, \theta])$ , which gives  $[h^{-1}(\sigma), h^{-1}(\theta)] \leq \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime, either  $h^{-1}(\sigma) \leq \mu$  or  $h^{-1}(\theta) \leq \mu$ , which implies either  $h(h^{-1}(\sigma)) \leq h(\mu)$  or  $h(h^{-1}(\theta)) \leq h(\mu)$ ; that is, either  $\sigma \leq h(\mu)$  or  $\theta \leq h(\mu)$ . This means  $h(\mu)$  is fuzzy prime.

**Theorem 3.4.3.** If h is a homomorphism from A onto B and  $\sigma$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of B, then  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\theta$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of *B*. By Theorem 2.5.1  $h^{-1}(\theta)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. Let  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  be fuzzy ideals of *A* such that  $[\mu, \eta] \leq h^{-1}(\theta)$ . Then,  $h([\mu, \eta]) \leq h(h^{-1}(\theta))$ .

Since *h* is surjective,  $h(h^{-1}(\theta)) = \theta$  and by (1) of Theorem 3.4.1, we have  $h([\mu, \eta]) = [h(\mu), h(\eta)]$ . So that  $[h(\mu), h(\eta)] \le \theta$ . Since  $\theta$  is fuzzy prime, either  $h(\mu) \le \theta$  or  $h(\eta) \le \theta$ . This provides that either  $\mu \le h^{-1}(\theta)$  or  $\eta \le h^{-1}(\theta)$ . Therefore  $h^{-1}(\theta)$  is fuzzy prime.

**Theorem 3.4.4.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism, then the mapping  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  defines a one-to-one correspondence between the set of all h-invariant fuzzy prime ideals of A and the set of all fuzzy prime ideals of B.

*Proof.* The above two theorems confirm that  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  is an onto map from the set of all *h*-invariant fuzzy prime ideals of *A* to the set of all fuzzy prime ideals of *B*. It remains to show that it one-one. Let  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  be an *h*-invariant fuzzy prime ideals of *A* such that  $h(\mu_1) = h(\mu_2)$ . Let  $x \in A$ . Then  $h(x) \in B$  and  $h(\mu_1)(h(x)) = h(\mu_2)(h(x))$ . Since  $\mu_1$  is *h*-invariant we have  $\mu_1(x) = \mu_1(a)$  for all  $a \in h^{-1}(x)$ . So,

$$\mu_{1}(x) = \bigvee \{ \mu_{1}(a) : a \in h^{-1}(x) \}$$
  
=  $h(\mu_{1})(h(x))$   
=  $h(\mu_{2})(h(x))$   
=  $\bigvee \{ \mu_{2}(b) : b \in h^{-1}(x) \}$   
=  $\mu_{2}(x)$ 

Thus  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  and hence the map  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  is a one-to-one correspondence.

### 3.5 Maximal Fuzzy Ideals

A maximal fuzzy ideal of *A* is a maximal element in the collection of all non-constant fuzzy ideals of *A* under the pointwise partial ordering of fuzzy sets.

An element  $1 \neq \alpha$  in *L* is called a dual atom if there is no  $\beta$  in *L* such that  $\alpha < \beta < 1$ . In other words  $\alpha$  is maximal in  $L - \{1\}$ . In the following theorem, we give an internal characterization of maximal fuzzy ideals in *A*.

**Theorem 3.5.1.** A fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is maximal if and only if  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$ , where  $\alpha$  is a dual atom in L and the set  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$  is a maximal ideal of A.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is maximal. Clearly  $1 \in Img(\mu)$  and since  $\mu$  is non-constant there is some  $a \in A$  such that  $\mu(a) < 1$ . We first show that  $\mu$  assumes exactly one value other than 1. Let  $x, y \in A$  such that  $\mu(x) < 1$  and  $\mu(y) < 1$ . Put  $\alpha = \mu(x)$  and  $\beta = \mu(y)$ . Define fuzzy subsets  $\mu_{\alpha}^{\vee}$  and  $\mu_{\beta}^{\vee}$  of A as follows:

$$\mu_{\alpha}^{\vee}(z) = \mu(z) \lor \alpha \text{ and } \mu_{\beta}^{\vee}(z) = \mu(z) \lor \beta$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Then it can be verified that both  $\mu_{\alpha}^{\vee}$  and  $\mu_{\beta}^{\vee}$  are fuzzy ideals of *A* such that  $\mu \leq \mu_{\alpha}^{\vee}$ and  $\mu \leq \mu_{\beta}^{\vee}$ . By the maximality of  $\mu$  we get that  $\mu = \mu_{\alpha}^{\vee}$  and  $\mu = \mu_{\beta}^{\vee}$ . Thus  $\alpha = \beta$ . Therefore  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$  for some  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ . Next we prove that  $\alpha$  is a dual atom. Let  $\beta \in L$  such that  $\alpha < \beta$ . Define a fuzzy subset  $\sigma$  of *A* by:

$$\sigma(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \mu(z) = 1 \\ \beta & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Then  $\sigma$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that  $\mu < \sigma$ . By the maximality of  $\mu$  it yields that  $\sigma = 1_A$ ; i.e.,  $\sigma(z) = 1$  for all  $z \in A$ . So  $\beta = 1$ . Therefore  $\alpha$  is a dual atom. It remain to show that  $\mu_*$  is a maximal ideal of A. Clearly it is a proper ideal. Let J be a proper ideal of A such that  $\mu_* \subseteq J$ . Define an L-fuzzy subset  $\sigma$  of A by:

$$\sigma(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z \in J \\ \alpha & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Then  $\sigma$  is a non-constant fuzzy ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq \sigma$ . Since  $\mu$  is maximal we get  $\mu = \sigma$ . So  $\mu_* = J$ . Therefore  $\mu_*$  is maximal among all proper ideals of A. Conversely suppose that  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$ , where  $\alpha$  is a dual atom in L and the set  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$  is a maximal ideal of A. Let  $\sigma$  be a non-constant fuzzy ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq \sigma$ . Then  $\sigma(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in \mu_*$  and  $\alpha \leq \sigma(x)$  for all  $x \in A - \mu_*$ . We show that  $\sigma = \mu$ . Suppose not. Then there exists  $x \in A$  such that  $\sigma(x) > \mu(x)$ . So  $x \in A - \mu_*$ . If  $\sigma(x) = 1$ , then  $x \in \sigma_* = \{z \in A : \sigma(z) = 1\}$  and  $\mu_* \subsetneq \sigma_* \subsetneq A$ . This contradicts to the maximality of  $\mu_*$ . Also if  $\sigma(x) < 1$ , then  $\alpha \leq \sigma(x) < 1$ . Again this contradicts to the hypothesis ' $\alpha$  is a dual atom'. Therefore  $\sigma = \mu$ . Hence  $\mu$  is maximal.

The above theorem shows that there is a one to one correspondence between the class of all maximal fuzzy ideals and the set of all pairs  $(M, \alpha)$  where *M* is a maximal ideal in *A* and  $\alpha$  is a dual atom in *L*.

**Theorem 3.5.2.** If A is an algebra in which every maximal ideal is a prime ideal and L has a dual atom, then every maximal fuzzy ideal is a fuzzy prime ideal.

For instance, if [A,A] = A or if A has a formal unit, then every maximal fuzzy ideal of A is a fuzzy prime ideal, provided that L has a formal unit.

**Theorem 3.5.3.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism and  $\mu$  is a maximal fuzzy ideal of A, then  $h(\mu)$  is a maximal fuzzy ideal of B.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a maximal fuzzy ideal of A. Clearly,  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy ideal of B. Let  $\sigma$  be a proper fuzzy ideal of B such that  $h(\mu) \leq \sigma$ . Then,  $h^{-1}(h(\mu)) \leq h^{-1}(\sigma)$ . Since  $\mu$  is h-invariant, we have  $\mu = h^{-1}(h(\mu))$ . So that  $\mu \leq h^{-1}(\sigma)$ . By Theorem 2.5.1,  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Moreover, since  $\sigma$  is proper, there exists  $y \in B$  such that  $\sigma(y) < 1$ ; that is,  $\sigma(y) = h(h^{-1}(\sigma))(y) < 1$ , which gives  $h^{-1}(\sigma)(x) < 1$  for all  $x \in h^{-1}(y)$ . This means,  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a proper fuzzy ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq h^{-1}(\sigma)$ . Since  $\mu$  is maximal, we get that  $\mu = h^{-1}(\sigma)$ , which implies  $h(\mu) = h(h^{-1}(\sigma)) = \sigma$ . Therefore  $h(\mu)$  is a maximal fuzzy ideal in A.

**Theorem 3.5.4.** If h is a homomorphism from A onto B and  $\sigma$  is a maximal fuzzy ideal of B, then  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is maximal in the class of h-invariant fuzzy ideals of A.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\sigma$  is a maximal fuzzy ideal of *B*. By Theorem 2.5.1,  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. Let  $\mu$  be a proper h-invariant fuzzy ideal of *A* such that  $h^{-1}(\sigma) \leq \mu$ . Then  $h(\mu)$  is a proper fuzzy ideal of *B* such that  $h(h^{-1}(\sigma)) \leq h(\mu)$ , which gives  $\sigma \leq h(\mu)$ . Being  $\sigma$  a

maximal fuzzy ideal, it follows that  $\sigma = h(\mu)$ . So that  $h^{-1}(\sigma) = h(h^{-1}(\mu)) = \mu$ . Thus  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is maximal in the class of *h*-invariant fuzzy ideal of *A*.

**Theorem 3.5.5.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism, then the mapping  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  defines aone-to-one correspondence between the set of all h-invariant maximal fuzzy ideals of A and the set of all maximal fuzzy ideals of B.

### 3.6 Generalized Maximal Fuzzy Ideals

In this section, A is assumed to have a formal unit say u.

**Theorem 3.6.1.** Let *M* be a maximal ideal of *A* and  $\mu$  be a non-constant fuzzy ideal. Then  $\chi_M \leq \mu$  if and only if  $\mu = \alpha_M$  for some  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\chi_M \leq \mu$ . Then  $(\chi_M)_{\alpha} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . In particular,  $M \subseteq \mu_*$ , where  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$ . Since  $\mu$  is non-constant,  $\mu_*$  is a proper ideal. M being maximal, it holds that  $M = \mu_*$ . We show that  $\mu$  attains exactly one value other than 1. Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $\mu(a) < 1$  and  $\mu(b) < 1$ . If we put  $\alpha = \mu(a)$  and  $\beta = \mu(b)$ , then M is properly contained in the level ideal  $\mu_{\alpha}$ . Since M is maximal, it follows that  $\mu_{\alpha} = A$ . So that  $b \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , i.e.,  $\mu(b) \geq \alpha = \mu(a)$ . Similarly, by interchanging a and b we can show that  $\mu(a) \geq \mu(b)$  and hence the  $\mu(a) = \mu(b)$ . This confirms that  $\mu = \alpha_M$  for some  $\alpha \in L - \{0\}$ . The converse part is straight forward.

**Definition 3.6.2.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of *A* is called generalized maximal fuzzy ideal if and only if each level ideal  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is either *A* or a maximal ideal in *A*.

**Theorem 3.6.3.** Let M be a proper ideal of A and  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ . Then M is maximal if and only if  $\alpha_M$  is generalized maximal fuzzy ideal.

**Corollary 3.6.4.** A proper ideal M of A is maximal if and only if  $\chi_M$  is generalized maximal fuzzy ideal.

**Theorem 3.6.5.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is generalized maximal fuzzy ideal if and only if  $\mu = \alpha_M$  for some maximal ideal M of A and  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ .

*Proof.* If  $\mu = \alpha_M$  for some  $\alpha \in L - \{0\}$  and some maximal ideal M, then it is clear from the definition that  $\alpha_M$  is generalized fuzzy maximal. Conversely, assume that  $\mu$  is generalized fuzzy maximal. Then every level ideal of A is either A or maximal. If we put  $M = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$ , then M is a maximal ideal of A such that  $\chi_M \leq \mu$ . By Theorem 3.6.1, there exists some  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$  such that  $\mu = \alpha_M$ . Hence proved.

## **Chapter 4**

# L-Fuzzy Semi-Prime Ideals

### Introduction

Several attempts have been made to fuzzify the concept of semiprime ideals in rings (see [66, 98, 96, 104, 109, 160]). Dixit et al. [66] and Zahedi [160] have defined semiprime fuzzy ideal of a ring *R* as a fuzzy ideal  $\mu$ , which satisfies the condition, that if  $\sigma^n \leq \mu$  ( $\sigma^2 \leq \mu$ ), then  $\sigma \leq \mu$  for all fuzzy ideals  $\sigma$  of *R*. These definitions, however, make no reference to the grade of membership of an element of *R*. With this view, later Kumbhojkar et al. [104] defined fuzzy semiprime ideals of a ring *R* as a fuzzy ideal  $\mu$ , satisfying the condition:  $\mu(x^2) = \mu(x)$  for all  $x \in R$ . This helps to see the effect of semi-primeness on the elements of *R*.

In this chapter, we define fuzzy semi-prime ideals of universal algebras in the sense of [66] by applying the commutator of fuzzy ideals given in the previous chapter. We show that this definition is equivalent to that of [104]. In addition, we define the radical of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras and give several characterizing theorems describing the properties of fuzzy semi-prime ideals. In the last section, we study the space of fuzzy prime ideals equipped with the hull kernel topology.

### 4.1 Fuzzy Semi-Prime Ideals

**Definition 4.1.1.** A fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of *A* is called fuzzy semi-prime if:

$$[\theta, \theta] \leq \mu \Rightarrow \theta \leq \mu$$

for all  $\theta \in FI(A)$ .

It is clear that every fuzzy prime ideal is fuzzy semi-prime.

**Theorem 4.1.2.** A fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is fuzzy semi-prime if and only if  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is semi-prime for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime and let  $\alpha \in L$ . Let *I* be an ideal of *A* such that  $[I,I] \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$ . We show that  $I \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$ . Define a fuzzy subset  $\sigma$  of *A* as follows:

$$\sigma(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0 \\ \alpha & \text{if } x \in I - \{0\} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Then it is easy to check that  $\sigma$  is a fuzzy ideal of A. Moreover, for each  $x \in A$  we have:

$$[\sigma, \sigma](x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0\\ \alpha & \text{if } x \in [I, I] - \{0\}\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

It follows from our hypothesis;  $[I, I] \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  that  $[\sigma, \sigma] \leq \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime,  $\sigma \leq \mu$ . Thus the level ideal  $\sigma_{\alpha}$  which is precisely *I* will be included in  $\mu_{\alpha}$  and hence  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is semi-prime. Conversely, suppose that  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is semi-prime for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Let  $\sigma \in FI(A)$  such that  $[\sigma, \sigma] \leq \mu$ . Then  $[\sigma, \sigma]_{\alpha} \leq \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . By Corollary 3.1.5, we have

$$[\sigma_{lpha},\sigma_{lpha}]\subseteq [\sigma,\sigma]_{lpha}\leq \mu_{lpha}$$

Since each  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is semi-prime, it follows that  $\sigma_{\alpha} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Thus  $\sigma \leq \mu$  and hence  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime.

**Theorem 4.1.3.** An ideal I of A is semi-prime if and only if its characteristic function  $\chi_I$  is fuzzy semi-prime.

*Proof.* Suppose that *I* is semi-prime. Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy ideal of *A* such that  $[\mu, \mu] \leq \chi_I$ . We show that  $\mu \leq \chi_I$ . Suppose not. There exists  $x \in A - I$  such that  $\mu(x) > 0$ . Since *I* is semi-prime,  $[x, x] \nsubseteq I$ . Choose an element *a* in [x, x] and  $a \notin I$ . We can verify that  $[\mu, \mu](a) \ge \mu(x) > 0$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore  $\chi_I$  is fuzzy semi-prime. The converse part is straight forward.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.1.4.** A non-constant fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is fuzzy semi-prime if and only if for any fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  of A:

$$[x_{\alpha}, x_{\alpha}] \leq \mu \Rightarrow x_{\alpha} \in \mu$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  satisfies the condition:

$$[x_{\alpha}, x_{\alpha}] \leq \mu \Rightarrow x_{\alpha} \in \mu$$

for each fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  of A. We show that  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime. Let  $\sigma$  be a fuzzy ideal of A such that  $[\sigma, \sigma] \leq \mu$ . Suppose on contrary that  $\sigma \nleq \mu$ . Then there exists  $x \in A$  such that  $\sigma(x) \nleq \mu(x)$ . If we put  $\alpha = \sigma(x)$ , then  $x_{\alpha}$  is a fuzzy point of A such that  $x_{\alpha} \in \sigma$  but  $x_{\alpha} \notin \mu$ . So  $[x_{\alpha}, x_{\alpha}] \leq [\sigma, \sigma] \leq \mu$ , but  $x_{\alpha} \notin \mu$ . This contradicts to our hypothesis. Thus  $\sigma \leq \mu$  and therefore  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime. The converse part is clear.

**Theorem 4.1.5.** A fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is fuzzy semi-prime if and only if:

$$\mu(a) \ge \bigwedge \{\mu(x) : x \in [a,a]\} \tag{4.1.1}$$

for all  $a \in A$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime. We use contradiction. Assume that there exists  $a \in A$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}(a) \not\geq \bigwedge \{ \boldsymbol{\mu}(x) : x \in [a,a] \}$$

Put  $\alpha = \wedge \{\mu(x) : x \in [a, a]\}$  and define a fuzzy subset  $\theta$  of *A* by:

$$\theta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0\\ \alpha & \text{if } x \in \langle a \rangle - \{0\}\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Then  $\theta$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that for each  $x \in A$  we have:

$$[\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}](x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0\\ \alpha & \text{if } x \in [a, a] - \{0\}\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

So that  $[\theta, \theta] \leq \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime it yields that  $\theta \leq \mu$ . This is a contradiction, because  $\theta(a) \nleq \mu(a)$ . Therefore the inequality 4.1.1 holds for all  $a \in A$ . Conversely, suppose that the inequality 4.1.1 holds for all  $a \in A$ . Let  $\theta$  be any fuzzy ideal of A such that  $[\theta, \theta] \leq \mu$ . We show that  $\theta \leq \mu$ . Suppose not. Then there exists  $a \in A$  such that  $\theta(a) \nleq \mu(a)$ . For each  $x \in [a, a]$ , we can verify that  $[\theta, \theta](x) \ge \theta(a)$ . Since  $[\theta, \theta] \le \mu$ , it yields that  $\mu(x) \ge \theta(a)$  for all  $x \in [a, a]$ . So that

$$\mu(a) \ge \bigwedge \{\mu(x) : x \in [a,a]\} \ge \theta(a)$$

This is a contradiction. Therefore  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime.

**Theorem 4.1.6.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism and  $\mu$  is an h-invariant fuzzy semiprime ideal of A, then  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy semi-prime ideal of B.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is an *h*-invariant fuzzy semi-prime ideal of *A*. It follows from Theorem 2.5.1 that  $h(\mu)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *B*. Let  $\theta$  be fuzzy a ideal of *B* such that  $[\theta, \theta] \leq h(\mu)$ . Then,

 $h^{-1}([\theta, \theta]) \le h^{-1}(h(\mu))$ . Since  $\mu$  is given to be *h*-invariant, we have  $h^{-1}(h(\mu)) = \mu$ . So that,  $h^{-1}([\theta, \theta]) \le \mu$ . Also, by (2) of Theorem 3.4.1, we have  $[h^{-1}(\theta), h^{-1}(\theta)] \le h^{-1}([\theta, \theta])$ , which gives  $[h^{-1}(\theta), h^{-1}(\theta)] \le \mu$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy semi-prime, we get  $h^{-1}(\theta) \le \mu$ , which implies that  $h(h^{-1}(\theta)) \le h(\mu)$ ; that is,  $\theta \le h(\mu)$ . This means  $h(\mu)$  is fuzzy semi-prime.

**Theorem 4.1.7.** If h is a homomorphism from A to B and  $\sigma$  is a fuzzy semi-prime ideal of B, then  $h^{-1}(\sigma)$  is a fuzzy semi-prime ideal of A.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\theta$  is a fuzzy semi-prime ideal of *B*. By Theorem 2.5.1  $h^{-1}(\theta)$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy ideal of *A* such that  $[\mu, \mu] \leq h^{-1}(\theta)$ . Then,  $h([\mu, \mu]) \leq h(h^{-1}(\theta))$ . Since *h* is surjective,  $h(h^{-1}(\theta)) = \theta$  and by (1) of Theorem 3.4.1, we have  $h([\mu, \mu]) = [h(\mu), h(\mu)]$ . So that  $[h(\mu), h(\mu)] \leq \theta$ . Since  $\theta$  is fuzzy semi-prime, we get  $h(\mu) \leq \theta$ . This provides that  $\mu \leq h^{-1}(\theta)$ . Therefore  $h^{-1}(\theta)$  is fuzzy semi-prime.

**Theorem 4.1.8.** If  $h : A \to B$  is an onto homomorphism, then the mapping  $\mu \mapsto h(\mu)$  defines a one-to-one correspondence between the set of all h-invariant fuzzy semi-prime ideals of A and the set of all fuzzy semi-prime ideals of B.

*Proof.* The proof is similar to that of Theorem 3.4.4.

### 4.2 The Radical of Fuzzy Ideals

According to [149], the prime radical of an ideal *I* of *A*, denoted by  $\sqrt{I}$  is the intersection of all prime ideals of *A* containing *I*. Here we define the prime radical of fuzzy ideals using their level ideals.

**Definition 4.2.1.** For a fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A, its prime radical of  $\mu$  denoted by  $\sqrt{\mu}$  is defined as a fuzzy subset of A such that, for each  $x \in A$ :

 $\sqrt{\mu}(x) = \alpha$  if and only if  $x \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}}$  and  $x \notin \sqrt{\mu_{\beta}}$  for all  $\beta \nleq \alpha$  in *L*.

If the algebra we are assuming is a ring, then this definition coincides with that of Kumar [97].

**Lemma 4.2.2.** *Let*  $\mu$  *be a fuzzy ideal of* A *and*  $x \in A$ *. Then* 

$$\sqrt{\mu}(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}} \}$$

**Lemma 4.2.3.** *The following holds for all*  $\mu$ ,  $\nu \in FI(A)$ *:* 

- *1.*  $\sqrt{(\mu_{\alpha})} = (\sqrt{\mu})_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$
- 2.  $\mu \leq \sqrt{\mu}$
- 3.  $\mu \leq \nu \Rightarrow \sqrt{\mu} \leq \sqrt{\nu}$

**Lemma 4.2.4.** For any  $\mu \in FI(A)$ ,  $\sqrt{\mu}$  is a fuzzy ideal of A.

*Proof.* It is clear that  $\sqrt{\mu}(0) = 1$ . Let  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$  and  $P(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Then consider:

$$(\sqrt{\mu})^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) = \bigwedge \{\sqrt{\mu}(b_{i}) : 1 \le i \le m\}$$
$$= \bigwedge \{\bigvee \{\alpha_{i} \in L : b_{i} \in \sqrt{\mu}\alpha_{i}\} : 1 \le i \le m\}$$
$$= \bigvee \{\bigwedge \{\alpha_{i} \in L : 1 \le i \le m\} : b_{i} \in \sqrt{\mu}\alpha_{i}\}$$

If we put  $\beta = \wedge \{\alpha_i \in L : 1 \le i \le m\}$ , then we get  $\mu_{\alpha_i} \subseteq \mu_{\beta}$  for all  $1 \le i \le m$ . This implies that  $\sqrt{\mu_{\alpha_i}} \subseteq \sqrt{\mu_{\beta}}$  for all  $1 \le i \le m$ . Then we have the following:

$$\begin{split} (\sqrt{\mu})^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) &= \bigvee \{\bigwedge \{\alpha_{i} \in L : 1 \leq i \leq m\} : b_{i} \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha_{i}}} \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{\beta \in L : b_{i} \in \sqrt{\mu_{\beta}}, \text{ for all } 1 \leq i \leq m\} \\ &= \bigvee \{\beta \in L : \overrightarrow{b} \in (\sqrt{\mu_{\beta}})^{m} \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{\beta \in L : P(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) \in \sqrt{\mu_{\beta}} \} \\ &= \sqrt{\mu} (P(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $\sqrt{\mu}$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*.

**Lemma 4.2.5.** For any  $\mu \in FI(A)$ ,  $\sqrt{\mu}$  is fuzzy semi-prime.

*Proof.* The proof follows from (1) of Lemma 4.2.3 and Theorem 4.1.2.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.2.6.** For any  $\theta \in FI(A)$ , if  $\theta$  is fuzzy semi-prime, then  $\sqrt{\theta} = \theta$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\theta$  is fuzzy semi-prime. By Theorem 4.1.2, every level ideal  $\theta_{\alpha}$  is semiprime. By the equivalence in (3.5) of [149], we get  $\sqrt{\theta_{\alpha}} = \theta_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . This confirms that  $\sqrt{\theta} = \theta$ .

**Corollary 4.2.7.** For any  $\mu \in FI(A)$ ,  $\sqrt{\sqrt{\mu}} = \sqrt{\mu}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.8.** For any  $\mu \in FI(A)$ , if  $\theta$  is a fuzzy semi-prime ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq \theta$ , then  $\sqrt{\mu} \leq \theta$ .

Proof. The proof is straight forward.

**Corollary 4.2.9.** *For any*  $\mu \in FI(A)$ *,* 

 $\sqrt{\mu} = \cap \{\theta : \theta \text{ is a fuzzy semi-prime ideal of } A, \mu \leq \theta \}$ 

**Lemma 4.2.10.** *For any*  $\mu$ ,  $\nu \in FI(A)$ ,

$$\sqrt{[\mu,\nu]} = \sqrt{\mu \cap \nu} = \sqrt{\mu} \cap \sqrt{\nu}$$

*Proof.* For any  $x \in A$ , it is clear to see that:

$$\sqrt{[\mu,\nu]}(x) \le \sqrt{\mu \cap \nu}(x) \le \sqrt{\mu}(x) \land \sqrt{\nu}(x)$$

It is enough to show that  $\sqrt{\mu}(x) \wedge \sqrt{\nu}(x) \leq \sqrt{[\mu, \nu]}(x)$ . Let  $\alpha \in L$  such that  $\sqrt{\mu}(x) \wedge \sqrt{\nu}(x) = \alpha$ . Then  $x \in (\sqrt{\mu})_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}}$  and  $x \in (\sqrt{\nu})_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\nu_{\alpha}}$ . So that  $x \in P$  for all prime ideals P containing  $\mu_{\alpha}$  (respectively  $\nu_{\alpha}$ ). Let Q be any prime ideal of A such that  $[\mu, \nu]_{\alpha} \subseteq Q$ . Since  $[\mu, \nu]_{\alpha} = [\mu_{\alpha}, \nu_{\alpha}]$ , we get that either  $\mu_{\alpha} \subseteq Q$  or  $\nu_{\alpha} \subseteq Q$ . So that  $x \in Q$ . Thus  $x \in \sqrt{[\mu, \nu]_{\alpha}}$  and hence  $\sqrt{[\mu, \nu]}(x) \geq \alpha = \sqrt{\mu}(x) \wedge \sqrt{\nu}(x)$ .

**Theorem 4.2.11.** If L is a chain and  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A satisfying the sup property, then

$$\sqrt{\mu} = \cap \{\theta : \theta \text{ is a fuzzy prime ideal of } A, \mu \leq \theta \}$$

*Proof.* Let  $x \in A$  and  $\alpha \in L$ . Suppose that  $\sqrt{\mu}(x) = \alpha$ . Then  $x \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}}$  and  $x \notin \sqrt{\mu_{\beta}}$  for all  $\beta \nleq \alpha$ . So that  $x \in P$  for all prime ideals P of A with  $\mu_{\alpha} \subseteq P$ . Let  $\theta$  be any fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq \theta$ . By Theorem 3.2.3,  $Img(\theta) = \{1, \beta\}$ , where  $\beta \in L - \{1\}$  and the set  $\theta_* = \{x \in A : \theta(x) = 1\}$  is a prime ideal of A.

Case(1) If  $\beta \ge \alpha$ , then it is clear that  $\theta(x) \ge \alpha$ .

Case(2) If  $\beta < \alpha$ , then we can verify that  $\theta_{\alpha} = \theta_*$  (which is a prime ideal of *A*) and  $\mu_{\alpha} \subseteq \theta_{\alpha} = \theta_*$ . That is,  $\theta_*$  is a prime ideal of *A* containing  $\mu_{\alpha}$ . So that  $x \in \theta_*$  and hence  $\theta(x) \ge \alpha$ .

Therefore

$$\bigwedge \{\theta(x) : \theta \text{ is a fuzzy prime ideal of } A, \mu \leq \theta \} \geq \alpha$$

To prove the other side of the inequality, Let

$$\alpha = \bigwedge \{ \theta(x) : \theta \text{ is a fuzzy prime ideal of } A, \mu \leq \theta \}$$

Then  $\theta(x) \ge \alpha$  for all fuzzy prime ideals  $\theta$  of A with  $\mu \le \theta$ . Let P be any prime ideal of A such that  $\mu_{\alpha} \subseteq P$ . We show that  $x \in P$ . If  $x \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , then it is clear. Assume that  $x \notin \mu_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\mu(x) < \alpha$ . Put  $\beta = \lor \{\mu(y) : y \notin P\}$ . Since  $\mu$  has the sup-property,  $\beta < \alpha$ . Let us define a fuzzy subset  $\theta_P$  of A as follows:

$$\theta_P(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z \in P \\ \beta & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Then  $\theta_P$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq \theta_P$ . Thus  $\theta_P(x) \geq \alpha > \beta$  and hence  $\theta_P(x) = 1$ . So that  $x \in P$ , which implies that  $x \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}}$ . This confirms that the equality holds.

**Theorem 4.2.12.** If the commutator [, ] of ideals in A is finitary and  $\mu$  has the sup-property, then

$$\sqrt{\mu}(a) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{x \in (a)^{(n)}} \mu(x) : n \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$$

for all  $a \in A$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\alpha \in L$  such that  $\bigvee \{ \bigwedge_{x \in (a)^{(n)}} \mu(x) : n \in Z_+ \} = \alpha$ . Then there exists  $n \in Z_+$  such that  $(a)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$ . If *P* is any prime ideal containing  $\mu_{\alpha}$ , then  $(a)^{(n)} \subseteq P$ . So that  $a \in P$ . Thus  $a \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}}$  and hence  $\sqrt{\mu}(a) \ge \alpha$ . To prove the other side of the inequality, let  $\beta = \sqrt{\mu}(a)$ . Then it follows from Corollary 4.2.9 that,  $\theta(a) \ge \beta$  for all fuzzy semi-prime ideals  $\theta$  of *A* with  $\mu \le \theta$ . We need to show that

$$\bigvee \{\bigwedge_{x \in (a)^{(n)}} \mu(x) : n \in Z_+\} \ge \beta$$

Suppose not. Then

$$\beta \nleq \bigwedge_{x \in (a)^{(n)}} \mu(x) \text{ for all } n \in Z_+$$

That is; for each  $n \in Z_+$ ,  $(a)^{(n)} \nsubseteq \mu_{\beta}$ . Then the set

$$\mathfrak{F} = \{ I \in \mathscr{I}(A) : \mu_{\beta} \subseteq I, (a)^{(n)} \nsubseteq I \text{ for all } n \in Z_+ \}$$

is nonempty. Moreover,  $\mathfrak{F}$  together with the usual inclusion order forms a poset satisfying the hypothesis of Zorn's Lemma (here we use the condition; [, ] is finitary). So that  $\mathfrak{F}$  has a maximal element, say M. Our aim is to show that M is semi-prime. Take  $b \notin M$ . Then  $M \lor \langle b \rangle \notin \mathfrak{F}$ . By the property of  $\mathfrak{F}$ ,  $(a)^{(n)} \subseteq M \lor \langle b \rangle$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . Then

$$(a)^{(n+1)} = [(a)^{(n)}, (a)^{(n)}]$$
$$\subseteq [M \lor \langle b \rangle, M \lor \langle b \rangle]$$
$$= [M, M] \lor [M, \langle b \rangle] \lor [b, b]$$
$$\subseteq M \lor [b, b]$$

So that  $M \vee [b,b] \notin \mathfrak{F}$  and hence  $[b,b] \nsubseteq M$ . Therefore *M* is a semi-prime ideal of *A* such that  $\mu_{\beta} \subseteq M$  such that  $a \notin M$ . Put

$$\lambda = \lor \{\mu(y) : y \in A - M\}$$

Since  $\mu$  has the sup-property,  $\beta \leq \lambda$ . Now define a fuzzy subset  $\theta_M$  of A as follows:

$$\theta_M(z) = \begin{cases}
 1 & \text{if } z \in M \\
 \lambda & \text{otherwise}
 \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Then  $\theta_M$  is fuzzy semi-prime ideal of A such that  $\mu \leq \theta_M$ . But  $\theta_M(a) = \lambda \not\geq \beta$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore the equality holds.

**Theorem 4.2.13.** Let  $\mu \in FI(A)$ . If the commutator [, ] of ideals in A is associative and finitary, then for each  $x \in A$ :

$$\sqrt{\mu}(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : \exists n \in Z_+ \text{ such that } (x_\alpha)^{(n)} \leq \mu \}$$

where  $x_{\alpha}$  is a fuzzy point of A.

*Proof.* For each  $\alpha > 0$  and  $n \in Z_+$ , we first show that  $(x)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  if and only if  $(x_{\alpha})^{(n)} \leq \mu$ . It is clear that  $(x)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  if and only if  $\mu(z) \geq \alpha$  for all  $z \in (x)^{(n)}$ . On the other hand we can verify that:

$$(x_{\alpha})^{(n)}(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z = 0\\ \alpha & \text{if } z \in (x)^{(n)} - \{0\}\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Therefore  $(x)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  if and only if  $(x_{\alpha})^{(n)} \leq \mu$ . Now consider the following:

$$\sqrt{\mu}(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}} \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : \exists n \in Z_{+}, (x)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_{\alpha} \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : \exists n \in Z_{+}, (x_{\alpha})^{(n)} \leq \mu \}$$

**Theorem 4.2.14.** If the commutator [, ] of ideals in A is finitary, then

$$\sqrt{\mu} = \bigcup \{ \eta \in L^A : \exists n \in Z_+ \text{ such that } \eta^{(n)} \leq \mu \}$$

*Proof.* For each  $x \in A$ , let us define two sets  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \sqrt{\mu_{\alpha}} \}$$
  
$$G_x = \{ \eta(x) : \eta \in L^A \text{ such that } \eta^{(n)} \le \mu \text{ for some } n \in Z_+ \}$$

Clearly both  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  are subsets of L. Our aim is to show that  $H_x = G_x$  for all  $x \in A$ . Let  $\alpha \in H_x$  (without loss of generality we can assume that  $\alpha > 0$ ). Then  $x \in \sqrt{\mu_\alpha}$ . Since the commutator [, ] of ideals in A is finitary, there exists  $n \in Z_+$  such that  $(x)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_\alpha$ . Thus  $(x_\alpha)^{(n)} \leq \mu$ . If we take  $\eta$  to be the fuzzy point  $x_\alpha$ , then  $\eta \in L^A$ , with  $\eta(x) = \alpha$  such that  $\eta^{(n)} \leq \mu$  for some  $n \in Z_+$ . Therefor  $\alpha \in G_x$ . So that  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . Also let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then there exists  $\eta \in L^A$  such that  $\alpha = \eta(x)$  and  $\eta^{(n)} \leq \mu$  for some  $n \in Z_+$ . Consider the fuzzy point  $x_\alpha$ . Since  $\eta(x) = \alpha$ ,  $x_\alpha \in \eta$ . So that  $(x_\alpha)^{(n)} \leq \mu^{(n)} \leq \mu$ . Then  $(x_\alpha)^{(n)} \leq \mu$ , which implies that  $(x)^{(n)} \subseteq \mu_\alpha$ . That is,  $x \in \sqrt{\mu_\alpha}$ . So that  $\alpha \in H_x$ . Therefore  $H_x = G_x$ .

**Theorem 4.2.15.** If the commutator [, ] of ideals in A is finitary, then

$$\sqrt{\mu} = \cup \{\eta \in FI(A) : \exists n \in Z_+ \text{ such that } \eta^{(n)} \leq \mu\}$$

*Proof.* For each  $\eta \in L^A$  and  $n \in Z_+$ , it yields that  $\eta^{(n)} = \langle \eta \rangle^{(n)}$ . So that the proof of this theorem follows from Theorem 4.2.14.

### 4.3 The Fuzzy Prime Spectrum

The space of prime ideals of universal algebras equipped with the hull-kernel topology was first studied by Agliano in [7]. He was considering algebras in ideal determined varieties. More

generally, in the paper [6], Agliano defined and studied the space of prime congruences so called prime spectra in modular varieties.

The space of fuzzy prime ideals called fuzzy prime spectrum of rings were studied by Kumar [100] and Kumbhojkar [103]. The spectrum of prime L-submodules was studied by R. Ameri and R. Mahjoob in [31]. In this section, we study the space fuzzy prime ideals of universal algebras equipped with the hull-kernel topology. For the standard topological concepts we refer to [90].

We begin by giving the following notations.

- 1.  $Y = \{P : P \text{ is a prime ideal of } A\}$
- 2.  $X = \{\mu : \mu \text{ is a fuzzy prime ideal of } A\}$
- 3. For any subset  $S \subseteq A$ :

$$V(S) = \{P \in Y : S \subseteq P\} \text{ and } D(S) = \{P \in Y : S \nsubseteq P\}$$

4. For any fuzzy subset  $\theta$  of *A*:

$$V(\theta) = \{\mu \in X : \theta \le \mu\} \text{ and } D(\theta) = \{\mu \in X : \theta \le \mu\}$$

It is immediate from the definition that  $D(1_A) = X = V(0_A)$  and  $D(0_A) = \emptyset = V(1_A)$ .

**Lemma 4.3.1.** For any fuzzy subset  $\theta$  of A,

$$D(\theta) = D(\langle \theta \rangle)$$
 and  $V(\theta) = V(\langle \theta \rangle)$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\mu \in D(\theta)$ . Then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $\theta \nleq \mu$ . Since  $\theta \le \langle \theta \rangle$ , it follows that  $\langle \theta \rangle \nleq \mu$  and hence  $\mu \in D(\langle \theta \rangle)$ . Thus  $D(\theta) \subseteq D(\langle \theta \rangle)$ . Also, if  $\mu \in D(\langle \theta \rangle)$ , then  $\langle \theta \rangle \nleq \mu$ . If we are assuming that  $\theta \le \mu$ , then  $\langle \theta \rangle \le \mu$  which is impossible. Thus  $\mu \in D(\theta)$  and hence the equality holds. Similarly, we can verify that  $V(\theta) = V(\langle \theta \rangle)$ .

**Lemma 4.3.2.** For any two fuzzy subsets  $\theta$  and  $\sigma$  of A:

*1.*  $\theta \leq \sigma \Rightarrow V(\sigma) \subseteq V(\theta)$ 

2. 
$$\theta \leq \sigma \Rightarrow D(\theta) \subseteq D(\sigma)$$

**Lemma 4.3.3.** If *L* is a chain and  $\theta$  and  $\sigma$  are fuzzy ideals of *A* having the sup property, then the following are equivalent::

- *1*.  $D(\theta) = D(\sigma)$
- 2.  $V(\theta) = V(\sigma)$
- *3.*  $V(\theta_{\alpha}) = V(\sigma_{\alpha})$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .
- 4.  $\sqrt{\theta_{\alpha}} = \sqrt{\sigma_{\alpha}}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

5. 
$$\sqrt{\theta} = \sqrt{\sigma}$$

*Proof.* (1)  $\Rightarrow$  (2) is trivial. We proceed to show (2)  $\Rightarrow$  (3). Suppose that  $V(\theta) = V(\sigma)$ . Let  $\alpha \in L$ . Let *P* be a prime ideal of *A* such that  $P \in V(\theta_{\alpha})$ . Then  $\theta_{\alpha} \subseteq P$ . Put  $\beta = \lor \{\theta(x) : x \notin P\}$ . Since  $\theta$  has sup property, we get  $\beta < \alpha$ . Let us define a fuzzy subset  $\theta_P$  of *A* by:

$$\theta_P(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in P \\ \beta & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Since *L* is a chain,  $\beta$  is a prime element in *L* and hence  $\theta_P$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of *A*. Moreover,  $\theta \leq \theta_P$ . So that  $\theta_P \in V(\theta) = V(\sigma)$ . Thus  $\sigma \leq \theta_P$ . Now consider the following:

$$x \in \sigma_{\alpha} \Rightarrow \sigma(x) \ge \alpha$$
$$\Rightarrow \theta_{P}(x) \ge \alpha > \beta$$
$$\Rightarrow \theta_{P}(x) = 1$$
$$\Rightarrow x \in P$$

Thus  $\sigma_{\alpha} \subseteq P$  and hence  $P \in V(\sigma_{\alpha})$ . So that  $V(\theta_{\alpha}) \subseteq V(\sigma_{\alpha})$ . By symmetry, we can also verify that  $V(\sigma_{\alpha}) \subseteq V(\theta_{\alpha})$  and therefore the equality holds.

(3)  $\Rightarrow$  (4). Suppose that  $V(\theta_{\alpha}) = V(\sigma_{\alpha})$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . For each  $\alpha \in L$ , consider the following:

$$\sqrt{(\theta_{\alpha})} = \bigcap \{P : P \text{ is a prime ideal of } A \text{ such that } \theta_{\alpha} \subseteq P \}$$
$$= \bigcap \{P : P \in V(\theta_{\alpha}) \}$$
$$= \bigcap \{P : P \in V(\sigma_{\alpha}) \}$$
$$= \bigcap \{P : P \text{ is a prime ideal of such that } \sigma_{\alpha} \subseteq P \}$$
$$= \sqrt{(\sigma_{\alpha})}$$

(4)  $\Rightarrow$  (5). Suppose that  $\sqrt{(\theta_{\alpha})} = \sqrt{(\sigma_{\alpha})}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . For each  $x \in A$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned}
\sqrt{\theta}(x) &= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \sqrt{(\theta_{\alpha})} \} \\
&= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \sqrt{(\sigma_{\alpha})} \} \\
&= \sqrt{\sigma}(x)
\end{aligned}$$

Therefore  $\sqrt{\theta} = \sqrt{\sigma}$ . (5)  $\Rightarrow$  (1) is clear and the proof ends.

**Lemma 4.3.4.** *For any*  $\mu$ ,  $\nu \in FI(A)$ *:* 

- *1.*  $D(\theta \lor \sigma) = D(\theta) \cup D(\sigma)$
- 2.  $D([\theta, \sigma]) = D(\theta \land \sigma) = D(\theta) \cap V(\sigma)$
- 3.  $V(\mu \lor \nu) = V(\mu) \cap V(\nu)$
- 4.  $V(\mu \wedge \nu) = V(\mu) \cup V(\nu)$

*Proof.* The proof of (3) and (4) is dual to the proof of (1) and (2) respectively. So that we prove only (1) and (2).

1. Suppose that  $\mu \in D(\theta \lor \sigma)$ . Then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that

$$\theta \lor \sigma \nleq \mu$$

If  $\theta \leq \mu$  and  $\sigma \leq \mu$ , then we get  $\theta \lor \sigma \leq \mu$ , which is impossible. So that either  $\theta \nleq \mu$ or  $\sigma \nleq \mu$ ; that is, either  $\mu \in D(\theta)$  or  $\mu \in D(\sigma)$  and hence  $D(\theta \lor \sigma) \subseteq D(\theta) \cup D(\sigma)$ . To prove the other inclusion, let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that either  $\mu \in D(\theta)$ or  $\mu \in D(\sigma)$ . Then either  $\theta \nleq \mu$  or  $\sigma \nleq \mu$ , which implies that  $\theta \lor \sigma \nleq \mu$ . So that  $\mu \in D(\theta \lor \sigma)$ . Thus  $D(\theta) \cup D(\sigma) \subseteq D(\theta \lor \sigma)$  and hence the equality holds.

2. For any fuzzy prime ideal  $\mu$  of *A* and each  $\theta, \sigma \in FI(A)$  it holds that

$$[\theta, \sigma] \leq \mu$$
 if and only if  $\theta \land \sigma \leq \mu$ 

This provides that the equality  $D([\theta, \sigma]) = D(\theta \land \sigma)$ . So it is enough to show  $D([\theta, \sigma]) = D(\theta) \cap D(\sigma)$ . Let  $\mu \in D([\theta, \sigma])$ . Then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $[\theta, \sigma] \nleq \mu$ . Since  $[\theta, \sigma] \le \theta$  and  $[\theta, \sigma] \le \sigma$ , we get  $\theta \nleq \mu$  and  $\sigma \nleq \mu$ ; that is,  $\mu \in D(\theta) \cap D(\sigma)$ , and hence  $D([\theta, \sigma]) \subseteq D(\theta) \cap D(\sigma)$ . To prove the other inclusion let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $\mu \in D(\theta)$  and  $\mu \in D(\sigma)$ . Then  $\theta \nleq \mu$  and  $\sigma \nleq \mu$ . Being  $\mu$  a fuzzy prime ideal we get  $[\theta, \sigma] \nleq \mu$ . So  $\mu \in D([\theta, \sigma])$  and hence  $D(\theta) \cap D(\sigma) \subseteq D([\theta, \sigma])$ . Therefore the the equality holds.

**Lemma 4.3.5.** For any subset S of A and its characteristic mapping  $\chi_S$ 

$$D(\chi_S) = \{ \alpha_P : \text{ where } \alpha \text{ is a prime element in } L \text{ and } P \in D(S) \}$$

Proof. Let us put

$$\mathscr{S} = \{ \alpha_P : \text{ where } \alpha \text{ is a prime element in } L \text{ and } P \in D(S) \}$$

Let  $\alpha$  be a prime element in *L* and  $P \in D(S)$ . Then *P* is a prime ideal of *A* such that  $S \nsubseteq P$ . There exists  $a \in S$  and  $a \notin P$ . So that

$$\alpha_P(a) = \alpha < 1 = \chi_S(a)$$

This implies that  $\chi_S \nleq \alpha_P$ . Since  $\alpha_P$  is a fuzzy prime ideal, it belongs to  $D(\chi_S)$ . So  $\mathscr{S} \subseteq D(\chi_S)$ . To prove the other side inclusion, let  $\mu \in D(\chi_S)$ . Then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $\chi_S \nleq \mu$ . By Theorem 3.2.3, there exists a prime element  $\alpha \in L$  and a prime ideal P of A such that  $\mu = \alpha_P$ . Now from  $\chi_S \nleq \mu = \alpha_P$ , there exists  $a \in A$  such that  $\chi_S(a) \nleq \alpha_P(a)$ , which implies that  $\alpha_P(a) < 1$  and hence  $a \notin P$ . If  $a \notin S$ , then

$$0=\chi_S(a)\leq \alpha_P(a)$$

which is impossible and hence  $a \in S$ . Thus  $S \nsubseteq P$  and so  $P \in D(S)$ . This gives  $\mu = \alpha_P \in \mathscr{S}$ . Therefore  $D(\chi_S) \subseteq \mathscr{S}$  and hence the equality holds.

Theorem 4.3.6. The collection

$$\mathscr{T} = \{D(\theta) : \theta \text{ is a fuzzy ideal of } A\}$$

is a topology on X.

*Proof.* As  $D(1_0) = \emptyset$  and  $D(1_A) = X$ , then  $\mathscr{T}$  contains both  $\emptyset$  and X. Also for any fuzzy ideals  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  of A, it is shown in Lemma 4.3.4 that  $D(\theta_1) \cap D(\theta_2) = D(\theta_1 \land \theta_2)$ . This shows that  $\mathscr{T}$  is closed under finite intersections. Further, let  $\{\theta_i : i \in I\}$  be any family of fuzzy ideals of A. We verify that  $\bigcup_{i \in I} D(\theta_i) = D(\bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i)$ . Suppose that  $\mu \in D(\bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i)$ . Then  $\bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i \nleq \mu$  which implies that  $\theta_i \nleq \mu$  for some  $i \in I$ . Otherwise if  $\theta_i \le \mu$  for each  $i \in I$ , then it would be true that  $\bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i \le \mu$ , which is impossible. Thus  $\mu \in \bigcup_{i \in I} D(\theta_i)$  and hence  $D(\bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i) \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in I} D(\theta_i)$ . To prove the other inclusion, let  $\mu \in \bigcup_{i \in I} D(\theta_i)$ . Then  $\mu \in D(\theta_i)$  for some  $i \in I$ ; that is,  $\theta_i \nleq \mu$  for some  $i \in I$ . Since  $\theta_i \le \bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i$ , we get  $\bigvee_{i \in I} \theta_i \nleq \mu$ . So that

 $\mu \in D(\forall_{i \in I} \theta_i)$ . Whence  $\cup_{i \in I} D(\theta_i) \subseteq D(\forall_{i \in I} \theta_i)$  and hence the equality holds. Therefore  $\mathscr{T}$  is closed under arbitrary union and hence it is a topology on *X*.

**Definition 4.3.7.** The topological space  $(X, \mathscr{T})$  is called the fuzzy prime spectrum of *A* and it is denoted by F - spec(A).

**Lemma 4.3.8.** For any fuzzy points  $x_{\alpha}$ ,  $y_{\beta}$  of A.

$$D(x_{\alpha}) \cap D(y_{\beta}) = D([x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}])$$

**Lemma 4.3.9.** Let *L* be a chain. For any  $\alpha > 0$  in *L*,  $D(x_{\alpha}) = \emptyset$  if and only if  $x \in \sqrt{0}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $0 < \alpha \in L$ . Suppose that  $D(x_{\alpha}) = \emptyset$  and let *P* be a prime ideal in *A*. Since *L* is a chain, 0 is a prime element in *L*. Consider the fuzzy subset  $0_P$  of *A* defined by:

$$0_P(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z \in P \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $z \in A$ . Then it is clear that  $0_P$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A. By our assumption,  $0_P \notin D(x_\alpha)$ and hence  $x_\alpha \leq 0_P$ . So that

$$0 < \alpha = x_{\alpha}(x) \le 0_P(x)$$

This gives  $x \in P$ . Since *P* is arbitrary, we can conclude that

$$x \in \cap \{P : P \text{ is a prime ideal of } A\} = \sqrt{0}$$

Conversely suppose that  $x \in \sqrt{0}$ . Then  $x \in P$  for each prime ideal P of A. Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy prime ideal of A. Our aim is to show that  $x_{\alpha} \in \mu$ . Since the set

$$\mu_* = \{a \in A : \mu(a) = 1\}$$
is a prime ideal, we get  $x \in \mu_*$  and hence  $\mu(x) = 1 \ge \alpha$ . So that  $x_\alpha \in \mu$ . Thus  $\mu \notin D(x_\alpha)$ , which gives  $D(x_\alpha) = \emptyset$ .

**Lemma 4.3.10.** Suppose that A has a unit element say u and L is a chain. For any  $\alpha > 0$  in L,  $D(x_{\alpha}) = X$  if and only if x is a unit.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $D(x_{\alpha}) = X$ . Then  $x_{\alpha} \notin \mu$  for all  $\mu \in X$ . So  $\mu(x) < 1$  for all  $\mu \in X$ . This implies that, for each prime ideal *P* of *A*,  $x \notin P$ . If we are assuming that *x* is not a unit, then by applying Zorn's Lemma we can find a prime ideal *P* of *A* containing *x* which is a contradiction. Thus *x* is a unit element in *A*. Conversely, suppose that *x* is a unit. Then  $x \notin P$  for each prime ideal *P* of *A*. Now let  $\mu$  be any fuzzy prime ideal of *A*. Then the set

$$\mu_* = \{a \in A : \mu(a) = 1\}$$

is a prime ideal in *A*. So  $x \notin \mu_*$ , that is,  $\mu(x) \neq 1$ . If we take  $\alpha = 1$ , then the fuzzy point  $x_\alpha \notin \mu$ and hence  $\mu \in D(x_\alpha)$ . Thus  $D(x_\alpha) = X$ .

**Theorem 4.3.11.** Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{K}$  and let  $h : A \to B$  be a surjective homomorphism.

- 1. If  $\mu \in F Spec(B)$ , then  $h^{-1}(\mu) \in F Spec(A)$ . Hence h induces a map  $h_*$  from F Spec(B) to F Spec(A), defined by  $h_*(\mu) = h^{-1}(\mu)$ .
- 2. The map  $h_*$  is a homeomorphism from F Spec(B) to the class of h--invariant fuzzy prime ideals of A.

**Lemma 4.3.12.** The subfamily 
$$\mathscr{B} = \{D(x_{\alpha}) : x \in A, \alpha \in L - \{0\}\}$$
 of  $\mathscr{T}$  is a base for  $\mathscr{T}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\theta$  be any fuzzy ideal of A and  $\mu \in D(\theta)$ . Then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A such that  $\theta \nleq \mu$ . There exists  $x \in A$  such that  $\theta(x) \nleq \mu(x)$ . If we put  $\beta = \theta(x)$ , then  $\beta > 0$ , and the fuzzy point  $x_{\beta} \in \theta$  and  $x_{\beta} \notin \mu$ . So that  $\mu \in D(x_{\beta}) \subseteq D(\theta)$ . Thus  $\mathscr{B}$  forms a base for  $\mathscr{T}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.3.13.** If A has a unit element u, then for each prime element  $\alpha \in L$ , the set

$$A_{\alpha} = \{\mu \in X : Im(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}\}$$

is a compact subspace of X.

*Proof.* Remember that  $A_{\alpha}$  can be made a subspace of X by the relativized topology  $\mathscr{T}_{\alpha}$  where

$$\mathscr{T}_{\alpha} = \{ D(\theta) \cap A_{\alpha} : \theta \in FI(A) \}$$

If we put  $L^{\alpha} = \{\gamma \in L : \gamma \nleq \alpha\}$ , then  $L^{\alpha}$  is a nonempty subset of *L*. Moreover, it is clear to show that the family

$$\mathscr{B}_{\alpha} = \{ D(x_{\gamma}) \cap A_{\alpha} : x \in A \text{ and } \gamma \in L^{\alpha} \}$$

constitutes a base for  $\mathscr{T}_{\alpha}$ . Suppose that the family

$$\mathfrak{C} = \{D((x_i)_t) \cap A_{\alpha} : i \in \Delta \text{ and } \gamma \in K \subseteq L^{\alpha}\}$$

is a basic open cover for  $A_{\alpha}$ . If we take  $r = \lor \{t : t \in K\}$ , then  $r \nleq \alpha$  and the family  $\{D((x_i)_r) \cap A_{\alpha} : i \in \Delta\}$  covers  $A_{\alpha}$ . Now consider the following:

$$A_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{i \in \Delta} [D((x_i)_r) \cap A_{\alpha}]$$
  
=  $A_{\alpha} \cap \bigcup_{i \in \Delta} [D((x_i)_r)]$   
=  $A_{\alpha} \cap D(\cup_{i \in \Delta} (x_i)_r)$   
=  $A_{\alpha} \cap (X - V[\cup_{i \in \Delta} (x_i)_r])$ 

which implies that  $A_{\alpha} \cap V[\bigcup_{i \in \Delta}(x_i)_r] = \emptyset$ . For any prime ideal *P* of *A*, consider the fuzzy ideal  $\alpha_P$  of *A* as given in Definition1.2.12. It is shown in Corollary 3.2.4 that  $\alpha_P$  is fuzzy prime and hence  $\alpha_P \in A_{\alpha}$ . Since  $A_{\alpha} \cap V[\bigcup_{i \in \Delta}(x_i)_r] = \emptyset$ , it yields that  $\alpha_P \notin V[\bigcup_{i \in \Delta}(x_i)_r]$ . So that,  $\bigcup_{i \in \Delta}(x_i)_r \nleq \alpha_P$ . If  $(x_i)_r \in \alpha_P$  for all  $i \in \Delta$ , then  $\bigcup_{i \in \Delta}(x_i)_r \le \alpha_P$  which is impossible. So there exists  $j \in \Delta$  such that  $(x_j)_r \notin \alpha_P$ , implying that  $r \nleq \alpha_P(x_j)$ . Then  $\alpha_P(x_j) \neq 1$  and hence  $\alpha_P(x_j) = \alpha$ ; that is,  $x_j \notin P$ . Mean that, for each prime ideal *P* of *A*, there exists  $j \in \Delta$  such that  $x_j \notin P$ . Equivalently saying that, every prime ideal *P* does not contains the ideal  $\langle \{x_i : i \in \Delta\} \rangle$ . So  $\langle \{x_i : i \in \Delta\} \rangle = A$ , and hence  $u \in \langle \{x_i : i \in \Delta\} \rangle$ . Then

$$u = p(a_1, ..., a_n, x_{i_1}, ..., x_{i_m})$$

for some  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A, i_1, i_2, ..., i_m \in \Delta$ . We show that

$$V[\bigcup_{j=1}^{m} (x_{i_j})_r] \cap A_{\alpha} = \emptyset$$

Suppose on contrary that there is some

$$\mu \in V[\bigcup_{j=1}^m (x_{i_j})_r] \cap A_{\alpha}$$

which implies that  $\mu(x_{i_j}) \ge r$  for all  $1 \le j \le m$ . Since  $r \not\le \alpha$ , we get  $\mu(x_{i_j}) = 1$  for all  $1 \le j \le m$ . Now consider:

$$\mu(u) = \mu(p(a_1, \dots, a_n, x_{i_1}, \dots, x_{i_m}))$$
  
$$\geq \bigwedge \{\mu(x_{i_j}) : 1 \le j \le m\}$$
  
$$= 1$$

Since  $\mu(u) \le \mu(x)$  for all  $x \in A$ , it follows that  $\mu$  is constant which is a contradiction. Therefore

$$V\left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{m} (x_{i_j})_r\right) \cap A_{\alpha} = \emptyset$$

Hence the subfamily  $\{D((x_{i_j})_r): 1 \le j \le m\}$  finitely covers  $A_{\alpha}$  and therefore  $A_{\alpha}$  is compact.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.3.14.** The space X is a  $T_0$  space.

*Proof.* Let  $\mu$  and  $\theta$  be fuzzy prime ideals of A such that  $\mu \neq \theta$ . Then either  $\mu \nleq \theta$  or  $\theta \nleq \mu$ . Without loss of generality we can assume that  $\mu \nleq \theta$ . Then there exists  $x \in A$  such that  $\mu(x) \nleq \theta(x)$ . Let us put  $\alpha = \mu(x)$ . Then  $x_{\alpha}$  is a fuzzy point of A such that  $x_{\alpha} \in \mu$  and  $x_{\alpha} \notin \theta$ ; that is,  $\mu \notin D(x_{\alpha})$  and  $\theta \in D(x_{\alpha})$ . This means  $D(x_{\alpha})$  is an open set in *X* containing  $\theta$  but not contain  $\mu$ . Therefore *X* is a  $T_0$  space.

**Theorem 4.3.15.** *For any*  $\mu \neq v \in X$ ,  $v \in \overline{\{\mu\}}$  *if and only if*  $\mu \leq v$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\mu \neq v \in X$ . Suppose that  $v \in \overline{\{\mu\}}$ . Then  $\mu \in U$  for each neighborhood U of v in X. Since neighborhoods of v in X are of the form  $D(\theta)$  for some fuzzy ideal  $\theta$  of A with  $\theta \nleq v$ , it is equivalent to say that  $\mu \in D(\theta)$ , and hence  $\theta \nleq \mu$ , for all fuzzy ideals  $\theta$  of A with  $\theta \nleq v$ . In other words, for any fuzzy ideal  $\theta$  of A the following holds:

$$\theta \leq \mu \Rightarrow \theta \leq v$$

which gives that  $\mu \leq v$ . Conversely, suppose that  $\mu \leq v$  and let U be a neighborhood of v in X. Then  $U = D(\theta)$  for some fuzzy subset  $\theta$  of A with  $\theta \nleq v$ . Since  $\mu \leq v$ , we get  $\theta \nleq \mu$ , which gives that  $\mu \in D(\theta) = U$ . So that,  $\{\mu\} \cap U \neq \emptyset$ . Therefore  $v \in \overline{\{\mu\}}$ .

**Corollary 4.3.16.** *For each*  $\mu \in X$ *,* 

$$V(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \{\boldsymbol{\mu}\}$$

### **Chapter 5**

## **L-Fuzzy Congruence Relations**

#### Introduction

Given an algebra A of a given type  $\mathfrak{F}$ , the set Con(A) of all its congruence relations forms an algebraic lattice for which its compact elements are those finitely generated congruences. It is called the congruence lattice (or the structural lattice) of A. This gives a lattice theoretic interpretation for A. For some class of algebras, the congruence lattice may be modular or distributive. One can understand the algebraic nature of the algebra A by studying the properties of its congruence lattice.

To determine congruences on a given algebra we need to know what are the congruence classes. Hence also properties of these classes (alias blocks) can be used to indicate the structure of the corresponding quotient algebra. Moreover, one can find out that in some special, but often considered algebras it may happen that one (either arbitrary or fixed) congruence class determines the whole congruence. Among these algebras there are e. g. groups, rings, Boolean algebras, implication algebras, relatively complemented lattices etc. Having an algebra, one may be interested in the question which subsets or subalgebras can be classes of suitable congruences. The most general solution was proposed by A. I. Mal'cev in his pioneering paper [118]. Further investigations can be found in [35, 36, 37, 54, 50].

In this chapter, we study fuzzy congruence relations and their classes; so called fuzzy congruence classes in universal algebras. Fuzzy congruence relations generated by a fuzzy relation are fully characterized in different ways. The main result in this chapter is that, we give several Mal'cev type characterization for a fuzzy subset of an algebra *A* in a given variety to be a class of some fuzzy congruence on *A*. Some equivalent conditions are also given for a variety of algebras to posses fuzzy congruence classes which are also fuzzy subuniverse. Special fuzzy congruence classes; called fuzzy congruence kernels are characterized in a more general context in universal algebras.

#### 5.1 Fuzzy Congruences

In semigroups and vector-spaces, fuzzy congruence relations generated by a fuzzy relation were studied in [138] and [142] respectively. The main purpose of this section is to characterize fuzzy congruence relations generated by a fuzzy relation in general universal algebras. By a fuzzy relation on *A*, we mean a fuzzy subset of  $A \times A$ . The following definition is due to [144].

**Definition 5.1.1.** A fuzzy relation  $\Theta$  on *A* is said to be:

- 1. reflexive if:  $\Theta(x, x) = 1$  for all  $x \in A$
- 2. symmetric if:  $\Theta(x, y) = \Theta(y, x)$  for all  $x, y \in A$
- 3. transitive if for each  $x, z \in A$ :  $\Theta(x, z) \ge \Theta(x, y) \land \Theta(y, z)$  for all  $y \in A$ .

A reflexive, symmetric and transitive fuzzy relation on *A* is called a fuzzy equivalence relation on *A*.

**Definition 5.1.2.** A fuzzy relation  $\Theta$  on *A* is said to be compatible, if

$$\Theta(f^A(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n), f^A(y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n)) \ge \Theta(x_1, y_1) \land \dots \land \Theta(x_n, y_n)$$

for every  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_n$  and all  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n, y_1, y_2, ..., y_n \in A$ .

Note that, compatible fuzzy relations on *A* are those fuzzy subuniverses of  $A \times A$ , where  $A \times A$  is equipped with the product algebra. This fact is often expressed in the way that  $\Theta$  is said to have the substitution property with respect to each fundamental operations  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$ . According to Werner [154], compatible fuzzy relations may also be referred as admissible fuzzy relations.

**Definition 5.1.3.** A fuzzy congruence on *A* is a fuzzy equivalence relation on *A* which is compatible with all fundamental operations of *A*.

We denote by FCon(A) the class of all fuzzy congruence relations on A.

**Lemma 5.1.4.** *If*  $t(x_1,...,x_m)$  *is an* m*-ary term operation on* A *and*  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ *, then it holds that* 

$$\Theta(t(a_1,\ldots,a_m),t(b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \ge \Theta(a_1,b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \Theta(a_m,b_m)$$

for all  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ .

*Proof.* For the term t, let l(t) be the number of occurences of *n*-ary operation symbols in t for. We use induction on l(t). If l(t) = 0, then either  $t = x_j$  for some j, whence

$$\Theta(t^A(a_1,...,a_n),t^A(b_1,...,b_n)) = \Theta(a_j,b_j) \ge \bigwedge_{i=1}^n \Theta(a_i,b_i)$$

or  $t = f^A$  for some  $f \in \mathscr{F}_0$ , whence

$$\Theta(t^{A}(a_{1},...,a_{n}),t^{A}(b_{1},...,b_{n})) = \Theta(f^{A},f^{A}) = 1 \ge \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \Theta(a_{i},b_{i})$$

Now let l(t) > 0 and assume the result to be true for every term q with l(q) < l(t). Then we know t is of the form

$$f^{A}(t_{1}(x_{1},...,x_{n}),...,t_{k}(x_{1},...,x_{n})),$$

as  $l(t_i) < l(t)$  for each j = 1, 2, ..., k, it follows from the induction hypothesis that for  $1 \le j \le k$ ,

$$\Theta(t_j(a_1,...,a_n),t_j(b_1,...,b_n)) \ge \bigwedge_{i=1}^n \Theta(a_i,b_i)$$

By the compatibility of  $\Theta$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \Theta(t(a_1,...,a_n),t(b_1,...,b_n)) &= &\Theta(f^A(t_1(a_1,...,a_n),...,t_k(a_1,...,a_n)),f^A(t_1(b_1,...,b_n),...,t_k(b_1,...,b_n))) \\ &\geq & \bigwedge_{j=1}^k \Theta(t^A(a_1,...,a_n),t^A(b_1,...,b_n)) \\ &\geq & \bigwedge_{i=1}^n \Theta(a_i,b_i) \end{split}$$

For a fuzzy relation  $\Theta$  on *A* and each  $\alpha \in L$ , remember that

$$\Theta_{\alpha} = \{ (x, y) \in A \times A : \Theta(x, y) \ge \alpha \}$$

is the  $\alpha$ -level relation of  $\Theta$  on *A*. The following lemma is simple but a useful characterization of fuzzy congruences using their level relations.

**Lemma 5.1.5.** *Let*  $\Theta$  *be a fuzzy relation on A. Then the following hold:* 

- 1.  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy equivalence relation on A if and only if  $\Theta_{\alpha}$  is an equivalence relation on A for all  $\alpha \in L$ .
- 2.  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy congruence relation on A if and only if  $\Theta_{\alpha}$  is a congruence relation on A for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

From the above theorem, one can conclude that fuzzy congruence relations are fuzzy  $\mathcal{L}$ -subsets of  $A \times A$  (in the sense of [144]), where  $\mathcal{L}$ - is a the class of congruence relations on A.

**Theorem 5.1.6.** *The intersection of any family of fuzzy congruence relations on A is a fuzzy congruence on A.* 

Given a fuzzy relation  $\rho$  on A, it follows from the above theorem that, always there exists a smallest fuzzy congruence relation on A containing  $\rho$ , which we call it the fuzzy congruence on A generated by  $\rho$ . It is denoted by  $\Theta_L(\rho)$ . Particularly, for a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A, we write  $\Theta_L(\lambda)$  to denote the fuzzy congruence  $\Theta_L(\lambda \times \lambda)$ . **Definition 5.1.7.** [133, 134] For any two fuzzy relations  $\Theta$  and  $\Phi$  on A, their composition  $\Theta \circ \Phi$  is a fuzzy relation on A given by:

$$\Theta \circ \Phi(x, y) = \bigvee \{ \Theta(x, z) \land \Phi(y, z) : z \in A \}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ . For a positive integer *n*, by  $\Theta^n$ , we mean  $\Theta \circ \Theta \circ ... \circ \Theta$  (*n* copies).

V. Murali [133, 134] has characterized the supremum of two fuzzy congruence relations as follows.

**Theorem 5.1.8.** *For any*  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$ *, we have* 

$$\Theta \lor \Phi = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (\Theta \circ \Phi \circ \Theta)^n$$

**Theorem 5.1.9.** *The class FCon*(*A*) *of all fuzzy congruence relations on A forms an algebraic closure fuzzy set system under the inclusion ordering of fuzzy sets.* 

We turn our attention to characterize the fuzzy congruence  $\Theta_L(\rho)$  generated a fuzzy relation  $\rho$ . Note that we use the notation  $\Theta(R)$  to denote the crisp congruence on A generated by the crisp relation R. The following theorem gives a natural characterization for  $\Theta_L(\rho)$  using level relations.

**Theorem 5.1.10.** Let  $\rho$  be a normalized fuzzy relation on A. Then  $\Theta_L(\rho)$  can be characterized as:

$$\Theta_L(\rho)(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_\alpha) \}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ .

*Proof.* For  $x, y \in A$  let us define a fuzzy relation  $\Gamma$  of A by:

$$\Gamma(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \}$$

Our aim is to show that  $\Gamma$  is the smallest fuzzy congruence on *A* containing  $\rho$ . We first show that  $\Gamma$  is a fuzzy congruence on *A*. Clearly it is reflexive and symmetric. To prove transitivity,

let  $x, y, z \in A$ .

$$\Gamma(x,y) \wedge \Gamma(y,z) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \} \land \bigvee \{ \beta \in L : (y,z) \in \Theta(\rho_{\beta}) \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \wedge \beta : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \text{ and } (y,z) \in \Theta(\rho_{\beta}) \}$$

Let  $a, b \in L$  such that  $(x, y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha})$  and  $(y, z) \in \Theta(\rho_{\beta})$ . If we put  $\lambda = \alpha \land \beta$ , then  $\lambda \in L$  such that  $\rho_{\alpha} \subseteq \rho_{\lambda}$  and  $\rho_{\beta} \subseteq \rho_{\lambda}$ , which gives  $\Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \subseteq \Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$  and  $\Theta(\rho_{\beta}) \subseteq \Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$ , i.e.,  $\Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$  contains both (x, y) and (y, z). By the transitive property of  $\Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$ ,  $(x, z) \in \Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$ . Now we have the following:

$$\Gamma(x,y) \wedge \Gamma(y,z) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \wedge \beta : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \text{ and } (y,z) \in \Theta(\rho_{\beta}) \}$$
$$\leq \bigvee \{ \lambda \in L : (x,z) \in \Theta(\rho_{\lambda}) \}$$
$$= \Gamma(x,z)$$

Therefore  $\Gamma$  is transitive and hence a fuzzy equivalence relation on A. No it remains to show that  $\Gamma$  is compatible. Let n > 0,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_n$  and  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_n \in A$ .

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(a_{i}, b_{i}) = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \bigvee \{ \alpha_{i} \in L : (a_{i}, b_{i}) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha_{i}}) \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} : (a_{i}, b_{i}) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha_{i}}) \}$$

Let  $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_n \in L$  be such that  $(a_i, b_i) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha_i})$ . If we put

$$\lambda = \bigwedge_{i=1}^n lpha_i$$

then  $\lambda \in L$  and  $\Theta(\rho_{\alpha_i}) \subseteq \Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n, which gives  $(a_i, b_i) \in \Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$  for i = 1, 2, ..., n. Using the compatible property of  $\Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$  we get  $(f^A(a_1, ..., a_n), f^A(b_1, ..., b_n)) \in$ 

 $\Theta(\rho_{\lambda})$ . Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} & \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(a_{i}, b_{i}) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} : (a_{i}, b_{i}) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha_{i}})\} \\ & \leq \bigvee \{\lambda \in L : (a_{i}, b_{i}) \in \Theta(\rho_{\lambda}) \text{ for } i = 1, ..., n\} \\ & \leq \bigvee \{\lambda \in L : (f^{A}(a_{1}, ..., a_{n}), f^{A}(b_{1}, ..., b_{n})) \in \Theta(\rho_{\lambda})\} \\ & = \Gamma(f^{A}(a_{1}, ..., a_{n}), f^{A}(b_{1}, ..., b_{n})) \end{split}$$

Thus  $\Gamma$  is compatible and hence it as a fuzzy congruence on *A*. Remember that, any fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* can be expressed as follows: for each  $x \in A$ 

$$\mu(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \mu_{\alpha} \}$$

Similarly, for each  $x, y \in A$  we have:

$$\rho(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \rho_{\alpha} \}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \}$$
  
$$= \Gamma(x,y)$$

Mean that  $\rho \leq \Gamma$ . Further, let  $\Psi$  be any fuzzy congruence on A such that  $\rho \leq \Psi$ . Then, for each  $\alpha \in L$ , the level relation  $\Psi_{\alpha}$  is a congruence on A such that  $\rho_{\alpha} \subseteq \Psi_{\alpha}$ , which gives that  $\Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \subseteq \Theta(\Psi_{\alpha}) = \Psi_{\alpha}$ . Now for each  $x, y \in A$ :

$$\Gamma(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha}) \}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Psi_{\alpha} \}$$
  
$$= \Psi(x,y)$$

Thus  $\Gamma$  is the smallest fuzzy congruence on A containing  $\rho$ . This completes the proof.

Using the fact that FCon(A) together with the point-wise ordering of fuzzy sets is an algebraic closure fuzzy set system we have another characterization for  $\Theta_L(\rho)$  as follows.

**Theorem 5.1.11.** Let  $\rho$  be a normalized fuzzy relation on A. Then

$$\Theta_L(\rho)(x,y) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{(a,b)\in F} \rho(a,b) : F \subset \subset A \times A, (x,y) \in \Theta(F) \}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ , where  $F \subset \subset A \times A$  is to say that F is a finite subset of  $A \times A$ .

*Proof.* For each  $x, y \in A$ , let us define two sets  $G_{x,y}$  and  $H_{x,y}$  as follows:

$$G_{x,y} = \{\bigwedge_{(a,b)\in F} \rho(a,b) : F \subset \subset A \times A, (x,y) \in \Theta(F)\}$$
  
$$H_{x,y} = \{\alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha})\}$$

Clearly, both  $G_{x,y}$  and  $H_{x,y}$  are nonempty subsets of *L*. By Theorem 5.1.10, it is enough to show that  $\forall G_{x,y} = \forall H_{x,y}$ . Let  $\alpha \in G_{x,y}$ . Then there exists a finite subset *F* of  $A \times A$  such that

$$\alpha = \bigwedge_{(a,b)\in F} \rho(a,b) \text{ and } (x,y) \in \Theta(F)$$

i.e.,  $\rho(a,b) \ge \alpha$  for all  $(a,b) \in F$ , which gives  $F \subseteq \rho_{\alpha}$ . This implies  $\Theta(F) \subseteq \Theta(\rho_{\alpha})$ . Whence  $(x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha})$ . So that  $\alpha \in H_{x,y}$ . Thus  $G_{x,y} \subseteq H_{x,y}$  and hence  $\bigvee G_{x,y} \le \bigvee H_{x,y}$ . To prove the other inequality, let  $\alpha \in H_{x,y}$ . Then  $(x,y) \in \Theta(\rho_{\alpha})$ . By Corollary 1.0.3 of [50] we can find a finite subset *F* of  $\rho_{\alpha}$  such that  $(x,y) \in \Theta(F)$ . *F* being contained in  $\rho_{\alpha}$ , we get

$$\bigwedge_{(a,b)\in F}\rho(a,b)\geq \alpha$$

If we put  $\beta = \bigwedge_{(a,b)\in F} \rho(a,b)$ , then  $\alpha \leq \beta$  and  $\beta \in G_{x,y}$ , i.e., for each  $\alpha \in H_{x,y}$ , we can find a  $\beta \in G_{x,y}$  with  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This confirms that  $\forall H_{x,y} \leq \forall G_{x,y}$  and this completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 5.1.12.** [50] A mapping  $p: A \to A$  is called a translation of A if there exist an  $n \in Z^+$ , an n-ary operation  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$ , an  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  and  $a_1, ..., a_{i-1}, a_{i+1}, ..., a_n$  in A such that

$$f^{A}(a_{1},..,a_{i-1},x,a_{i+1},...,a_{n}) = p(x)$$

for all  $x \in A$ .

The following theorem gives a necessary and sufficient condition for fuzzy equivalence relations to be a fuzzy congruence by the use of translations.

**Theorem 5.1.13.** A fuzzy equivalence relation  $\Theta$  on A is a fuzzy congruence on A if and only if *it is compatible with all translations of A, i.e.,* 

$$\Theta(p(x), p(y)) \ge \Theta(x, y)$$

for all  $x, y \in A$  and all translations p of A.

*Proof.* If  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy congruence on A, then it is clear that it is compatible with all translations of A. Conversely, suppose that  $\Theta$  is compatible with all translations of A. Let  $n \in Z^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_n$ and  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_n \in A$ . For each  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  define  $p_i : A \to A$  by

$$p_i(x) = f^A(b_1, ..., b_{i-1}, x, a_{i+1}, ..., a_n)$$

for all  $x \in A$ . It can be easily verified that each  $p_i$  is a translation of A. Moreover, we have the following:

$$p_1(a_1) = f^A(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n)$$
  
 $p_n(b_n) = f^A(b_1, b_2, ..., b_n)$  and  
 $p_i(b_i) = p_{i+1}(a_{i+1})$  for  $i = 1, ..., n-1$ 

Now using the compatibility and transitive property of  $\Theta$  we get the following:

$$\begin{split} &\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \Theta(a_{i}, b_{i}) &\leq \left( \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n-1} \Theta(p_{i}(a_{i}), p_{i+1}(a_{i+1})) \right) \wedge \Theta(p_{n}(a_{n}), p_{n}(b_{n})) \\ &\leq \Theta(p_{1}(a_{1}), p_{n}(b_{n})) \\ &= \Theta(f^{A}(a_{1}, \dots, a_{n}), f^{A}(b_{1}, \dots, b_{n})) \end{split}$$

That is,  $\Theta$  is compatible with all fundamental operations of *A* and hence it is a fuzzy congruence on *A*.

Unary polynomials over A can be identified as a translation of A. The following corollary immediately follows from this fact.

**Corollary 5.1.14.** A fuzzy equivalence relation  $\Theta$  on A is a fuzzy congruence on A if and only if *it is compatible with all unary polynomials on A.* 

**Definition 5.1.15.** [55] A transitive closure of a fuzzy relation  $\rho$  on A is the smallest transitive fuzzy relation on A containing  $\rho$ .

Note that, if  $\rho$  is a reflexive (symmetric or compatible) relation on *A*, then its transitive closure is so respectively.

**Lemma 5.1.16.** [55] The transitive closure of a reflexive fuzzy relation  $\rho$  on A is given by the formula

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho^n$$

where the power of  $\rho$  is formed with respect to the relational products.

In the following theorem, we give an algebraic characterization for  $\Theta_L(\rho)$ .

**Theorem 5.1.17.** If  $\rho$  is a normalized fuzzy relation on A, then  $\Theta_L(\rho)$  is the transitive closure of the fuzzy relation  $\lambda$  on A defined as follows: for each  $x, y \in A$ ,  $\lambda(x, x) = 1$  and for  $x \neq y$ ,

$$\lambda(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \rho(a,b) : \{x,y\} = \{ p(a), p(b) \}, p \in P_1(A) \}$$

*Proof.* Clearly,  $\lambda$  is reflexive and symmetric fuzzy relation on *A* with  $\rho \leq \lambda$ . We first show that  $\lambda$  is compatible with all unary polynomials over *A*. Let  $x, y \in A$  and  $q \in P_1(A)$ . If x = y, then q(x) = q(y) and

$$\lambda(x, y) = 1 = \lambda(q(x), q(y))$$

Let  $x \neq y$ . Then

$$\lambda(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \rho(a,b) : \{x,y\} = \{ p(a), p(b) \}, p \in P_1(A) \}$$

and

$$\lambda(q(x), q(y)) = \bigvee \{ \rho(c, d) : \{ q(x), q(y) \} = \{ p(c), p(d) \}, p \in P_1(A) \}$$

For any  $p \in P_1(A)$  and every  $a, b \in A$ , if x = p(a) and y = p(b), then q(x) = q(p(a)) and q(y) = q(p(b)). Since the composition of unary polynomials is a unary polynomial, we can find a  $t \in P_1(A)$  such that q(x) = t(a) and q(y) = t(b). This implies that

$$\lambda(x,y) \le \lambda(q(x),q(y))$$

Mean that,  $\lambda$  is compatible with all unary polynomials over *A*. If we define  $\Phi$  to be the transitive closure of  $\lambda$ , then it can be verified that  $\Phi$  is the smallest fuzzy equivalence relation on *A* which is compatible with all unary polynomials over *A* with  $\lambda \leq \Phi$ . It follows from Corollary 5.1.14 that  $\Phi = \Theta_L(\lambda)$ . Our aim is to show that  $\Phi = \Theta_L(\rho)$ . Clearly  $\rho \leq \Phi$ . Now let  $\Psi$  be any fuzzy congruence on *A* with  $\rho \leq \Psi$ . It suffices to show that  $\lambda \leq \Psi$ . For  $x \neq y$  consider the following:

$$\lambda(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \rho(a,b) : \{x,y\} = \{ p(a), p(b) \}, p \in P_1(A) \}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{ \Psi(a,b) : \{x,y\} = \{ p(a), p(b) \}, p \in P_1(A) \}$$
  
$$\leq \Psi(x,y)$$

That is,  $\lambda \leq \Psi$  and this completes the proof.

**Corollary 5.1.18.** Let  $\rho$  be a normalized fuzzy relation on A. Then

$$\Theta_{L}(\rho)(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \rho(b_{i},c_{i}) : \exists a_{0},a_{1},...,a_{n} \in A, p_{1},...,p_{n} \in P_{1}(A), n > 0 \\ such that a_{0} = x, a_{n} = y \text{ and } \{a_{i-1},a_{i}\} = \{p_{i}(b_{i}),p_{i}(c_{i})\} \}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ .

#### 5.2 Fuzzy Congruence Classes

Remember that for a binary relation *R* on *A* and  $S \subseteq A$ , the set R[S] is a subset of *A* given by:

$$R[S] = \{ y \in A : (x, y) \in R \text{ for some } x \in S \}$$

In particular, if  $S = \{a\}$ , then we write R[a] instead of R[S]. If  $\theta$  is a congruence on A (in the usual sense) and  $a \in A$ , then the set

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}[a] = \{ b \in A : (a,b) \in \boldsymbol{\theta} \}$$

is called the congruence class of  $\theta$  determined by a. Some authors denote this set as  $[a]\theta$  (or  $a/\theta$ ). Analogous to this classical concept, we define the following.

**Definition 5.2.1.** For a fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* and a fuzzy relation  $\Theta$  on *A* we define  $\mu/\Theta$  to be a fuzzy subset of *A* as follows:

$$\mu/\Theta(x) = \bigvee \{\mu(y) \land \Theta(x, y) : y \in A\}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . Also for each  $a \in A$ , we define  $a/\Theta$  to be  $\chi_{\{a\}}/\Theta$ .

It is observed that

$$a/\Theta(x) = \Theta(a, x)$$
 for all  $x \in A$ 

If  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy congruence on A and  $a \in A$ , then we call  $a/\Theta$  the fuzzy congruence class of A determined by  $\Theta$  and a. Sometimes we may write  $\Theta_a$  to denote  $a/\Theta$ .

It was proved by A. I. Mal'cev [118] that a nonempty subset H of A is a class of some  $\theta \in Con(A)$  if and only if for each  $a, b \in H$  and any unary polynomial p on A it holds that:

$$p(a) \in H \Rightarrow p(b) \in H$$

Analogous to this well known characterization, we give the following lemma in the fuzzy sense.

**Lemma 5.2.2.** A normalized fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a class of some fuzzy congruence on A if and only if

$$\mu(x) \land \mu(y) \land \mu(p(x)) = \mu(p(y)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

for each  $x, y \in A$  and each  $p \in P_1(A)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu = a/\Theta$  for some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  and  $a \in A$ . Let  $x, y \in A$  and  $p \in P_1(A)$ . It follows from Corollary 5.1.14 that

$$\Theta(p(x), p(y)) \ge \Theta(x, y)$$

Also, by the transitive property of  $\Theta$ , we have

$$\Theta(x,y) \ge \Theta(x,a) \land \Theta(a,y) = \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

Consider the following:

$$\mu(p(y)) = \Theta(a, p(y))$$

$$\geq \Theta(a, p(x)) \land \Theta(p(x), p(y))$$

$$\geq \Theta(a, p(x)) \land \Theta(x, y)$$

$$\geq \Theta(a, p(x)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

$$= \mu(p(x)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

which gives

$$\mu(x) \land \mu(y) \land \mu(p(y)) \ge \mu(p(x)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

By symmetry, the equality holds. Conversely, suppose that the condition of the theorem holds. Let us define a fuzzy relation  $\rho$  on A as follows: for each  $x, y \in A$ ,  $\rho(x, x) = 1$  and for  $x \neq y$ 

$$\rho(x,y) = \bigvee \{\mu(b) \land \mu(c) : x = p(b), y = p(c), p \in P_1(A)\}$$

It is clear that  $\rho$  is a reflexive and symmetric fuzzy relation on A such that  $\mu \times \mu \leq \rho$ . Moreover, one can easily verify that  $\rho$  is compatible with all unary polynomials over A. Since  $\mu$  is normalized, we can choose  $x \in A$  with  $\mu(x) = 1$ . Our aim is to show that  $x/\Theta_L(\mu) = \mu$ . Let  $y \in A$ . If y = x, then it is clear that  $x/\Theta_L(\mu)(y) \leq \mu(y)$ . Let  $y \neq x$ . Then  $x/\Theta_L(\mu)(y) = \Theta_L(\mu)(x,y)$ . By Theorem 5.1.17  $\Theta_L(\mu)$  is the transitive closure of  $\rho$ . So it follows from Lemma 5.1.16 that

$$\Theta_L(\mu)(x,y) = \bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho^n(x,y)$$

We show that  $\rho^n(x, y) \le \mu(y)$  for all  $n \in Z^+$ . Let  $n \in Z^+$ . It is clear that

$$\rho^{n}(x,y) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \rho(x_{i-1},x_{i}) : x_{0},x_{1},...,x_{n} \in A, x_{0} = x \text{ and } x_{n} = y \}$$

Let  $x_0, x_1, ..., x_n \in A$  such that  $x_0 = x$  and  $x_n = y$ . We show that

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^n \rho(x_{i-1}, x_i) \le \mu(y)$$

We use induction on *n*. If n = 1, then  $x_0 = x$  and  $x_1 = y$ . So that

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \rho(x_{i-1}, x_i) = \rho(x, y) = \bigvee \{ \mu(b) \land \mu(c) : x = p(b), y = p(c), p \in P_1(A) \}$$

For any  $a, b \in A$ , and  $p \in P_1(A)$ ; if p(a) = x and p(b) = y, then it follows from our assumption (the condition of the theorem) that

$$\mu(a) \wedge \mu(b) \wedge \mu(x) = \mu(y) \wedge \mu(a) \wedge \mu(b)$$

Since  $\mu(x) = 1$ , it holds that

$$\mu(a) \wedge \mu(b) = \mu(y) \wedge \mu(a) \wedge \mu(b)$$

which gives

$$\mu(a) \wedge \mu(b) \le \mu(y)$$

Since a, b and p are arbitrary, it follows that

$$\rho(x, y) = \bigvee \{\mu(b) \land \mu(c) : x = p(b), y = p(c), p \in P_1(A)\} \le \mu(y)$$

Let n > 0 and assume the result to be true for n - 1; i.e.,

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho(x_{i-1}, x_i) \le \mu(x_{n-1})$$

Now consider the following:

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \rho(x_{i-1}, x_i) = \left( \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho(x_{i-1}, x_i) \right) \land \rho(x_{n-1}, x_n) \\
\leq \mu(x_{n-1}) \land \rho(x_{n-1}, x_n) \\
= \mu(x_{n-1}) \land \rho(x_{n-1}, y) \\
= \mu(x_{n-1}) \land \bigvee \{ \mu(b) \land \mu(c) : x_{n-1} = p(b), y = p(c), p \in P_1(A) \} \\
= \bigvee \{ \mu(x_{n-1}) \land \mu(b) \land \mu(c) : x_{n-1} = p(b), y = p(c), p \in P_1(A) \}$$

If  $b, c \in A$  such that  $x_{n-1} = p(b), y = p(c)$  for some  $p \in P_1(A)$ , then by condition of the theorem we get

$$\mu(x_{n-1}) \wedge \mu(b) \wedge \mu(c) = \mu(y) \wedge \mu(b) \wedge \mu(c) \le \mu(y)$$

which implies that

$$\bigvee \{ \mu(x_{n-1}) \land \mu(b) \land \mu(c) : x_{n-1} = p(b), y = p(c), p \in P_1(A) \} \le \mu(y)$$

which gives

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{\rho}(x_{i-1}, x_i) \leq \boldsymbol{\mu}(y)$$

Since  $x_0, x_1, ..., x_n$  are arbitrary in *A* with  $x_0 = x$  and  $x_n = y$ , it follows that

$$\rho^n(x,y) \le \mu(y)$$

This is true for all  $n \in Z^+$ , which implies that

$$\bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho^n(x, y) \le \mu(y)$$

i.e.,

$$\Theta_L(\boldsymbol{\mu})(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y}) \leq \boldsymbol{\mu}(\boldsymbol{y})$$

Therefore  $x/\Theta_L(\mu) \le \mu$ . The inequality  $\mu \le x/\Theta_L(\mu)$  is straightforward and hence the equality holds. This completes the proof.

**Notation**. For each  $a \in A$ , let us define two sets  $L_a(A)$  and  $FL_a(A)$  respectively as follows:

$$L_{a}(A) = \{\theta[a] : \theta \in Con(A)\}$$
$$FL_{a}(A) = \{a/\Theta : \Theta \in FCon(A)\}$$

**Lemma 5.2.3.** Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy subset of A and  $a \in A$ . Then  $\mu \in FL_a(A)$  if and only if the level subset  $\mu_{\alpha} \in L_a(A)$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu \in FL_a(A)$  and let  $\alpha \in L$ . Then, by the above theorem,  $\mu(a) = 1$  and  $\mu$  satisfies the equality

$$\mu(x) \land \mu(y) \land \mu(p(x)) = \mu(p(y)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

for each  $x, y \in A$  and all  $p \in P_1(A)$ . Let  $x, y \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . For any  $p \in P_1(A)$ , if  $p(x) \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , then

$$\mu(x) \wedge \mu(y) \wedge \mu(p(x)) \geq \alpha$$

by the above equality we get  $\mu(p(y)) \ge \alpha$ . So that  $p(y) \in \mu_{\alpha}$ , i.e.,  $\mu_{\alpha}$  satisfies the Mal'cev condition and hence it is the class of some  $\theta \in Con(A)$  and this completes the proof.

In the following we give an alternative proof independent of the Mal'cev theorem.

#### *Proof.* (An alternative proof for Lemma 5.2.3)

Suppose that  $\mu \in FL_a(A)$  and let  $\alpha \in L$ . Then  $\mu = a/\Theta$  for some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ ; i.e., for each  $x \in A$ 

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{\Theta}(\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{x})$$

It is an easy task to observe that  $\mu_{\alpha} = \Theta_{\alpha}[a]$ , and hence  $\mu_{\alpha} \in L_a(A)$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Conversely, suppose that  $\mu_{\alpha} \in L_a(A)$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Then for each  $\alpha \in L$  there exists a congruence  $\theta$  on A

such that  $\mu_{\alpha} = \theta[a]$ . Let us put

$$\phi_{\alpha} = \cap \{ \theta \in Con(A) : \mu_{\alpha} = \theta[a] \}$$

Then  $\phi_{\alpha}$  is a congruence on *A* such that  $\mu_{\alpha} = \phi_{\alpha}[a]$  and  $\phi_{\alpha} \subseteq \phi_{\beta}$  whenever  $\beta \leq \alpha$ . Now define a fuzzy relation  $\Theta_{\mu}$  on *A* by:

$$\Theta_{\mu}(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in \phi_{\alpha} \}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ . Since each  $\phi_{\alpha}$  is a congruence relation on A and the map  $\alpha \mapsto \phi_{\alpha}$  is an antitone, one can easily verify that  $\Theta_{\mu}$  is a fuzzy congruence on A. Moreover, for each  $x \in A$  consider:

$$a/\Theta_{\mu}(x) = \Theta_{\mu}(a,x)$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (a,x) \in \phi_{\alpha} \}$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \phi_{\alpha}[a] \}$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \mu_{\alpha} \}$$

$$= \mu(x)$$

Therefore  $\mu$  coincide with the fuzzy congruence class of  $\Theta_{\mu}$  determined by *a*. So that  $\mu \in FL_a(A)$ .

# 5.3 Fuzzy Congruence Classes in Regular and Permutable Varieties

In this section, a finite characterization is given for fuzzy congruence classes in regular and permutable varieties.

**Definition 5.3.1.** An algebra *A* is called regular if each of its congruences is determined by every single class, i.e., if for every  $\theta, \phi \in Con(A)$  and every  $a \in A$ ,

$$\theta[a] = \phi[a] \Rightarrow \theta = \phi$$

A class of algebras is called regular if each of its members has this property.

**Theorem 5.3.2.** An algebra A is regular if and only if each of its fuzzy congruences is determined by every single fuzzy class, i.e., if for every  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$  and every  $a \in A$ ,

$$a/\Theta = a/\Phi \Rightarrow \Theta = \Phi$$

**Definition 5.3.3.** An algebra is called congruence permutable (or simply permutable) if any two of its congruences permute, i.e., if  $\theta \circ \phi = \phi \circ \theta$  for all  $\theta, \phi \in Con(A)$ . A class of algebras is called permutable if each of its members has this property.

The following fundamental theorem gives a simple description for permutable varieties, and it is due to A. I. Mal'cev (see [118]).

**Theorem 5.3.4.** A variety is permutable if and only if there exists a ternary term p with

$$p(x,x,z) = z$$
 and  $p(x,z,z) = x$ 

**Definition 5.3.5.** The ternary term p described in Theorem 5.3.4 is called a Mal'cev term for regular and permutable varieties.

A Mal'cev condition on admissible relations was applied by Werner in [154]. In the following theorem we adopt his theorem in a fuzzy setting so that it could be used in the latter sections.

**Theorem 5.3.6.** Let A be an algebra in a permutable variety,  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then the following conditions hold:

- 1. Each admissible reflexive fuzzy relation on A is symmetric.
- 2. Each admissible reflexive fuzzy relation on A is transitive.
- 3. Each admissible reflexive fuzzy relation on A is a fuzzy congruence on A.

*Proof.* Given that  $\mathcal{K}$  is permutable. So, it has the Mal'cev term p(x, y, z).

1. Let  $\Theta$  be an admissible reflexive fuzzy relation on *A*, and  $x, y \in A$ . Then we have

$$x = p(x, y, y)$$
 and  $y = p(x, x, y)$ 

Now consider:

$$\begin{split} \Theta(x,y) &= & \Theta(p(x,y,y), p(x,x,y)) \\ &\geq & \Theta(x,x) \land \Theta(y,x) \land \Theta(y,y) \\ &= & \Theta(y,x) \end{split}$$

Similarly we can verify that  $\Theta(y,x) \ge \Theta(x,y)$ . Thus  $\Theta(x,y) = \Theta(y,x)$  and hence  $\Theta$  is symmetric.

2. Let  $\Theta$  be an admissible reflexive fuzzy relation on *A*, and  $x, y, z \in A$ . Then we have

$$x = p(x, y, y)$$
 and  $y = p(z, z, y)$ 

Then consider the following:

$$\Theta(x,y) = \Theta(p(x,y,y), p(z,z,y))$$

$$\geq \Theta(x,z) \land \Theta(y,z) \land \Theta(y,y)$$

$$= \Theta(x,z) \land \Theta(y,z)$$

$$= \Theta(x,z) \land \Theta(z,y)$$

Since z is arbitrary in A we get

$$\Theta(x,y) \ge \bigvee \{\Theta(x,z) \land \Theta(z,y) : z \in A\}$$

Therefore  $\Theta$  is transitive. Hence proved.

3. The proof follows from (1) and (2).

In fact, a simple logical arrangement shows that each of the above three conditions are equivalent to each other. Moreover, one (and hence all) of these conditions is necessary and sufficient for a variety  $\mathcal{K}$  to be congruence permutable.

The following Mal'cev type characterization was derived independently in [51, 67].

**Theorem 5.3.7.** A variety  $\mathscr{K}$  is regular and permutable if and only if there exist  $n \ge 1$  ternary terms  $t_1, ..., t_n$  and a (3+n)-ary term t such that

(\*) 
$$t_i(x,x,z) = z$$
 for all  $i = 1, 2, ..., n$ 

(\*\*) 
$$x = t(x, y, z, t_1(x, y, z), ..., t_n(x, y, z)).$$

(\*\*\*) y = t(x, y, z, z, z, ..., z)

By applying these terms, in regular and permutable varities, a finite characterization was given by  $B\check{e}lohl\check{a}vek$  and Chagda for a subset *C* of *A* to be a congruence class.

**Theorem 5.3.8.** [36, 37] Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be a regular and permutable variety,  $A \in \mathscr{K}$  and  $\emptyset \neq C \subseteq A$ . Then *C* is a class of some  $\theta \in Con(A)$  if and only if the following conditions hold:

1. if  $t_i(a_j, b_j, c) \in C$  for  $c \in C$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, j = 1, 2, ..., m and f is an m-ary fundamental operation, then

$$t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c) \in C$$

2. *if*  $c, d \in C, a \in A$  *and*  $t_i(a, d, c) \in C$  *for* i = 1, 2, ..., n*, then*  $a \in C$ 

3. *if*  $c, d \in C$ , *then*  $t_i(d, c, c) \in C$  *for* i = 1, 2, ..., n,

Parallel to this theorem, we state and prove the following theorem in a fuzzy setting:

**Theorem 5.3.9.** Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be a regular and permutable variety and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . A normalized fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy congruence class of some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  if and only if the following conditions hold:

1. For each m-ary fundamental operation f,

$$\mu\left(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c\right) \ge \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m}\mu(t_i(a_j,b_j,c))\right) \land \mu(c)$$

- for all i = 1, 2, ..., n
- *2. For any*  $a, b, c \in A$ *,*

$$\mu(a) \ge \mu(b) \land \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(a,b,c))\right)$$

*3. For any*  $b, c \in A$ *,* 

$$\mu(t_i(b,c,c)) \ge \mu(b) \land \mu(c)$$

*for all i* = 1,2,...,*n*.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  satisfies the conditions (1), (2) and (3). Since  $\mu$  is given to be normalized we can choose and fix an element  $c \in A$  with  $\mu(c) = 1$ . Now define a fuzzy relation  $\Theta$  on A by:

$$\Theta(a,b) = \mu(t_1(a,b,c)) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(t_n(a,b,c))$$

for all  $a, b \in A$ . Let us first prove that  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy congruence on A. For any  $a \in A$ :

$$\Theta(a,a) = \mu(t_1(a,a,c)) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu(t_n(a,a,c))$$
$$= \mu(c) \wedge \dots \wedge \mu(c)$$
$$= 1$$

So  $\Theta$  is reflexive. Also let  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and let f be an m-ary operation on A. Then consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \Theta(f^A(a_1, \dots a_m), f^A(b_1, \dots, b_m)) &= \bigwedge_{i=i}^n \mu(t_i(f^A(a_1, \dots a_m), f^A(b_1, \dots, b_m), c))) \\ &\geq \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(t_i(a_j, b_j, c))\right) \wedge \mu(c) \\ &= \bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(t_i(a_j, b_j, c)) \\ &= \bigwedge_{j=1}^m \Theta(a_j, b_j) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $\Theta$  is an admissible reflexive fuzzy relation on *A*. Since  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable, it follows from Theorem 5.3.6 that  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy congruence on *A*. Our aim is to show that  $\mu = c/\Theta$ . For any  $x \in A$ , consider:

$$c/\Theta(x) = \Theta(x,c)$$
  
=  $\mu(t_1(x,c,c)) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(t_n(x,c,c))$   
 $\geq \mu(x) \wedge \mu(c)$  (by condition (3))  
=  $\mu(x)$ 

On the other hand, by condition (2) we have

$$\mu(x) \geq \mu(c) \wedge \left( \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(x, c, c)) \right)$$
$$= \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(x, c, c))$$
$$= \Theta(x, c)$$
$$= c/\Theta(x)$$

Therefore  $\mu = c/\Theta$  (the fuzzy congruence class of  $\Theta$  determined by *c*). Conversely, suppose that  $\mu = x/\Theta$  for some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  and  $x \in A$ . Then  $\mu_{\alpha} = \Theta_{\alpha}[x]$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

1. Let  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and f be an m-ary operation on A. Let us put

$$\alpha = \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(t_i(a_j,b_j,c))\right) \wedge \mu(c)$$

Then  $c \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $t_i(a_j, b_j, c) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all i = 1, ..., n and j = 1, ..., m. This gives

$$\Theta(t_i(a_j,b_j,c),c) \geq \alpha$$

for all i = 1, ..., n and j = 1, ..., m. By (\*\*) and (\*\*\*) of Theorem 5.3.7, for each j = 1, 2, ..., m we obtain

$$a_{j} = t(a_{j}, b_{j}, c, t_{1}(a_{j}, b_{j}, c), ..., t_{n}(a_{j}, b_{j}, c))$$
  
$$b_{j} = t(a_{j}, b_{j}, c, c, ..., c)$$

Using the compatible property of  $\Theta$ , we get the following for each j = 1, 2, ..., m:

$$\begin{split} \Theta(a_j, b_j) &= \Theta(q(a_j, b_j, c, t_1(a_j, b_j, c), ..., t_n(a_j, b_j, c)), t(a_j, b_j, c, c, ..., c)) \\ &\geq \Theta(t_1(a_j, b_j, c), c) \wedge ... \wedge \Theta(t_n(a_j, b_j, c), c) \\ &> \alpha \end{split}$$

So that

$$\bigwedge_{j=1}^m \Theta(a_j, b_j) \ge \alpha$$

Again using the compatible property of  $\Theta$ , we get,

$$\Theta(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m)) \geq \alpha$$

By (\*) of Theorem 5.3.7,  $t_i(f^A(b_1,...,b_m), f^A(b_1,...,b_m), c) = c$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. Now consider the following:

So that  $(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c),c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ , which gives

$$t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c)\in \Theta_{\alpha}[c]=\mu_{\alpha}$$

Thus  $\mu(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c) \ge \alpha$  and hence the result holds.

2. Let  $a, b, c \in A$ . Put

$$\alpha = \mu(b) \wedge \mu(c) \wedge \left( \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(a,b,c)) \right)$$

Then  $b, c \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $t_i(a, b, c) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. Since  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a congruence class of  $\Theta_{\alpha}$  we get  $(t_i(a, b, c), c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$  and  $(b, c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ ; i.e.,  $\Theta(b, c) \wedge \Theta((t_i(a, b, c), c)) \ge \alpha$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. By (\*\*) and (\*\*\*) of Theorem 5.3.7 we obtain

$$a = t(a,b,c,t_1(a,b,c),...,t_n(a,b,c))$$
  
$$b = t(a,b,c,c,...,c)$$

So that

$$\Theta(a,b) \ge \Theta((t_1(a,b,c),c) \land \dots \land \Theta((t_n(a,b,c),c) \ge \alpha)$$

Then  $(a,b) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ , which gives  $a \in \Theta_{\alpha}[b] = \Theta_{\alpha}[c] = \mu_{\alpha}$ . Thus  $a \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and hence the result holds.

3. Let  $b, c \in A$ . If we put  $\alpha = \mu(b) \land \mu(c)$ , then  $b, c \in \mu_{\alpha}$  which gives that  $\Theta(b, c) \ge \alpha$ .

Again by (\*) of Theorem 5.3.7, we have  $c = t_i(c,c,c)$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. For each i = 1, 2, ..., n, consider the following:

$$\Theta(t_i(b,c,c),c) = \Theta(t_i(b,c,c),t_i(c,c,c)) \ge \Theta(b,c) \ge \alpha$$

This completes the proof.

The following theorem gives another description for fuzzy congruence classes in regular and permutable varieties.

**Theorem 5.3.10.** Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be a regular and permutable variety and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . A normalized fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy congruence class of some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  if and only if  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under the following terms:

1. for each  $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , each  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_m$  and every i = 1, 2, ..., n,

$$q_i(x_1, \dots, x_m, x'_1, \dots, x'_m, y, y_{11}, \dots, y_{1n}, \dots, y_{m1}, \dots, y_{mn}) = t_i(f(t(x_1, x'_1, y, y_{11}, \dots, y_{1n}), \dots, \dots, t(x_m, x'_m, y, y_{m1}, \dots, y_{mn})), f(x'_1, \dots, x'_m), y)$$

2. 
$$q(x, y, y', y_1, ..., y_n) = t(x, y, y', y_1, ..., y_n)$$

3. 
$$d_1(x, y_1, y_2) = t_1(y_1, y_2, y_2), \dots, d_n(x, y_1, y_2) = t_n(y_1, y_2, y_2)$$

where t and  $t_i$ 's are those terms obtained in Theorem 5.3.7.

*Proof.* If  $\mu$  is a class of some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ , then the  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closedness under the terms listed in (i) - (iii) follows immediately from the substitution property of  $\Theta$ . Conversely, suppose that  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under the terms given in (i) - (iii). It suffices to show  $\mu$  satisfies the conditions (i) - (iii) of Theorem 5.3.9.

(i) Let  $m \in Z^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_m$  and  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m, c \in A$ . From Theorem 5.3.7 we have the following:

$$a_{1} = t(a_{1}, b_{1}, c, t_{1}(a_{1}, b_{1}, c), ..., t_{n}(a_{1}, b_{1}, c))$$

$$a_{2} = t(a_{2}, b_{2}, c, t_{1}(a_{2}, b_{2}, c), ..., t_{n}(a_{2}, b_{2}, c))$$

$$\vdots$$

$$a_{m} = t(a_{m}, b_{m}, c, t_{1}(a_{m}, b_{m}, c), ..., t_{n}(a_{m}, b_{m}, c))$$

Then for each i = 1, 2, ..., n

$$t_{i}(f^{A}(a_{1},...,a_{m}),f^{A}(b_{1},...,b_{m}),c) = t_{i}(f(t(a_{1},b_{1},c,t_{1}(a_{1},b_{1},c),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{1},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{1},b_{2},c)),...,t_{n}(a_{2},b_$$

where y = c and each  $y_{ij} = t_i(a_j, b_j, c)$  for i = 1, ..., n and j = 1, ..., m.

 $\mu$  being  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under each term  $q_i$ , it follows that

$$\mu(q_i(a_1,...,a_m,b_1,...,b_m,y,y_{11},...,y_{1n},...,y_{m1},...,y_{mn})) \ge \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(y_{ij})\right) \land \mu(y)$$

This is equivalent to

$$\mu\left(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c\right) \ge \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m}\mu(t_i(a_j,b_j,c))\right) \land \mu(c)$$

proving the condition (i) of Theorem 5.3.9.

(ii) Let  $a, b, c \in A$ . By Theorem 5.3.7

$$a = t(a,b,c,t_1(a,b,c),...,t_n(a,b,c))$$
  
=  $q(a,y,y',y_1,...,y_n)$ 

where y = b, y' = c and  $y_i = t_i(a, b, c)$  for each i = 1, 2, ..., n. Since  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under the term q it holds that

$$\mu(q(a, y, y', y_1, \dots, y_n)) \ge \mu(y) \land \mu(y') \land \bigwedge_{i=1}^n \mu(y_i)$$

which gives

$$\mu(a) \ge \mu(b) \land \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(a,b,c))\right)$$

Hence proving (*ii*) of Theorem 5.3.9.

(iii)  $\mu$  being  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under the terms  $d_1, ..., d_n$  directly implies,  $\mu$  satisfies the condition (*iii*) of Theorem 5.3.9. This completes the proof.

#### 5.4 Fuzzy Congruence Classes in Regular Varieties

Now assumption of permutablility is omitted. Three Mal'cev type conditions characterizing regular varieties were published in 1970 independently by B. Csákány [53], G. Gräatzer [76] and R. Wille [155]. We modified that of B. Csákány as follows.

**Theorem 5.4.1.** A variety  $\mathscr{K}$  is regular if and only if there exist an  $n \in Z^+$ ,  $t_1, ..., t_n \in T_3$  and  $q_1, ..., q_n \in T_5$  satisfying the following identities:

$$t_1(x, x, z) = \dots = t_n(x, x, z) = z,$$

$$q_1(t_1(x, y, z), z, x, y, z) = x$$

$$q_i(z,t_i(x,y,z),x,y,z) = q_{i+1}(t_{i+1}(x,y,z),z,x,y,z)$$
 for  $i = 1,...,n-1$ 

and 
$$q_n(z,t_n(x,y,z),x,y,z) = y$$

The following theorem is an independent characterization of fuzzy congruence classes in regular variety using the terms obtained in Theorem 5.4.1. In fact, it is the fuzzy version of the theorem of [37].

**Theorem 5.4.2.** Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be a regular variety and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . A normalized fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a class of some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  if and only if the following conditions hold:

1. If  $m \in Z^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_n$  and  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m, c \in A$ , then

$$\mu(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c)) \ge \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(t_i(a_j,b_j,c))\right)$$

2. For any  $a, b, c, d \in A$ ,

$$\mu(t_i(a,d,c)) \ge \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^n \left(\mu(t_i(a,b,c)) \land \mu(t_i(b,d,c))\right)\right)$$

*3.* For and  $c, d \in A$ , and each i = 1, ..., n,

$$\mu(t_i(c,d,d)) \ge \mu(c) \land \mu(d)$$

4. For each  $a, c \in A$ ,

$$\mu(a) \ge \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(a,c,c))\right)$$

*Proof.* First assume  $\mu$  to be a class of some fuzzy congruence on A, i.e.,  $\mu = x/\Theta$  for some  $x \in A$  and some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ , which gives  $\mu_{\alpha} = \Theta_{\alpha}[x]$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

1. Let  $m \in Z^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}^m$  and  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m, c \in A$ . If we put

$$\alpha = \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(t_i(a_j,b_j,c))\right)$$

then  $c \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $t_i(a_j, b_j, c) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all i = 1, ..., n and all j = 1, ..., m.  $\mu_{\alpha}$  being a class of the congruence  $\Theta_{\alpha}$  we get

$$\Theta(c,t_i(a_j,b_j,c)) \ge \alpha$$
 for all  $i = 1,...,n$  and  $j = 1,...,m$ 

We show that  $\Theta(a_i, b_j) \ge \alpha$  for all j = 1, ..., m. By Theorem 5.4.1, we have

$$a_j = q_1(t_1(a_j, b_j, c), c, a_j, b_j, c)$$
  
$$b_j = q_n(c, t_n(a_j, b_j, c), a_j, b_j, c)$$

Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \Theta(a_j, b_j) &= \Theta(q_1(t_1(a_j, b_j, c), c, a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &\geq \alpha \land \Theta(q_1(c, t_1(a_j, b_j, c), a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &= \alpha \land \Theta(q_2(t_2(a_j, b_j, c), c, a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &\geq \alpha \land \alpha \land \Theta(q_3(c, t_3(a_j, b_j, c), a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &= \alpha \land \Theta(q_3(t_3(a_j, b_j, c), c, a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &\vdots \\ &= \alpha \land \Theta(q_n(c, t_n(a_j, b_j, c), a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &\geq \alpha \land \Theta(q_n(c, t_n(a_j, b_j, c), a_j, b_j, c), b_j) \\ &= \alpha \land \Theta(b_j, b_j) \\ &= \alpha \end{split}$$

So that

$$\bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} \Theta(a_j, b_j) \geq \alpha$$

Again using the substitution property of  $\Theta$ , we get,

$$\Theta(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m)) \geq lpha$$

By Theorem 5.4.1,  $t_i(f^A(b_1,...,b_m), f^A(b_1,...,b_m), c) = c$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \Theta(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c),c) &= & \Theta(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c),\\ & t_i(f^A(b_1,...,b_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c))\\ &\geq & \Theta(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m))\\ &\geq & \alpha \end{split}$$

So that  $(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c),c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ , which gives

$$t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m),f^A(b_1,...,b_m),c)\in \Theta_{\alpha}[c]=\mu_{\alpha}$$

Thus  $\mu(t_i(f^A(a_1,...,a_m), f^A(b_1,...,b_m), c) \ge \alpha$  and hence the result holds.

2. For any  $a, b, c, d \in A$ , let us put

$$\alpha = \mu(c) \wedge \left( \bigwedge_{i,j=1}^{n,m} \mu(t_i(a_j,b_j,c)) \right)$$

Then  $c \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $t_i(a,b,c), t_i(b,d,c) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all i = 1, ..., n. Since  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a class of the congruence  $\Theta_{\alpha}$ , we get

$$\Theta(c,t_i(a,b,c)) \ge \alpha$$
 and  $\Theta(c,t_i(b,d,c)) \ge \alpha$ 

We show that  $\Theta(a,b) \ge \alpha$  and  $\Theta(b,d) \ge \alpha$ . From Theorem 5.4.1 we can write *a* and *b* as follows:

$$a = q_1(t_1(a,b,c),c,a,b,c)$$
$$b = q_n(c,t_n(a,b,c),a,b,c)$$
Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \Theta(a,b) &= \Theta(q_1(t_1(a,b,c),c,a,b,c),b) \\ &\geq \alpha \wedge \Theta(q_1(c,t_1(a,b,c),a,b,c),b) \\ &= \alpha \wedge \Theta(q_2(t_2(a,b,c),c,a,b,c),b) \\ &\vdots \\ &= \alpha \wedge \Theta(q_n(t_n(a,b,c),c,a,b,c),b) \\ &\geq \alpha \wedge \Theta(q_n(c,t_n(a,b,c),a,b,c),b) \\ &= \alpha \wedge \Theta(b,b) \\ &= \alpha \end{split}$$

Similarly we can show that  $\Theta(b,d) \ge \alpha$ . By the transitive property of  $\Theta$  it follows that

$$\Theta(a,d) \ge \Theta(a,b) \land \Theta(b,d) \ge \alpha$$

Again by Theorem 5.4.1, we can write *c* as  $c = t_i(a, a, c)$ . So for each i = 1, ..., n we got the following:

$$egin{array}{rll} \Theta(c,t_i(a,d,c))&=&\Theta(t_i(a,a,c),t_i(a,d,c))\ &\geq&\Theta(a,d)\ &\geq&lpha \end{array}$$

So that  $(c,t_i(a,d,c)) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ , which gives  $t_i(a,d,c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}[c] = \mu_{\alpha}$ . Thus  $\mu(t_i(a,d,c)) \ge \alpha$ and hence the result holds.

3. For any  $c, d \in A$ , let us put  $\mu(c) \wedge \mu(d) = \alpha$ . Then  $c, d \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . This is equivalent to

$$\Theta(c,d) \geq \alpha$$

By Theorem 5.4.1, we can be write *c* as  $c = t_i(c, c, c)$ . Now for each i = 1, 2, ..., n consider the following:

$$egin{aligned} \Theta(t_i(c,d,d),c) &= & \Theta(t_i(c,d,d),t_i(c,c,c)) \ &\geq & \Theta(c,d) \ &\geq & lpha \end{aligned}$$

So that  $(t_i(c,d,d),c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ , which gives  $t_i(c,d,d) \in \Theta_{\alpha}[c] = \mu_{\alpha}$ . Thus  $\mu(t_i(c,d,d)) \ge \alpha$ . Hence proved.

4. Let  $a, c \in A$ . If we put

$$\alpha = \mu(a) \ge \mu(c) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(a,c,c))\right)$$

then  $c \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $t_i(a,c,c) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. By following the same procedure as we have done in (2), we can show that  $\Theta(a,c) \ge \alpha$ . So that  $(a,b) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$  which implies that  $a \in \Theta_{\alpha}[c] = \mu_{\alpha}$ . Thus  $\mu(a) \ge \alpha$  and hence the proved.

Conversely, assume the conditions (1) - (4) hold. Since  $\mu$  is given to be a normalized fuzzy set, we can choose and fix an element  $c \in A$  with  $\mu(c) = 1$ . Let us define a fuzzy relation  $\Phi$  on *A* by:

$$\Phi(x,y) = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(x,y,c))$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ . Clearly  $\Phi$  is reflexive. Compatibility and transitivity of  $\Phi$  follow from (1) and (2), respectively. So, one can easily observe that each of the the level relations of  $\Phi$  is reflexive, transitive and compatible. It was proved in [53] that regular varieties are (n + 1)-permutable. Again for a variety  $\mathcal{K}$  to be (n + 1)-permutable, it is necessary and sufficient that for each  $A \in \mathcal{K}$ , every reflexive and transitive compatible binary relation on A is a congruence on A (see [49]). This implies that  $\Phi_{\alpha}$  is a congruence on A for all  $\alpha \in L$ . It follows from Lemma 5.1.5 that  $\Phi$  is a fuzzy congruence on A. Using (3) and (4) one can easily verify that  $\mu = c/\Phi$ . Hence proved.

**Theorem 5.4.3.** Let  $\mu$  be a normalized fuzzy subset of an algebra A belonging to a regular variety and assume that for any  $a, b, c, d \in A$  and each i = 1, 2, ..., n

$$\mu(t_i(a,d,c)) \ge \mu(t_i(a,b,c)) \land \mu(t_i(b,d,c))$$

Then  $\mu$  is a class of some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  if and only if the following conditions hold:

1. For each  $m \in Z^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_m$  and each i, j, k = 1, 2, ..., n,  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under the term

$$\begin{aligned} d_{ijk}(x_1,...,x_m,x'_1,...,x'_m,y,y',y'',y_1,...,y_m,y'_1,...,y'_m) &= t_i(t_j(f^A(q_k(y_1,y,x_1,x'_1,y),...,x_{m},y_{m},y'_1,...,y'_m)) \\ &= t_i(t_j(f^A(q_k(y_1,y,x_1,x'_1,y),y_{m},y_{m},y'_1,y_{m},y'_1,y_{m},y_{m},y'_1,y_{m},y_{m},y'_1,y_{m},y_$$

2.  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$  -closed under the terms

$$d_i(x_1, y_1, y_2) = t_i(y_1, y_2, y_2)$$

For all i = 1, 2, ..., n.

*3.* For each  $a, b, c, d \in A$ ,

$$\mu(q_1(d,c,a,c,c)) \ge \mu(c) \land \mu(d) \land \mu(t_1(a,c,c)) \land \ldots \land \mu(t_n(a,c,c))$$

*Proof.* If  $\mu$  is a class of some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ , then the  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closedness under the terms listed in (*i*) and (*iii*) follows immediately from the substitution property of  $\Theta$ . We proceed to prove (*iii*). By our hypothesis  $\mu = x/\Theta$  for some  $x \in A$  and  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ , which gives  $\mu_{\alpha} = \Theta_{\alpha}[x]$ . Let us put

$$\alpha = \mu(c) \wedge \mu(d) \wedge \mu(t_1(a,c,c)) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(t_n(a,c,c))$$

Then  $c, d \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and  $t_i(a, c, c) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. This is equivalent to

$$\Theta(c,d) \wedge \Theta(c,t_i(a,c,c)) \wedge \Theta(d,t_i(a,c,c)) \geq \alpha$$

Also observe that

$$\begin{split} \Theta(c,q_1(d,c,a,c,c)) &= \Theta(c,q_1(c,t_1(a,c,c),a,c,c)) \land \Theta(q_1(c,t_1(a,c,c),a,c,c),q_1(d,c,a,c,c))) \\ &\geq \Theta(c,q_1(c,t_1(a,c,c),a,c,c)) \land \alpha \\ &= \Theta(c,q_2(t_2(a,c,c),c,a,c,c)) \land \alpha \\ &\geq \Theta(c,q_2(c,t_2(a,c,c),a,c,c)) \land \alpha \\ &= \Theta(c,q_3(t_3(a,c,c),c,a,c,c)) \land \alpha \\ &\vdots \\ &\geq \Theta(c,q_n(c,t_n(a,c,c),a,c,c)) \land \alpha \\ &= \Theta(c,c) \land \alpha \\ &= \alpha \end{split}$$

Thus  $(c,q_1(d,c,a,c,c)) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ , which implies  $q_1(d,c,a,c,c) \in \Theta_{\alpha}[c] = \mu_{\alpha}$ . So that  $\mu(q_1(d,c,a,c,c)) \ge \alpha$ . Hence proved. Conversely, assume conditions (i) - (iii) are satisfied. Since  $\mu$  is normalized we can choose and fix an element  $c \in A$  with  $\mu(c) = 1$ . Define a fuzzy relation  $\Theta$  on A by: for each  $x, y \in A$ ,

$$\Theta(x,y) = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} \mu(t_i(x,y,c))$$

Clearly  $\Theta$  is reflexive. Transitivity of  $\Theta$  follows from the assumption of the theorem and compatibility follows from the conditions (*i*) and (*ii*), i.e.,  $\Theta$  is reflexive, transitive and compatible fuzzy relation on *A*. By using the same argument as in the previous theorem we can show that  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy congruence on *A* such that  $\mu = c/\Theta$ . Hence proved.

#### 5.5 Fuzzy Congruence Classes Which are Fuzzy Subuniverses

Remember that a subset *B* of *A* is called a subuniverse of *A* if for all n > 0, ever n-ary operation f and any  $b_1, ..., b_n \in B$  it holds that  $f^A(b_1, ..., b_n) \in B$ . Analogous to this, we have the following definition.

**Definition 5.5.1.** A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is called a fuzzy subuniverse of A, if for all n > 0, every n-ary operation f and any  $b_1, \dots, b_n \in A$  it holds that

$$\mu(f^A(b_1,...,b_n)) \ge \mu(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(b_n)$$

**Theorem 5.5.2.** For a variety  $\mathcal{K}$ , the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. At least one class of each congruence of every nonempty  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  is a subuniverse of A.
- 2. There exists a unary term t with p(t(x), t(x), ...t(x)) = t(x) for every term p.
- 3. At least one fuzzy class of each fuzzy congruence of every nonempty  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  is a fuzzy subuniverse of A.

*Proof.* (1)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (2) is proved by B. Csákány in [54]. So we proceed to prove (2)  $\Rightarrow$  (3). Let  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  and  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ . For each  $a \in A$  we show that the fuzzy class  $t(a)/\Theta$  of  $\Theta$  is a fuzzy subuniverse of A, where t is the unary term satisfying (2). Let  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  be an n-ary operation, n > 0 and  $x_1, \dots, x_n \in A$ . Then consider the following:

$$t(a)/\Theta(x_1) \wedge \dots \wedge t(a)/\Theta(x_n) = \Theta(t(a), x_1) \wedge \dots \wedge \Theta(t(a), x_n)$$
  
$$\leq \Theta(f^A(t(a), \dots, t(a)), f^A(x_1, \dots, x_n))$$
  
$$= \theta(t(a), f^A(x_1, \dots, x_n))$$
  
$$= t(a)/\Theta(f^A(x_1, \dots, x_n))$$

Thus  $t(a)/\Theta$  is a fuzzy subuniverse of A.

The proof of  $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$  follows from the fact that every congruence relation on *A* can be identified as a fuzzy congruence relation by its characteristic function.

**Theorem 5.5.3.** For a variety  $\mathcal{K}$ , the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. At most one class of each congruence of  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  is a subuniverse of A.
- 2. There exists  $n \in Z^+$ ,  $p_1, ..., p_n \in T_6$  and  $u_1, ..., u_n \in T_1$  satisfying the following identities:

$$p_1(u_1(x), u_1(y), x, y, x, y) = x$$

$$p_i(x, y, u_i(x), u_i(y), x, y) = p_{i+1}(u_{i+1}(x), u_{i+1}(y), x, y, x, y)$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, ..., n-1$ 

$$p_n(x, y, u_n(x), u_n(y), x, y) = y$$

*3.* At most one fuzzy class of each fuzzy congruence on  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  is a fuzzy subuniverse of A.

*Proof.* The proof of  $(1) \Leftrightarrow (2)$  is given in [54]. So we proceed to prove  $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$ . Let  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  and  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ . Suppose that  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are two fuzzy classes of  $\Theta$  which are fuzzy subuniverses of A. Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $\mu_1 = a/\Theta$  and  $\mu_2 = b/\Theta$ . Then  $\mu_1(a) = 1$  and  $\mu_2(b) = 1$ . We first show that  $\Theta(a, b) = 1$ . Since  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are fuzzy subuniverses of A, we get

$$\mu_1(u_i(a)) \ge \mu_1(a) = 1$$
 and  $\mu_2(u_i(b)) \ge \mu_2(b) = 1$ 

for each *i*. So that

$$\Theta(a, u_i(a)) = 1 = \Theta(b, u_i(b))$$

for all *i*. Now consider the following:

$$\Theta(a,b) = \Theta(p_1(u_1(a), u_1(b), a, b, a, b), b)$$

$$\geq \Theta(p_1(a, b, u_1(a), u_1(b), a, b), b)$$

$$= \Theta(p_2(u_2(a), u_2(b), a, b, a, b), b)$$

$$\geq \Theta(p_2(a, b, u_2(a), u_2(b), a, b), b)$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\geq \Theta(p_n(a, b, u_n(a), u_n(b), a, b), b)$$

$$= \Theta(b, b)$$

$$= 1$$

Now for any  $x \in A$ ,

$$\mu_1(x) = a/\Theta(x)$$

$$= \Theta(a,x)$$

$$\geq \Theta(a,b) \land \Theta(b,x)$$

$$= \Theta(b,x)$$

$$= b/\Theta(x)$$

$$= \mu_2(x)$$

By symmetry, we can also show that  $\mu_2(x) \ge \mu_1(x)$ , i.e.,  $\mu_1(x) = \mu_2(x)$  for all  $x \in A$  and hence  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ .

The proof of  $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$  follows from the fact that every congruence relation on *A* can ve identified as a fuzzy congruence relation by its characteristic function.

**Definition 5.5.4.** An algebra *A* is called idempotent if for each of its fundamental operations *f* it holds f(x,x,...,x) = x in *A*. A class of algebras is called idempotent if each of its members has this property.

**Theorem 5.5.5.** For an algebra A, the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. Each congruence class of A is a subuniverse.
- 2. A is idempotent.
- 3. Each fuzzy congruence class of A is a fuzzy subuniverse.

*Proof.* The equivalence of (1) and (2) is proved in [54]. We prove (2)  $\Rightarrow$  (3). Suppose that *A* is idempotent. Let  $a \in A$ ,  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ ,  $n > 0, f \in \mathfrak{F}_n$  and  $x_1, ..., x_n \in A$ . Then consider the following:

$$\begin{aligned} a/\Theta(x_1) \wedge \dots \wedge a/\Theta(x_n) &= \Theta(a, x_1) \wedge \dots \wedge \Theta(a, x_n) \\ &\leq \Theta(f^A(a, a, \dots, a), f^A(x_1, \dots, x_n)) \\ &= \Theta(a, f^A(x_1, \dots, x_n)) \\ &= a/\Theta(f^A(x_1, \dots, x_n)) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore  $a/\Theta$  is a fuzzy subuniverse of *A*. The proof of  $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$  follows from the fact that every congruence relation on *A* can ve identified as a fuzzy congruence relation by its characteristic function.

# **Chapter 6**

# *L*–**Fuzzy Cosets**

Cosets in universal algebra were first introduced by P. Agliano in [8] and later studied by R. Bělohlávek [35] under a name 'convex sets'. Agliano, in his paper [8], has defined cosets using coset terms. He gives a natural structure to the set of congruence classes containing a given element of the algebra, and relates the properties of this structure to general features of the variety generated by the algebra. It comes out that such kind of results are better understood if we consider the set of congruence classes containing a given element as a subset of a generally richer family of subset of the algebra; called 'cosets' of the algebra-which in fact is endowed with the very natural structure of an algebraic lattice. It is observed that in many classical cases cosets are very well-known structures: in the case of groups left-cosets (or right -cosets) determined by normal subgroups, in rings cosets determined by ideals.

In this chapter, we define L-fuzzy cosets in universal algebras and investigate some of their properties. We give necessary and sufficient conditions for a class of algebras to be congruence permutable.

# 6.1 Fuzzy Cosets

Recall from [8] that, a term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is said to be a cost term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  if  $t(a_1, ..., a_n, b, b, ..., b) = b$ for all  $a_1, ..., a_n, b \in A$ , and cosets of A are those nonempty subsets of A which are  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under each coset term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . In the following, we define fuzzy cosets. **Definition 6.1.1.** An *L*-fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* is said to be an *L*-fuzzy coset of *A* (or shortly a fuzzy coset of *A*) if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1.  $\mu(a) = 1$  for some  $a \in A$ .
- 2. If  $t(\vec{x}, \vec{y})$  is a coset term in  $\vec{y}$  and  $a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, b_1, b_2, ..., b_m \in A$ , then

$$\mu(t(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, b_1, b_2, ..., b_m)) \ge \mu(b_1) \land \mu(b_2) \land ... \land \mu(b_m)$$

In this case, we say that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a*. For each  $a \in A$ , we denote by  $FC_a(A)$  the set of all fuzzy cosets of *A* determined by *a*.

The following theorem gives an equivalent condition for fuzzy subsets to be a fuzzy coset in terms of their level sets.

**Theorem 6.1.2.** Let  $a \in A$ . A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a if and only if  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a coset of A containing a for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a. Then  $\mu(a) = 1$ . So  $a \in \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Also, for any  $\alpha \in L$ , let  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\mu_{\alpha})^m$  and  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Since  $\mu(t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) \ge \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) \ge \alpha$ , we get  $t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) \in \mu_{\alpha}$  and hence each  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a coset of A containing a. Conversely suppose that the level subset  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a coset of A containing a for all  $\alpha \in L$ . In particular  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a coset of A containing a for  $\alpha = 1$ . So that  $\mu(a) = 1$ . Let  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  and  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$ . Put  $\mu^m(\overrightarrow{b}) = \alpha$ . Then  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\mu^m)_{\alpha} = (\mu_{\alpha})^m$ . Since each  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is a coset we get,  $t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) \in \mu_{\alpha}$ . So that  $\mu(t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) \ge \alpha = \mu^m(\overrightarrow{b})$ . Therefore  $\mu$  is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a.

This theorem confirms that a fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a* is precisely a fuzzy  $\mathfrak{L}$ -subset of *A* (in the sense of [144]), where  $\mathfrak{L}$  is the set of all cosets of *A* containing *a*.

**Lemma 6.1.3.** Let  $a \in A$  and  $H \subseteq A$ . For  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ , let  $\alpha_H$  be as given in Definition 1.2.12. Then, H is a coset of A containing a if and only if  $\alpha_H$  is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a for some  $\alpha \in L - \{1\}$ . **Corollary 6.1.4.** Let  $a \in A$ . A subset H of A is a coset of A containing a if and only if its characteristic function  $\chi_H$  is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a.

Lemma 6.1.5. Every fuzzy ideal is a fuzzy coset determined by 0.

*Proof.* It is enough to show that every coset term is an ideal term.

**Lemma 6.1.6.** Let  $a \in A$  and  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ . Then, for any  $a_1, ..., a_m \in A$ , if  $x \in \overline{\{a_1, ..., a_m\}}^a$ , then  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(a_1) \land ... \land \mu(a_m)$ . More generally, for any nonempty subset S of A, if  $x \in \overline{S}^a$ , then there exist  $a_1, ..., a_m \in S$  such that  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(a_1) \land ... \land \mu(a_m)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $x \in \overline{\{a_1, ..., a_m\}}^a$ . Then,  $x = p(b_1, ..., b_n, a_1, ..., a_m)$  for some  $b_1, ..., b_n \in A$  and some coset term  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . So we have the following:

$$\mu(x) = \mu(p(b_1, ..., b_n, a_1, ..., a_m)) \ge \mu(a_1) \land ... \land \mu(a_m)$$

Hence proved.

**Theorem 6.1.7.** Let  $a \in A$ . Then,  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$  if and only if for each  $m \ge 0$  and each  $b_1, b_2, ..., b_m \in A$ , if  $x \in \overline{\{a_1, ..., a_m\}}^a$ , then  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m)$ .

*Proof.* One part of this theorem is proved in the above Lemma. So we proceed to the converse part. Assume the given condition is satisfied for  $\mu$ . Let us put  $S_m = \{b_1, ..., b_m\}$ . If we take m = 0, then  $S_m = \emptyset$  and it is known that  $\overline{\emptyset}^a = \{a\}$ . So by our assumption, we have

$$\mu(a) \ge \bigwedge_{b \in \emptyset} \mu(b) = 1$$

Thus  $\mu(a) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . If we consider the set  $S_m = \{b_1, ..., b_m\}$ , then one can observe that

$$p(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m) \in \overline{\{b_1,...,b_m\}}^a$$

It follows from our assumption that  $\mu(p(a_1,...,a_n,b_1,...,b_m)) \ge \mu(b_1) \land ... \land \mu(b_m)$ . Therefore  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ . Hence proved.

In the following theorem, we give a more general setting to characterize fuzzy cosets.

**Theorem 6.1.8.** Let  $a \in A$ . Then,  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$  if and only if for any subset S of A

$$\mu(b) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in S} \mu(x) \text{ for all } b \in \overline{S}^a$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ . If  $S = \emptyset$ , then  $\overline{S}^a = \{a\}$  and the condition holds trivially. Assume that *S* is nonempty and let  $b \in \overline{S}^a$ . Then  $b = t(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)$  for some  $b_1, ..., b_m \in S$ ,  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  and some coset term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Since  $\mu$  is fuzzy a fuzzy coset, it follows that

$$\mu(b) \ge \mu(b_1) \land \ldots \land \mu(b_m) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in S} \mu(x)$$

The converse part follows from the above theorem by assuming the condition for finite sets.  $\Box$ 

#### 6.2 Fuzzy Cosets Generated by a Fuzzy Set

This section is devoted to characterize fuzzy cosets generated by a fuzzy set.

**Theorem 6.2.1.** Let  $a \in A$ . If  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  is a family of fuzzy cosets of A determined by a, then  $\bigcap_{i \in \Delta} \mu_i$  is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a.

This theorem confirms that, for each  $a \in A$  and any fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A with  $\lambda(a) = 1$ , always there exists a smallest fuzzy coset determined by a containing  $\lambda$  which we call it the fuzzy coset of A determined by a generated by  $\lambda$  and is denoted by  $\overline{\lambda}^a$ . Note also that, for a subset X of A and  $a \in X$ , we denote by  $\overline{X}^a$  the coset of generated by X.

**Lemma 6.2.2.** Let  $a \in A$ ,  $S \subseteq A$  and  $a \in S$ . Then  $\overline{\chi_S}^a = \chi_{\overline{S}^a}$ .

*Proof.* We show that  $\chi_{\overline{S}^a}$  is the smallest fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a* such that  $\chi_S \leq \chi_{\overline{S}^a}$ . Since  $\overline{S}^a$  is a coset of *A* containing *a*, it follows from Corollary 6.1.4 that  $\chi_{\overline{S}^a}$  is a fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a*. It is also clear that  $\chi_S \leq \chi_{\overline{S}^a}$ . Let  $\lambda$  be any fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a* such that  $\chi_S \leq \lambda$ . Then  $\lambda(s) = 1$  for all  $s \in S$  and hence  $\lambda(a) = 1$ . Let *z* be any element in A. If  $z \notin \overline{S}^a$ , then  $\chi_{\overline{S}^a}(z) = 0 \le \lambda(z)$ . I  $z \in \overline{S}^a$ , then  $z = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{s})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{s} \in S^m$  and some coset term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Now consider:

$$\lambda(z) = \lambda(t(a_1, \dots, a_n, s_1, \dots, s_m)) \ge \lambda(s_1) \land \lambda(s_2) \land \dots \land \lambda(s_m) = 1$$

So that  $\chi_{\overline{S}^a} \leq \lambda$ . Therefore  $\chi_{\overline{S}^a} = \overline{\chi_S}^a$ .

For any fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A, recall from Theorem 1.2.11 that:

$$\lambda(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \lambda_{\alpha} \}$$

for all  $x \in A$ . In the following theorem we characterize fuzzy cosets generated by a fuzzy set in terms of their level sets.

**Theorem 6.2.3.** Let  $a \in A$ . For a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A with  $\lambda(a) = 1$ , let  $\Lambda_1^a$  be a fuzzy subset of A defined by:

$$\Lambda_1^a(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \overline{(\lambda_\alpha)}^a \} \text{ for all } x \in A$$

Then  $\Lambda_1^a = \overline{\lambda}^a$ .

*Proof.* We show that  $\Lambda_1^a$  is the smallest fuzzy coset of A determined by a containing  $\lambda$ . Let us first show that  $\Lambda_1^a$  is a fuzzy coset. Since  $\lambda(a) = 1$ , it is clear that  $\Lambda_1^a(a) = 1$ . Let  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$  and  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Then consider:

$$(\Lambda_1^a)^m(\overrightarrow{b}) = \bigwedge \{\Lambda_1^a(b_i) : 1 \le i \le m\}$$
$$= \bigwedge \{\bigvee \{\alpha_i \in L : b_i \in \overline{(\lambda_\alpha)}^a\} : 1 \le i \le m\}$$
$$= \bigvee \{\bigwedge \{\alpha_i \in L : 1 \le i \le m\} : b_i \in \overline{(\lambda_\alpha)}^a\}$$

If we put  $\beta = \wedge \{ \alpha_i \in L : 1 \le i \le m \}$ , then we get  $\lambda_{\alpha_i} \subseteq \lambda_{\beta}$  for all  $1 \le i \le m$ . So that

$$(\Lambda_{1}^{a})^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge \{\alpha_{i} \in L : 1 \leq i \leq m\} : b_{i} \in \overline{(\lambda_{\alpha})}^{a}\}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{\beta \in L : \overrightarrow{b} \in b_{1}, ..., b_{m} \in \overline{(\lambda_{\alpha})}^{a}\}$$
  
$$\leq \bigvee \{\beta \in L : t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) \in \overline{(\lambda_{\alpha})}^{a}\}$$
  
$$= \Lambda_{1}^{a}(t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}))$$

Therefore  $\Lambda_1^a$  is a fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a*. It is also clear to see that  $\lambda \leq \Lambda_1^a$ . Suppose that  $\mu$  is any other fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a* such that  $\lambda \leq \mu$ . Then  $\overline{(\lambda_{\alpha})}^a \subseteq \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ . Now for any  $x \in A$  consider:

$$\Lambda_{1}^{a}(x) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \overline{(\lambda_{\alpha})}^{a} \}$$
$$\leq \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \mu_{\alpha} \}$$
$$= \mu(x)$$

Therefore  $\Lambda_1^a$  is the smallest fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a* containing  $\lambda$ . Thus  $\Lambda_1^a = \overline{\lambda}^a$ .  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 6.2.4.** Let  $a \in A$  and  $\mu$  a fuzzy subset of A such that  $\mu(a) = 1$ . Then

$$\overline{(\mu_{\alpha})}^{a} \subseteq (\overline{\mu}^{a})_{\alpha} \text{ for all } \alpha \in L$$

Moreover, if L is a chain and  $\mu$  is finite valued or equivalently if  $\mu$  has sup property, then the equality holds.

**Theorem 6.2.5.** Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy subset of A and  $\alpha \in L$ :

$$(\overline{\mu}^a)_{\alpha} = \bigcup \{\bigcap_{\gamma \in M} \overline{(\mu_{\gamma})}^a : M \subseteq L \text{ and } \alpha \leq supM \}$$

*Proof.* The proof is similar to that of Theorem 2.3.7.

In the following we give an algebraic characterization of fuzzy cosets generated by fuzzy sets.

**Definition 6.2.6.** Let  $a \in A$ . For a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A with  $\lambda(a) = 1$ , let us define a fuzzy subset  $\Lambda_2^a$  of A as follows:

 $\Lambda_2^a(a) = 1$  and for  $a \neq x \in A$ 

$$\Lambda_2^a(x) = \bigvee \{\lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x \text{ where} \\ \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}) \text{ is a coset term in } \overrightarrow{y} \}$$

**Theorem 6.2.7.** Let  $a \in A$ . For a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A with  $\lambda(a) = 1$ , we have  $\Lambda_2^a = \overline{\lambda}^a$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 6.2.3, it is enough to show that  $\Lambda_2^a = \Lambda_1^a$ . For each  $x \neq a$  in A, let us define two sets  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  as follows:

$$H_{x} = \{\lambda^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^{m}, t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x$$
  
where  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^{n}, t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}\}$   
$$G_{x} = \{\alpha \in L : x \in \overline{\lambda_{\alpha}}^{a}\}$$

Clearly both  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  are subsets of L. Our claim is to see that:

$$\bigvee \{ \alpha : \alpha \in H_x \} = \bigvee \{ \alpha : \alpha \in G_x \}$$

We first show that  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . If  $\alpha \in H_x$ , then  $\alpha = \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b})$ , for some  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$ , such that  $t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$  where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . That is,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\lambda_\alpha)^m$  and so that  $x \in \overline{\lambda_\alpha}^a$ . Then  $\alpha \in G_x$  and hence  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . Thus

$$\bigvee \{ \alpha : \alpha \in H_x \} \leq \bigvee \{ \alpha : \alpha \in G_x \}$$

To prove the inequality, we show that for each  $\alpha \in G_x$ , there exists  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . Let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then  $x \in \overline{\lambda_{\alpha}}^a$ ; that is,  $x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})$  for some  $\overrightarrow{b} \in (\lambda_{\alpha})^m$ , and  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$  where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$ 

is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . If we put  $\beta = \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b})$ , then we get  $\beta \in H_x$  and  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This completes the proof.

In the following theorem, we give a finite characterization for fuzzy cosets.

**Theorem 6.2.8.** Let  $a \in A$ . For a fuzzy subset  $\lambda$  of A with  $\lambda(a) = 1$ , let us define a fuzzy subset  $\Lambda_3^a$  of A by:

 $\Lambda_3^a(a) = 1$  and for each  $a \neq x \in A$ :

$$\Lambda_3^a(x) = \bigvee \{\bigwedge_{y \in F} \lambda(y) : x \in \overline{F}^a, F \subset \subset A\}$$

Then  $\Lambda_3^a = \overline{\lambda}^a$ .

*Proof.* It is enough if we show that  $\Lambda_3^a = \Lambda_1^a$ . For each  $a \neq x \in A$ , let us take the set  $G_x$  as in Theorem 6.2.7 and define a set  $H_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{\bigwedge_{a \in F} \lambda(a) : x \in x \in \overline{F}^a, F \subset \subset A\}$$

Our claim is to show that:

$$\bigvee \{ lpha : lpha \in H_x \} = \bigvee \{ lpha : lpha \in G_x \}$$

We first show that  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ .  $\alpha \in H_x$ , implies that  $\alpha = \bigwedge_{a \in F} \lambda(a)$  and  $x \in \overline{F}^a$ , for some finite subset *F* of *A*. That is,  $a \in \lambda_\alpha$  for all  $a \in F$  and  $x \in \overline{F}^a$ . So that  $x \in \overline{\lambda_\alpha}^a$ . Then  $\alpha \in G_x$  and hence  $H_x \subseteq G_x$ . Next we show that, for each  $\alpha \in G_x$ , there exists  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . Let  $\alpha \in G_x$ . Then  $x \in \overline{\lambda_\alpha}^a$ ; that is,  $x = t(\overline{\alpha}, \overline{b})$  for some  $\overline{b} \in (\lambda_\alpha)^m$ , and  $\overline{d} \in A^n$  where  $t(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$ is a coset term in  $\overline{y}$ . Let  $\overline{b} = \langle b_1, b_2, ..., b_m \rangle$  and  $\beta = \bigwedge_{i=1}^m \mu(b_i)$ . Then  $\beta \geq \alpha$ . Moreover, if we put  $F = \{b_1, b_2, ..., b_m\}$ , then *F* is a finite subset of *A* such that  $x \in \overline{F}^a$ . Thus  $\beta \in H_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This completes the proof. **Theorem 6.2.9.** Let  $a \in A$ . Suppose that  $\{H_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in L}$  is a subfamily of  $C_a(A)$  such that

(

$$\bigcap_{\alpha \in M} H_{\alpha} = H_{supM}$$

for all  $M \subseteq L$ . Then, there is a unique fuzzy coset  $\mu$  of A determined by  $\mu$  for which  $\mu_{\alpha} = H_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ .

*Proof.* The proof is similar to that of Theorem 2.3.12

# 6.3 The Lattice of Fuzzy Cosets

As observed in Theorem 6.2.1, for each  $a \in A$  the class  $FC_a(A)$  is closed under arbitrary intersection of fuzzy sets. So that  $(FC_a(A), \leq)$  forms a closure fuzzy set system and hence by Theorem 1.2.16 it is a complete lattice, where  $\leq$  is a pointwise ordering of fuzzy sets. The following theorem summarizes this.

**Theorem 6.3.1.** Let  $a \in A$ . Then the set  $FC_a(A)$  of all fuzzy cosets of A determined by a forms a complete lattice where the infimum and supremum of any sub-family  $\{\mu_i : i \in \Delta\}$  of  $FC_a(A)$  is given by:

$$\bigwedge \mu_i = \cap \mu_i \text{ and } \bigvee \mu_i = \overline{(\cup \mu_i)}^a$$

The least and the largest elements in  $FC_a(A)$  are  $\chi_{\{a\}}$  and  $1_A$  respectively.

**Theorem 6.3.2.**  $(FC_a(A), \leq)$  is an algebraic closure fuzzy set system.

*Proof.* By Definition 1.2.18, it is enough to show that  $FC_a(A)$  is inductive in  $L^A$ . Let  $\{\mu_i\}_{i \in \Delta}$  be a chain in  $FC_a(A)$ . Let us put

$$\eta = igcup_{i\in\Delta}\mu_i$$

We show that  $\eta$  is a fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a*. Clearly  $\eta(a) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . First observe that, for each *m*-tuples  $i_1, ..., i_m \in \Delta$ , there

exists  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$  such that  $\mu_{i_j} \leq \mu_{i_k}$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ . Now consider the following:

$$\begin{split} \eta(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \eta(b_m) &= \left(\bigvee_{i_1 \in \Delta} \mu_{i_1}(b_1)\right) \wedge ... \wedge \left(\bigvee_{i_m \in \Delta} \mu_{i_m}(b_m)\right) \\ &= \bigvee_{i_1, ..., i_m \in \Delta} (\mu_{i_1}(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu_{i_m}(b_m)) \\ &\leq \bigvee_{i_k \in \Delta} (\mu_{i_k}(b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \mu_{i_k}(b_m)) \\ &\leq \bigvee_{i_k \in \Delta} \mu_{i_k}(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)) \\ &= \eta(p(a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m)) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $\eta$  is a fuzzy coset of A determined by a and this completes the proof.

# 6.4 Fuzzy Cosets and Fuzzy Congruences

Remember that, for each  $a \in A$ ,  $FL_a(A)$  denotes the set

$$FL_a(A) = \{a/\Theta : \Theta \in FCon(A)\}$$

The following lemma shows that fuzzy congruence classes are fuzzy cosets.

**Lemma 6.4.1.** *For each*  $a \in A$ *,* 

$$FL_a(A) \subseteq FC_a(A)$$

*Proof.* Let  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ . We show that  $a/\Theta \in FC_a(A)$ . Clearly  $a/\Theta(a) = 1$ . Let  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$  and  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Consider:

$$\begin{split} \Theta_a(b_1) \wedge \dots \wedge \Theta_a(b_m) &= \Theta(a, b_1) \wedge \dots \wedge \Theta(a, b_m) \\ &\leq \Theta(t(a_1, \dots, a_n, a, a, \dots, a), t(a_1, \dots, a_n, b_1, \dots, b_m)) \\ &= \Theta(a, t(a_1, \dots, a_n, b_1, \dots, b_m)) \\ &= a/\Theta(t(a_1, \dots, a_n, b_1, \dots, b_m)) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $a/\Theta \in FC_a(A)$ .

**Theorem 6.4.2.** Let  $a \in A$ . If  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$  and  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ , then  $\mu/\Theta \in FC_a(A)$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\mu/\Theta \in FC_a(A)$ , we have  $\mu(a) = 1$ . Now consider

$$\mu/\Theta(a) = \bigvee \{\mu(b) \land \Theta(a,b) : b \in A\}$$
$$\geq \mu(a) \land \Theta(a,a)$$
$$= 1$$

Thus  $\mu/\Theta(a) = 1$ . Let  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$  and  $a_1, ..., a_n, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ . Then, the proof is similar to that of Theorem 7.2.1 to show that

$$\mu/\Theta(t(a_1,\ldots,a_n,b_1,\ldots,b_m)) \ge \mu/\Theta(b_1) \land \ldots \land \mu/\Theta(b_m)$$

**Lemma 6.4.3.** *Let*  $a \in A$ . *For each*  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$  *we have:* 

$$(a/\Theta)/\Phi = a/(\Theta \circ \Phi)$$

*Proof.* For any  $x \in A$ , consider the following:

$$(a/\Theta)/\Phi(x) = \bigvee \{ (a/\Theta)(y) \land \Phi(x,y) : y \in A \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{ \Theta(a,y) \land \Phi(x,y) : y \in A \}$$
$$= \Theta \circ \Phi(a,x)$$
$$= a/(\Theta \circ \Phi)(x)$$

Thus,  $(a/\Theta)/\Phi = a/(\Theta \circ \Phi)$ .

**Lemma 6.4.4.** *Let*  $a \in A$ . *For each*  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$  *we have:* 

$$a/\Theta\bigvee_a a/\Phi \leq (a/\Theta)/\Phi \leq a/(\Theta \lor \Phi)$$

where  $\bigvee_a$  denotes the supremum of fuzzy cosets in  $FC_a(A)$ .

*Proof.* To prove the first inequality let us put  $\lambda = a/\Theta \cup a/\Phi$ . Then  $\lambda$  is a fuzzy subset of A (not necessarily a fuzzy coset) such that

$$a/\Theta \bigvee_{a} a/\Phi = \overline{\lambda}^{a}$$

Let  $x \in A$ . Then by Theorem 6.2.7

$$\overline{\lambda}^{a}(x) = \bigvee \{\lambda^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^{m}, t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x \text{ where } \overrightarrow{a} \in A^{n}, t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}) \text{ is a coset term in } \overrightarrow{y} \}$$

Again from Lemma 6.4.3, we have

$$(a/\Theta)/\Phi(x) = \bigvee \{\Theta(a,y) \land \Phi(x,y) : y \in A\}$$

Let us define two sets  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{\lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x \text{ where } \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}) \text{ is a coset term in } \overrightarrow{y} \}$$
  
$$G_x = \{\Theta(a, y) \land \Phi(x, y) : y \in A\}$$

Then both  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  are nonempty subsets of L. Our aim is to show that  $\forall H_x \leq \forall G_x$  for all  $x \in A$ . Let  $\alpha \in H_x$ . Then  $\alpha = \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b})$ , for some  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$ , such that  $t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$  where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . That is,  $b_1, ..., b_m \in \lambda_\alpha = (a/\Theta)_\alpha \cup (a/\Phi)_\alpha$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $b_1, ..., b_k \in (a/\Theta)_\alpha$  and  $b_{k+1}, ..., b_m \in (a/\Phi)_\alpha$ . So that

$$\Theta(a,b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \Theta(a,b_k) \geq \alpha$$
 and  $\Phi(a,b_{k+1}) \wedge ... \wedge \Phi(a,b_m) \geq \alpha$ 

We have  $x = t(\overrightarrow{a}, b_1, ..., b_k, b_{k+1}, ..., b_m)$  and since  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is a coset term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ , we get  $a = t(\overrightarrow{a}, a, ..., a, a, ..., a)$ . Put  $y = t(\overrightarrow{a}, b_1, ..., b_k, a, a, ..., a)$  and consider the following:

$$\Theta(a,y) = \Theta(t(\overrightarrow{a}, a, ..., a, a, ..., a), t(\overrightarrow{a}, b_1, ..., b_k, a, a, ..., a))$$

$$\geq \Theta(a, b_1) \wedge ... \wedge \Theta(a, b_k)$$

$$\geq \alpha$$

and

$$\Phi(x,y) = \Phi(t(\overrightarrow{a}, b_1, ..., b_k, b_{k+1}, ..., b_m), t(\overrightarrow{a}, b_1, ..., b_k, a, a, ..., a))$$

$$\geq \Phi(b_{k+1}, a) \wedge ... \wedge \Phi(b_m, a)$$

$$\geq \alpha$$

If we put  $\beta = \Theta(a, y) \land \Phi(x, y)$ , then  $\beta \in G_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ , which gives that  $\bigvee H_x \leq \bigvee G_x$ . Therefore

$$a/\Theta \bigvee_a a/\Phi \leq (a/\Theta)/\Phi$$

The last inequality follows from the fact that  $\Theta \circ \Phi \leq \Theta \lor \Phi$  and this completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

# 6.5 Characterizing Congruence Permutable Varieties

**Definition 6.5.1.** A class  $\mathscr{K}$  of algebras is called congruence permutable if the following holds for each  $A \in \mathscr{K}$  and each  $\theta, \phi \in Con(A)$ :

$$heta \circ \phi = \phi \circ heta$$

In the following theorem we give an equivalent condition for a variety  $\mathcal{K}$  of algebras to be congruence permutable.

**Theorem 6.5.2.** A class  $\mathcal{K}$  of algebras is congruence permutable if and only if

$$\Theta \circ \Phi = \Phi \circ \Theta$$

for each  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  and all  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable. Let  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$ . For any  $x, y \in A$ , let us define two sets  $H_{x,y}$  and  $G_{x,y}$  as follows:

$$H_{x,y} = \{ \Theta(x,z) \land \Phi(y,z) : z \in A \}$$
$$G_{x,y} = \{ \Theta(y,z) \land \Phi(x,z) : z \in A \}$$

Then both  $H_{x,y}$  and  $G_{x,y}$  are nonempty subsets of L. Our claim is to show that

$$\bigvee H_{x,y} = \bigvee G_{x,y}$$
 for all  $x, y \in A$ 

Let  $\alpha \in H_{x,y}$ . Then  $\alpha = \Theta(x,z) \land \Phi(y,z)$  for some  $z \in A$ . So that  $\Theta(x,z) \ge \alpha$  and  $\Phi(y,z) \ge \alpha$ ; i.e.,  $(x,z) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ ,  $(y,z) \in \Phi_{\alpha}$  and both  $\Theta_{\alpha}$  and  $\Phi_{\alpha}$  are congruence relations on A, which gives that  $(x,y) \in \Phi_{\alpha} \circ \Theta_{\alpha}$ . Since  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable, we get  $(x,y) \in \Theta_{\alpha} \circ \phi_{\alpha}$ . So there exists some  $u \in A$  such that  $(x,u) \in \phi_{\alpha}$  and  $(y,u) \in \Theta_{\alpha}$ ; that is,

$$\Theta(y,u) \wedge \Phi(x,u) \geq \alpha$$

Thus  $\bigvee G_{x,y} \ge \alpha$ . Since  $\alpha$  is arbitrary in  $H_{x,y}$ , we get  $\bigvee G_{x,y} \ge \alpha$  for all  $\alpha \in H_{x,y}$  and hence

$$\bigvee G_{x,y} \geq \bigvee H_{x,y}$$

Similarly, by interchanging  $\Theta$  and  $\Phi$  we can show that

$$\bigvee G_{x,y} \leq \bigvee H_{x,y}$$

Therefore the equality holds. The converse part of this theorem follows from the fact that every congruence relation on A can be identified by as a fuzzy congruence on A by its characteristic mapping.

**Corollary 6.5.3.** A class  $\mathcal{K}$  of algebras is congruence permutable if and only if

$$\Theta \circ \Phi = \Theta \lor \Phi$$

for each  $A \in \mathscr{K}$  and all  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$ .

**Theorem 6.5.4.** A class  $\mathscr{K}$  of algebras is congruence permutable if and only if for each  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ and each  $a \in A$ , the map  $f_a : FCon(A) \to FC_a(A)$  defined by:

$$f_a(\Theta) = a/\Theta$$

is a lattice homomorphism.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable. For any  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$ , it is clear that

$$a/(\Theta \wedge \Phi) = a/\Theta \wedge a/\Phi$$

So it is enough to show that  $a/(\Theta \lor \Phi) = (a/\Theta) \bigvee_a (a/\Phi)$ . One inequality is given in Lemma 6.4.4. To prove the other inequality, let  $x \in A$ . Since  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable, it follows from Corollary 6.5.3 that  $\Theta \circ \Phi = \Theta \lor \Phi$ . Then we have

$$a/(\Theta \lor \Phi)(x) = \Theta \lor \Phi(a, x)$$
$$= \Theta \circ \Phi(a, x)$$
$$= \bigvee \{\Theta(a, y) \land \Phi(x, y) : y \in A\}$$

For an arbitrary y in A, let us put

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{\Theta}(a, y) \wedge \boldsymbol{\Phi}(x, y)$$

So we have  $a/\Theta(y) \ge \alpha$  and  $\Phi(x, y) \ge \alpha$ . Since, by our assumption,  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable, it has a Mal'cev term p(u, v, w) such that the following equations are valid in  $\mathscr{K}$ 

$$p(u,u,w) \approx w \approx p(w,u,u)$$

Let us put  $b_1 = a, b_2 = y$  and  $b_3 = p(a, y, x)$ . Since we can write *a* as a = p(a, x, x) we have the following:

$$\Phi(a,b_3) = \Phi(p(a,x,x),p(a,y,x))$$
  
 $\geq \Phi(x,y)$   
 $\geq \alpha$ 

That is  $a/\Phi(b_3) \ge \alpha$ . If we put, for simplicity,  $\mu = (a/\Theta) \bigvee_a (a/\Phi)$ , then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy coset of *A* determined by *a* such that

$$\mu(b_1) \wedge \mu(b_2) \wedge \mu(b_3) \geq \alpha$$

Let us define a (2+3)-ary term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  by:

$$t(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, y_3) = p(p(x_1, y_1, x_2), p(x_1, y_2, x_2), y_3)$$

Then  $t(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, y_3)$  is a coset term in  $y_1, y_2, y_3$ . To verify this consider

$$t(x_1, x_2, y, y, y) = p(p(x_1, y, x_2), p(x_1, y, x_2), y) = y$$

Moreover, consider the following

$$t(a,x,b_1,b_2,b_3) = t(a,x,a,y,p(a,y,x))$$
$$= p(p(a,a,x),p(a,y,x),p(a,y,x))$$
$$= p(a,a,x)$$
$$= x$$

Since  $\mu$  is a fuzzy coset, we get

$$\mu(x) \ge \mu(b_1) \land \mu(b_2) \land \mu(b_3) \ge \alpha$$

Since  $\alpha = \Theta(a, y) \land \Phi(x, y)$  and y is arbitrary in A, we can conclude that

$$\mu(x) \ge \bigvee \{ \Theta(a, y) \land \Phi(x, y) : y \in A \}$$

Therefore  $a/(\Theta \lor \Phi) \le (a/\Theta) \bigvee_a (a/\Phi)$  and hence the equality holds. Conversely suppose that the map  $f_a : FCon(A) \to FC_a(A)$  defined by:

$$f_a(\Theta) = a/\Theta$$

is a lattice homomorphism. Then it follows from Lemma 6.4.3 and 6.4.4 that

$$a/(\Theta \lor \Phi) = a/(\Theta \circ \Phi) = a/\Theta \bigvee_a a/\Phi$$

for all  $a \in A$ ,  $\Theta$ ,  $\Phi \in FCon(A)$ . For any  $a, b \in A$ , consider

$$\Theta \lor \Phi(a,b) = a/(\Theta \lor \Phi)(b)$$
$$= a/(\Theta \circ \Phi)(b)$$
$$= \Theta \circ \Phi(a,b)$$

Therefore by Corollary 6.5.3,  $\mathcal{K}$  is congruence permutable.

**Theorem 6.5.5.** *The following are equivalent:* 

- 1.  $FL_a(A) = FC_a(A)$  for all  $a \in A$ .
- 2.  $FL_a(A)$  is a dual ideal of  $FC_a(A)$ .

*Proof.* It is known that every lattice is a dual ideal of it self. This makes trivial the proof of  $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$ . To prove  $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ , assume that  $FL_a(A)$  is a dual ideal of  $FC_a(A)$ . The inclusion

 $FL_a(A) \subseteq FC_a(A)$  is proved in Lemma 6.4.1. To prove the other inclusion let  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ . Consider the the zero fuzzy congruence  $0_A$  on A defined by:

$$0_A(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = y \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ . Since  $\mu(a) = 1$ , we have  $a/0_A \le \mu$ ; that is,  $a/0_A \in FL_a(A)$  and  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ such that  $a/0_A \le \mu$ . Since  $FL_a(A)$  is a dual ideal of  $FC_a(A)$ , we get  $\mu \in FL_a(A)$ . So  $FC_a(A) \subseteq FL_a(A)$  and hence the equality holds.

**Theorem 6.5.6.** If  $\mathcal{K}$  is congruence permutable, then

$$FL_a(A) = FC_a(A)$$

*Proof.* It is enough to show that  $FC_a(A) \subseteq FL_a(A)$ . Let  $\mu \in FC_a(A)$ . Claim. For each unary algebraic polynomial f(x) on A, we show that

$$\mu(x) \land \mu(y) \land \mu(f(x)) = \mu(x) \land \mu(y) \land \mu(f(y))$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ . Put

$$\alpha = \mu(x) \land \mu(y) \land \mu(f(x))$$

Then  $\alpha \le \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$  and  $\alpha \le \mu(f(x))$ . Let  $a_1, a_2, ..., a_n \in A$  and  $t(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n, y)$  be a term on *A* such that  $f(z) = t(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, z)$  for all  $z \in A$ . Since  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable, it has a Mal'cev term *p* as given in Theorem 6.5.4. Now let us define a term  $r(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n, y_1, y_2, y_3)$  by:

$$r(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n, y_1, y_2, y_3) = p(y_1, t(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n, y_2), t(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n, y_3))$$

Then it can be verified that  $r(\vec{x}, y_1, y_2, y_3)$  is a coset term in  $y_1, y_2, y_3$ . Moreover,

$$r(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, f(x), x, y) = p(f(x), p(t(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, x)), p(t(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, y)))$$
  
=  $p(f(x), f(x), f(y))$   
=  $f(y)$ 

Being  $\mu$  a fuzzy coset and  $r(\overrightarrow{x}, y_1, y_2, y_3)$  a coset term in  $y_1, y_2, y_3$ , we have the following:

$$\mu(f(y)) = \mu(r(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n, f(x), x, y))$$
$$\geq \mu(f(x)) \wedge \mu(x) \wedge \mu(y)$$
$$= \alpha$$

So that  $\mu(f(y)) \ge \alpha$ . Since  $\mu(x) \land \mu(y) \ge \alpha$ , we get  $\mu(f(y)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y) \ge \alpha$ ; that is,

$$\mu(f(y)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y) \ge \mu(f(x)) \land \mu(x) \land \mu(y)$$

The other inequality can be proved by interchanging *x* and *y*, and hence the equality holds. By Lemma 5.2.2,  $\mu \in FL_a(A)$  and this completes the proof.

**Theorem 6.5.7.** If for each  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$  there exists  $\Psi \in FCon(A)$  such that

$$a/\Theta \bigvee_{a} a/\Phi = a/\Psi$$

for all  $a \in A$ , then  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable.

*Proof.* Let  $\Theta, \Phi \in FCon(A)$ . Then there exists  $\Psi \in FCon(A)$  such that

$$a/\Theta \bigvee_a a/\Phi = a/\Psi$$

for all  $a \in A$ . Our aim is to show that  $\Psi = \Theta \circ \Phi$ . For any  $a, b \in A$  consider:

$$\begin{split} \Theta \circ \Phi(x,y) &= \bigvee \{ \Theta(x,a) \land \Phi(y,a) : a \in A \} \\ &= \bigvee \{ a / \Theta(x) \land a / \Phi(y) : a \in A \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ a / \Psi(x) \land a / \Psi(y) : a \in A \} \\ &= \bigvee \{ \Psi(x,a) \land \Psi(y,a) : a \in A \} \\ &\leq \Psi(x,y) \end{split}$$

Moreover,

$$\Psi(x,y) = y/\Psi(x)$$
  
=  $(y/\Theta \bigvee_{y} y/\Phi)(x)$   
 $\leq y/(\Theta \circ \Phi)(x)$  (By Lemma 6.4.3 and 6.4.4)  
=  $\Theta \circ \Phi(x,y)$ 

Therefore  $\Psi = \Theta \circ \Phi$ . Since  $a/\Theta \bigvee_a a/\Phi = a/\Phi \bigvee_a a/\Theta$ , we get  $\Theta \circ \Phi = \Phi \circ \Theta$ . Thus, by Theorem 6.5.2,  $\mathscr{K}$  is congruence permutable.

# **Chapter 7**

# *L*–Fuzzy Ideals and *L*–Fuzzy Congruences

# Introduction

Congruences turn out to be useful in order to construct a new, so-called quotient algebra, from a given one. This construction is an algebraic counterpart to a situation from real life known in science by the term "abstraction". In this process we neglect those properties of a given object which cannot be distinguished by a congruence and we form a new and rough structure having only those properties which have their origin in the structure of congruence classes. Fuzzy congruence relations and specifically fuzzy ideals are also important to construct quotient algebras analogous to crisp congruences. The main purpose of this chapter is to study quotient algebras induced by fuzzy ideals in ideal determined varieties.

In the first section, we deal with fuzzy congruence kernels which are fuzzy congruence classes determined by 0. It is observed that fuzzy congruence kernels are fuzzy ideals. But the converse does not holds in general. Section 2 is devoted to the study of those class of algebras in which every fuzzy ideal is a class of a unique fuzzy congruence relation. Finally, in section 3, we study the structure of quotient algebras induced by fuzzy ideals in ideal determined varieties.

# 7.1 Fuzzy Congruence Kernels

In some special cases it is not possible to characterize every class of every fuzzy congruence on *A* but sometimes it is possible to characterize the kernel (the so-called fuzzy congruence kernel).

**Definition 7.1.1.** An algebra with 0 is an algebra with a constant unary term 0. A variety with 0 is a variety with a constant unary term (equationally definable constant) 0.

This constant is usually denoted by 0. Sometimes it may also be denoted by 1 or another symbol.

**Definition 7.1.2.** Let *A* be an algebra with 0 and  $\Theta$  a fuzzy equivelence relation on *A*. Then  $0/\Theta$  is called the kernel of  $\Theta$ . A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of *A* is called a fuzzy congruence kernel if it is the kernel of some fuzzy congruence  $\Theta$  on *A*.

Lemma 7.1.3. Every fuzzy congruence kernel is fuzzy ideal.

*Proof.* Let  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ . Clearly  $0/\Theta(0) = 1$ . Let  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Then consider:

$$\begin{array}{lll} 0/\Theta(p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b})) &=& \Theta(0,p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b})) \\ &=& \Theta(p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{0}),p(\overrightarrow{a},\overrightarrow{b})) \\ &=& \Theta(p(a_1,a_2,...,a_n,0,0,...,0),p(a_1,a_2,...,a_n,b_1,b_2,...,b_m) \\ &\geq& \Theta(a_1,a_1)\wedge\ldots\wedge\Theta(a_n,a_n)\wedge\Theta(0,b_1)\wedge\ldots\wedge\Theta(0,b_m) \\ &=& \Theta(0,b_1)\wedge\ldots\wedge\Theta(0,b_m) \\ &=& 0/\Theta(b_1)\wedge\ldots\wedge0/\Theta(b_m) \end{array}$$

Therefore  $0/\Theta$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*.

**Remark.** But every fuzzy ideal is not in general the kernel of some fuzzy congruence relation. This is verified in the following example.

*Example* 7.1.4. Let  $A = \{0, a, b, c, 1\}$  be the lattice given in the following diagram:



Let *L* be the real interval [0, 1] and  $\mu$  be an *L*-fuzzy subset of *A* defined by:

$$\mu(0) = 1, \mu(a) = 0.7$$
 and  $\mu(b) = \mu(c) = \mu(1) = 0.4$ 

Then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*. Suppose if possible that  $\mu$  is a kernel of some fuzzy congruence  $\Theta$  on *A*, i.e.,  $\mu = 0/\Theta$ . Now consider the following:

$$\mu(c) = \Theta(0,c)$$

$$\geq \Theta(1,b)$$

$$\geq \Theta(0,a)$$

$$= \mu(a)$$

This is a contradiction. Thus  $\mu$  is not a kernel of any fuzzy congruence on A.

**Definition 7.1.5.** An algebra with 0 is called permutable at 0 if  $(\theta \circ \phi)[0] = (\phi \circ \theta)[0]$  for each of its congruences  $\theta, \phi$ . A class of algebras with 0 is called permutable at 0 if each of its members has this property.

It can be easily verified that *A* is permutable at 0 if and only if  $0/(\Theta \circ \Phi) = 0/(\Phi \circ \Theta)$  for each of its fuzzy congruences  $\Theta, \Phi$ .

The following characterization was developed by H.-P. Gumm and A. Ursini [79] :

**Theorem 7.1.6.** A variety with 0 is permutable at 0 if and only if there exists a binary term t with

$$t(x,x) = 0 \text{ and } t(x,0) = x$$

**Definition 7.1.7.** The term t occurring in Theorem 7.1.6 is called subtractive term (or the difference term).

For any nonnegative integer *n* and every  $s \in T_{n+1}$  let  $w_s$  denote the (n+3)-ary term defined by

$$w_s(x_1,...,x_{n+3}) = t(s(x_{n+1},x_1,...,x_n),t(s(x_{n+2},x_1,...,x_n),x_{n+3}))$$

**Theorem 7.1.8.** Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be a permutable at 0 variety,  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . A fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of A is a fuzzy congruence kernel if and only if the following conditions hold:

- *1.*  $\mu(0) = 1$  and
- 2. for every  $s \in T_{n+1}$ ,  $\mu$  is  $\overrightarrow{y}$ -closed under the term  $w_s(x_1, \dots, x_n, y_1, y_2, y_3)$ , i.e.,

$$\mu(w_s(x_1,...,x_n,y_1,y_2,y_3)) \ge \mu(y_1) \land \mu(y_2) \land \mu(y_3)$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mu = 0/\Theta$  for some  $\Theta \in FCon(A)$ . Clearly,  $\mu(0) = 1$  (proving (1)). First observe that

$$w_s(x_1,...,x_n,0,0,0) = t(s(0,x_1,...,x_n),t(s(0,x_1,...,x_n),0))$$
  
=  $t(s(0,x_1,...,x_n),s(0,x_1,...,x_n))$   
=  $0$ 

Now consider the following:

$$\mu((w_s(x_1,...,x_n,y_1,y_2,y_3))) = \Theta(0,w_s(x_1,...,x_n,y_1,y_2,y_3)))$$

$$= \Theta(w_s(x_1,...,x_n,0,0,0),w_s(x_1,...,x_n,y_1,y_2,y_3))$$

$$\ge \Theta(x_1,x_1) \wedge ... \wedge \Theta(x_n,x_n) \wedge \Theta(0,y_1) \wedge \Theta(0,y_2) \wedge \Theta(0,y_3)$$

$$= \mu(y_1) \wedge \mu(y_2) \wedge \mu(y_3)$$

proving (2). Conversely, suppose that  $\mu$  satisfies the conditions (1) and (2). We show that  $\mu$  satisfies the condition of Lemma 5.2.2. Let  $a, b \in A$  and  $p \in P_1(A)$ . Then there exist an  $n \in Z^+, s \in T_{n+1}$  and  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  such that

$$p(x) = s(x, a_1, \dots, a_n)$$
 for all  $x \in A$ 

By the property of the difference term *t*, we have the following:

$$p(b) = t(p(b), 0)$$
  
=  $t(p(b), t(p(a), p(a)))$   
=  $t(s(b, a_1, ..., a_n), t(s(a, a_1, ..., a_n), p(a)))$   
=  $w_s(a_1, ..., a_n, b, a, p(a))$ 

By (2), it follows that

$$\mu(p(b)) \ge \mu(a) \land \mu(b) \land \mu(p(a))$$

which implies that

$$\mu(a) \wedge \mu(b) \wedge \mu(p(b)) \geq \mu(a) \wedge \mu(b) \wedge \mu(p(a))$$

Similarly, by interchanging *a* and *b*, we get

$$\mu(a) \land \mu(b) \land \mu(p(a)) \ge \mu(a) \land \mu(b) \land \mu(p(b))$$

Hence the equality holds. By Lemma 5.2.2,  $\mu$  is a class of some fuzzy congruence  $\Theta$  on A and since  $\mu(0) = 1$  it holds that

$$\mu = 0/\Theta$$

Hence proved.

**Lemma 7.1.9.** In a permutable at 0 variety, every fuzzy ideal is a kernel of some fuzzy congruence relation.

**Theorem 7.1.10.** Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be a permutable variety with 0 and  $\mu$  a fuzzy subset of A with  $\mu(0) = 1$ . Define a fuzzy relation  $\Theta_{\mu}$  of A by:

$$\Theta_{\mu}(x,y) = \mu(p(x,y,0))$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ , where p is the Mal'cev term.

1.  $\Theta_{\mu} \in FCon(A)$  if and only if for every  $m \in Z^+$ ,  $f \in \mathfrak{F}_m$  and all  $a_1, ..., a_m, b_1, ..., b_m \in A$ , it holds that:

$$\mu(f^{A}(a_{1},...,a_{m}),f^{A}(b_{1},...,b_{m})) \geq \mu(p(a_{1},b_{1},0)) \wedge ... \wedge \mu(p(a_{m},b_{m},0))$$

2. If  $\Theta_{\mu} \in FCon(A)$ , then it is the largest fuzzy congruence on A with kernel  $\mu$ .

*Proof.* 1. If  $\Theta_{\mu} \in FCon(A)$ , then by the substitution property of  $\Theta_{\mu}$  the condition holds. If, conversely,  $\mu$  sitisfies the condition of the theorem, the  $\Theta_{\mu}$  compatible. It is also clear that  $\Theta_{\mu}$  is reflexive, i.e.,  $\Theta_{\mu}$  is a reflexive and compatible fuzzy relation on *A*. Since  $\mathscr{K}$  is permutable, it follows from Theorem 5.3.6 that  $\Theta_{\mu} \in FCon(A)$ .

2. Suppose that  $\Theta_{\mu} \in FCon(A)$ . First for each  $x \in A$  observe that,

$$\mu(x) = \mu(p(x,0,0))$$
$$= \Theta_{\mu}(x,0)$$
$$= 0/\Theta_{\mu}(x)$$

So that  $\mu$  is the kernel of  $\Theta_{\mu}$ . Now let  $\Phi$  be any other fuzzy congruence on A with kernel  $\mu$ , i.e.,  $\mu = 0/\Phi$ . For any  $a, b \in A$ 

$$\Theta_{\mu}(a,b) = \mu(p(a,b,0))$$
  
=  $0/\Phi(p(a,b,0))$   
=  $\Phi(0,p(a,b,0))$   
=  $\Phi(p(a,a,0),p(a,b,0))$   
 $\geq \Phi(a,b)$ 

Thus  $\Theta_{\mu}$  is the largest fuzzy congruence on A with kernel  $\mu$ .

*Example* 7.1.11. In the variety of pseudo-complemented semi lattices, fuzzy congruence kernels are characterized in [28].

# 7.2 Ideal Determined Varieties

In groups (resp. rings) it is well known that congruence relations are in one-to-one correspondence with normal subgroups (resp. ideals). Where as, this correspondence does not holds in lattices. it is proved by M. Samhan in [137] that there is a one-to-one correspondence between fuzzy normal subgroups (resp. fuzzy ideals) and fuzzy congruences of a group (resp. a ring). In this section, we study those class of algebras for which fuzzy ideals and fuzzy congruence relations are in one-to-one correspondence. Such a class of algebras is called ideal determined
variety.

**Theorem 7.2.1.** If  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A and  $\Theta$  a fuzzy congruence on A, then  $\mu/\Theta$  is a fuzzy ideal of A, where  $\mu/\Theta$  is as given in Definition 5.2.1.

*Proof.* Let  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$ ,  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$  and  $p(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  be an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . Consider

$$\begin{aligned} (\mu/\Theta)^{m}(\overrightarrow{b}) &= \bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \mu/\Theta(b_{i}) \\ &= \bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \bigvee \{\mu(x_{i}) \land \Theta(x_{i}, b_{i}) : x_{i} \in A\} \\ &= \bigvee \{\left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \mu(x_{i})\right) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \Theta(x_{i}, b_{i})\right) : x_{1}, \dots, x_{m} \in A\} \\ &= \bigvee \{(\mu^{m}(\overrightarrow{x})) \land \left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \Theta(x_{i}, b_{i})\right) : x_{1}, \dots, x_{m} \in A\} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{\mu(p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{x})) \land \Theta(p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{x}), p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) : \overrightarrow{x} \in A^{m}\} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{\mu(y) \land \Theta(y, p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) : y \in A\} \\ &= \mu/\Theta(p(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b})) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore  $\mu/\Theta$  is a fuzzy ideal of *A*.

**Definition 7.2.2.** [79] A class  $\mathscr{K}$  of algebras is called an ideal determined if every ideal *I* is the zero congruence class of a unique congruence relation denoted by  $I^{\delta}$ . In this case the map  $I \mapsto I^{\delta}$  defines an isomorphism between the lattice of ideals and congruences on *A*.

**Theorem 7.2.3.** A class  $\mathscr{K}$  of algebras is an ideal determined if and only if every fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  is the zero fuzzy congruence class of a unique fuzzy congruence relation denoted by  $\Theta^{\mu}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\mathscr{K}$  is an ideal determined variety. Let  $\mu$  be any fuzzy ideal of A. Then  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of A for all  $\alpha \in L$ ; that is, for each  $\alpha \in L$ , there is a unique congruence relation on A denoted by  $(\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}$  for which  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is its zero congruence class. Now define a fuzzy relation  $\Theta^{\mu}$  on A as follows:

$$\Theta^{\mu}(x,y) = \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} \}$$

for all  $x, y \in A$ . We first show that  $\Theta^{\mu}$  is a fuzzy congruence relation on *A*. Clearly it is reflexive and symmetric. To show that  $\Theta^{\mu}$  is transitive consider:

$$\begin{split} \Theta^{\mu}(x,y) \wedge \Theta^{\mu}(y,z) &= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,y) \in (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} \} \wedge \bigvee \{ \beta \in L : (y,z) \in (\mu_{\beta})^{\delta} \} \\ &= \bigvee \{ \alpha \wedge \beta : (x,y) \in (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}, (y,z) \in (\mu_{\beta})^{\delta} \} \end{split}$$

If we put  $\gamma = \alpha \land \beta$ , then we get  $\mu_{\alpha} \subseteq \mu_{\gamma}$  and  $\mu_{\beta} \subseteq \mu_{\gamma}$ . It follows from the fact  $I \subseteq J \Rightarrow I^{\delta} \subseteq J^{\delta}$  that  $(\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} \subseteq (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} \Theta^{\mu}(x,y) \wedge \Theta^{\mu}(y,z) &= \bigvee \{ \alpha \wedge \beta : (x,y) \in (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}, (y,z) \in (\mu_{\beta})^{\delta} \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ \gamma : (x,y), (y,z) \in (\mu_{\gamma})^{\delta} \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ \gamma : (x,z) \in (\mu_{\gamma})^{\delta} \} \\ &= \Theta^{\mu}(x,z) \end{split}$$

Therefore it is transitive and hence it is a fuzzy equivalence relation. Let  $x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n \in A$ and *f* be an *n*-ary operation. Then

$$\begin{split} \bigwedge \{ \Theta^{\mu}(x_i, y_i) : 1 \le i \le n \} &= \bigwedge \{ \bigvee \{ \alpha_i \in L : (x_i, y_i) \in (\mu_{\alpha_i})^{\delta} \} : 1 \le i \le n \} \\ &= \bigvee \{ \bigwedge \{ \alpha_i \in L : 1 \le i \le n \} : (x_i, y_i) \in (\mu_{\alpha_i})^{\delta} \} \end{split}$$

If we put  $\gamma = Inf\{\alpha_i \in L : 1 \le i \le n\}$ , then we get  $\mu_{\alpha_i} \subseteq \mu_{\gamma}$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n which implies that  $(\mu_{\alpha_i})^{\delta} \subseteq (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. Thus,

$$\begin{split} \bigwedge \{ \Theta^{\mu}(x_{i}, y_{i}) : 1 \leq i \leq n \} &= \bigvee \{ \bigwedge \{ \alpha_{i} \in L : 1 \leq i \leq n \} : (x_{i}, y_{i}) \in (\mu_{\alpha_{i}})^{\delta} \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ \gamma \in L : (x_{i}, y_{i}) \in (\mu_{\gamma})^{\delta}, \forall i = 1, 2, ..., n \} \\ &\leq \bigvee \{ \gamma \in L : (f(x_{1}, ..., x_{n}), f(y_{1}, ..., y_{n})) \in (\mu_{\gamma})^{\delta} \} \\ &= \Theta^{\mu}(f(x_{1}, ..., x_{n}), f(y_{1}, ..., y_{n})) \end{split}$$

Therefore  $\Theta^{\mu}$  is a fuzzy congruence relation on *A*. Now, we show that the kernel of  $\Theta^{\mu}$  is precisely  $\mu$ ; for,

$$0/\Theta^{\mu}(x) = \Theta^{\mu}(x,0)$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (x,0) \in (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} \}$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} [x] = (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} [0] \}$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta} [x] = \mu_{\alpha} \}$$

$$= \bigvee \{ \alpha \in L : x \in \mu_{\alpha} \}$$

$$= \mu(x)$$

To prove the uniqueness of such a fuzzy congruence, let us take any fuzzy congruence  $\Phi$  on A for which  $0/\Phi = \mu$ . Then  $\Phi_{\alpha}[0] = \mu_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$ ; that is,  $\mu_{\alpha}$  is kernel of the congruence relation  $\Phi_{\alpha}$ . By the uniqueness of the congruence  $(\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}$  we get  $\Phi_{\alpha} = (\mu_{\alpha})^{\delta}$  for all  $\alpha \in L$  and hence  $\Phi = \Theta^{\mu}$ . Therefore  $\Theta^{\mu}$  is the unique fuzzy congruence on A for which  $0/\Theta^{\mu} = \mu$ . In this case, the map  $\mu \mapsto \Theta^{\mu}$  defines an order isomorphism between the lattice of fuzzy ideals and the lattice of fuzzy congruence relations on A. We see from Corollary 2.3.4 that every ideal of A can be identified as a fuzzy ideal by its characteristic mapping. This proofs the converse part.

**Lemma 7.2.4.** If  $\mathscr{K}$  is ideal determined and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ , then

$$\mu/\Theta = \mu \lor 0/\Theta$$

*Proof.* Let us first see that  $\mu/\Theta$  contains both  $\mu$  and  $0/\Theta$ . For each  $x \in A$ , consider

$$\mu/\Theta(x) = \bigvee \{\mu(y) \land \Theta(y, x) : y \in A\}$$
  
 
$$\geq \mu(y) \land \Theta(y, x) \text{ for all } y \in A$$

In particular for y = x; that is,  $\mu/\Theta(x) \ge \mu(x)$ . So that  $\mu \le \mu/\Theta$ . Also, if we take y = 0 we get

 $\mu/\Theta(x) \ge \Theta(0,x) = 0/\Theta(x)$  and hence  $0/\Theta \le \mu/\Theta$ . Thus  $\mu \lor 0/\Theta \le \mu/\Theta$ . To prove the other inequality, let us put  $\lambda = \mu \cup 0/\Theta$ . Then  $\lambda$  is a fuzzy subset of *A* such that  $\langle \lambda \rangle = \mu \lor 0/\Theta$ . For each  $x \in A$ , it follows from Theorem 2.3.8 that

$$\langle \lambda \rangle(x) = \bigvee \{ \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x \text{ where} \\ \overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y}) \text{ is an ideal term in } \overrightarrow{y} \}$$

Since  $\mu, \mu/\Theta$  and  $\Theta_0$  are all fuzzy ideals we have

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}/\boldsymbol{\Theta}(0) = 1 = (\boldsymbol{\mu} \vee \boldsymbol{0}/\boldsymbol{\Theta})(0)$$

For each  $0 \neq x \in A$ , let us define two sets  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  as follows:

$$H_x = \{\lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b}) : \overrightarrow{b} \in A^m, P(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x$$
  
where  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n, P(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}\}$   
$$G_x = \{\mu(y) \land \Theta(y, x) : y \in A\}$$

Clearly both  $H_x$  and  $G_x$  are subsets of L. Our claim is to see that:  $\forall H_x \leq \forall G_x$ . Let  $\alpha \in H_x$ . Then  $\alpha = \lambda^m(\overrightarrow{b})$ , for some  $\overrightarrow{b} \in A^m$ , such that  $t(\overrightarrow{a}, \overrightarrow{b}) = x$  for some  $\overrightarrow{a} \in A^n$  where  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, \overrightarrow{y})$  is an ideal term in  $\overrightarrow{y}$ . That is,  $b_1, ..., b_m \in \lambda_\alpha = \mu_\alpha \cup (\Theta_0)_\alpha$ . Without loss of generality we can assume that  $b_1, ..., b_k \in \mu_\alpha$  and  $b_{k+1}, ..., b_m \in (0/\Theta)_\alpha$ . So we have

$$\mu(b_1) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mu(b_k) \geq \alpha$$
 and  $\Theta(b_{k+1}, 0) \wedge \ldots \wedge \Theta(b_m, 0) \geq \alpha$ 

Let us put  $y = t(\vec{a}, b_1, ..., b_k, 0, 0, ..., 0)$ . Then

$$\mu(y) \ge \mu(b_1) \land \ldots \land \mu(b_k) \ge \alpha \text{ and } \Theta(x, y) \ge \Theta(b_{k+1}, 0) \land \ldots \land \Theta(b_m, 0) \ge \alpha$$

If we put  $\beta = \mu(y) \land \Theta(x, y)$ , then  $\beta \in G_x$  such that  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . This confirms that  $\lor H_x \leq \lor G_x$  for all  $x \in A$ . Therefore  $\mu/\Theta = \mu \lor \Theta_0$ .

If  $\mathscr{K}$  is an ideal determined class of algebras, then the supremum of two fuzzy ideals is easy to describe. This could be done in the following way. If  $\mu$  and v are fuzzy ideals of  $A \in \mathscr{K}$  and  $\Theta^{v}$  is the unique fuzzy congruence on A for which  $v = (\Theta^{v})_{0}$ , then Lemma 7.2.4 confirms that  $\Theta^{v}[\mu]$  is the supremum of  $\mu$  and v.

It is proved by the use of Mal'cev condition in [79] that a class  $\mathcal{K}$  of algebras is an ideal determined if and only if for some positive integer *m*, there are binary terms  $d_1, d_2, ..., d_m, d_{m+1}$  such that:

$$d_1(y,z) = d_2(y,z) =, ..., = d_m(y,z) = 0 \Rightarrow y = z$$
 and  
 $d_{m+1}(y,y) = 0, \quad d_{m+1}(0,y) = y$ 

In this case for an ideal *I* the congruence  $I^{\delta}$  is characterized as follows:

$$I^{\diamond} = \{(a,b) \in A \times A : d_i(a,b) \in I, \text{ for all } 1 \le i \le m\}$$

Similarly for a fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of *A* we characterize the unique fuzzy congruence  $\Theta^{\mu}$  of *A* as follows:

$$\Theta^{\mu}(a,b) = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \mu(d_i(a,b))$$

## 7.3 Quotient Algebra Induced by Fuzzy Ideals

The various constructions of quotient groups and quotient rings by fuzzy subgroups and fuzzy ideals respectively was done by different scholars (see [2, 105, 101, 114, 115, 127, 163]). More generally, quotient algebras of a given type induced by fuzzy congruences were studied in [139] and [134]. In this section, we study quotient algebras induced by fuzzy ideals in ideal determined varieties. We begin by defining quotient algebras induced by fuzzy congruence

relations. Given a fuzzy congruence relation  $\Theta$  on A and  $x \in A$ , consider the fuzzy congruence class  $\Theta_x$  of A determined by  $\Theta$  and x.

**Lemma 7.3.1.** Let  $\Theta$  be a fuzzy congruence on A. For any  $x, y \in A$ , the following hold:

- *1.*  $x/\Theta = y/\Theta$  *if and only if*  $\Theta(x, y) = 1$ .
- 2. either  $x/\Theta = y/\Theta$  or there exists  $\alpha \in L \{1\}$  such that

$$x/\Theta \cap y/\Theta \leq \alpha$$

**Definition 7.3.2.** Let us define a set  $A/\Theta$  by:

$$A/\Theta = \{x/\Theta : x \in A\}$$

Then  $A/\Theta$  can be made into an algebra of the same type as A in the following way: If  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  is nullary, then

$$f^{A/\Theta} = f^A/\Theta$$

If  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  is n-ary, n > 0 and  $a_1, \dots, a_n \in A$ , then

$$f^{A/\Theta}(a_1/\Theta,...,a_n/\Theta) = f^A(a_1,...,a_n)/\Theta$$

**Theorem 7.3.3.** Let  $\Theta$  be a fuzzy congruence on A. If  $\Theta_*$  denotes the level relation:

$$\Theta_* = \{(x, y) \in A \times A : \Theta(x, y) = 1\}$$

Then it is clear that  $\Theta_*$  is a congruence relation (crisp) on A. Moreover,

$$A/\Theta \cong A/\Theta_*$$

*Proof.* Define  $h: A/\Theta \to A/\Theta_*$  by

$$h(x/\Theta) = \Theta_*[x]$$

for all  $x \in A$ . We first show that *h* is well defined. Let  $x, y \in A$  such that  $x/\Theta = y/\Theta$ . Then by (1) of Lemma 7.3.1,  $\Theta(x, y) = 1$ , which gives  $(x, y) \in \Theta_*$ ; i.e.,  $\Theta_*[x] = \Theta_*[y]$  and hence *h* is well defined. To show that *h* is a homomorphism, let  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  be *n*-ary, n > 0 and  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$ . Then consider:

$$h(f^{A/\Theta}(a_1/\Theta, ..., a_n/\Theta)) = h(f^A(a_1, ..., a_n)/\Theta)$$
  
$$= \Theta_*[f^A(a_1, ..., a_n)]$$
  
$$= f^{A/\Theta_*}(\Theta_*[a_1], ..., \Theta_*[a_n])$$
  
$$= f^{A/\Theta_*}(h(a_1/\Theta), ..., h(a_n/\Theta))$$

Thus *h* is a homomorphism. It is also clear that *h* is surjective. It remains to show that *h* is injective. Let  $x, y \in A$  such that  $\Theta_*[x] = \Theta_*[y]$ . Then  $(x, y) \in \Theta_*$  which means  $\Theta(x, y) = 1$ . By Lemma 7.3.1, we get that  $x/\Theta = y/\Theta$ , i.e., *h* is injective and hence it is an isomorphism.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 7.3.4.** Let  $\Theta$  be a fuzzy congruence on A and  $A/\Theta$  its quotient. For any  $x, y \in A$ , the following hold in  $A/\Theta$ :

- *1.*  $\langle x/\Theta \rangle = \{z/\Theta : z \in \langle x \rangle\}$
- 2.  $[x/\Theta, y/\Theta] = \{z/\Theta : z \in [x, y]\}$

*Proof.* 1. Let us define two sets *G* and *H* as follows

$$G = \langle x / \Theta \rangle$$
$$H = \{ z / \Theta : z \in \langle x \rangle \}$$

Our aim is to show that G = H. Let  $a/\Theta \in G$ . Then there exist  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  and an (n+1)-ary ideal term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, y)$  in y such that

$$a/\Theta = t^{A/\Theta}(a_1/\Theta, ..., a_n/\Theta, x/\Theta)$$
  
=  $t^A(a_1, ..., a_1, x)/\Theta$ 

If we put  $b = t^A(a_1, ..., a_n, x)$ , then  $b \in \langle x \rangle$  such that  $a/\Theta = b/\Theta$ . Thus  $\Theta_a \in H$  and hence  $G \subseteq H$ . Conversely, let  $a/\Theta \in H$ . Then  $a/\Theta = b/\Theta$  for some  $b \in \langle x \rangle$ . There exist  $b_1, ..., b_n \in A$  and an (n+1)-ary ideal term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, y)$  in y such that  $b = t^A(b_1, ..., b_n, x)$ . Now consider the following:

$$a/\Theta = b/\Theta$$
  
=  $t^A(b_1,...,b_n,x)/\Theta$   
=  $t^{A/\Theta}(b_1/\Theta,...,b_n/\Theta,x/\Theta)$ 

Mean that  $a/\Theta \in \langle x/\Theta \rangle$ ; i.e.,  $H \subseteq G$  and hence the equality holds.

2. Let us define two sets G and H as follows

$$G = [x/\Theta, y/\Theta]$$
$$H = \{z/\Theta : z \in [x, y]\}$$

Our aim is to show that G = H. Let  $a/\Theta \in G$ . Then there exist  $a_1, ..., a_n \in A$  and an (n+1+1)-ary commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, y, z)$  in y, z such that

$$a/\Theta = t^{A/\Theta}(a_1/\Theta, ..., a_n/\Theta, x/\Theta, y/\Theta)$$
$$= \Theta_{t^A(a_1, ..., a_n, x, y)}$$

If we put  $b = t^A(a_1, ..., a_n, x, y)$ , then  $b \in [x, y]$  such that  $a/\Theta = b/\Theta$ . Thus  $a/\Theta \in H$  and

hence  $G \subseteq H$ . Conversely, let  $a/\Theta \in H$ . Then  $a/\Theta = b/\Theta$  for some  $b \in [x, y]$ . There exist  $b_1, ..., b_n \in A$  and an (n + 1 + 1)-ary commutator term  $t(\overrightarrow{x}, y, z)$  in y, z such that  $b = t^A(b_1, ..., b_n, x, y)$ . Now consider the following:

$$a/\Theta = b/\Theta$$
  
=  $t^{A}(b_{1},...,b_{n},x,y)/\Theta$   
=  $t^{A/\Theta}(b_{1}/\Theta,...,b_{n}/\Theta,x/\Theta,y/\Theta)$ 

Mean that  $a/\Theta \in [x/\Theta, y/\Theta]$ ; i.e.,  $H \subseteq G$  and hence the equality holds.

Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be an ideal determined variety and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . As observed in the previous section, each fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A is the zero fuzzy congruence class of the unique fuzzy congruence relation on A denoted by  $\Theta^{\mu}$ .

**Definition 7.3.5.** Let  $\mathscr{K}$  be an ideal determined variety and  $A \in \mathscr{K}$ . For a fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of A,  $A/\mu$  denotes the quotient algebra of A induced by the fuzzy congruence  $\Theta^{\mu}$  and call it the quotient algebra of A induced by  $\mu$ .

For a fuzzy ideal  $\mu$  of *A* and each  $x \in A$ , we define  $\mu_x$  to be the fuzzy congruence class of  $\Theta^{\mu}$  determined by *x*. So that we have the following.

**Lemma 7.3.6.** Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy ideal of  $A \in \mathcal{K}$  and  $x, y \in A$ . If  $\mathcal{K}$  is an ideal determined, then the following hold:

- 1.  $\mu_x = \mu_y$  if and only if  $\Theta^{\mu}(x, y) = 1$  if and only if  $\mu(d_i(x, y)) = 1$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., m + 1, where  $d_i$ 's are those binary terms given in the previous section.
- 2. either  $\mu_x = \mu_y$  or there exists  $\alpha \in L \{1\}$  such that

$$\mu_x \cap \mu_y \leq \alpha$$

Analogous to Theorem 7.3.3 we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 7.3.7.** Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy ideal of  $A \in \mathcal{K}$ . If  $\mu_*$  denotes the level set:

$$\mu_* = \{ x \in A : \mu_x = \mu_0 \}$$

Then it is clear that  $\mu_*$  is an ideal of A. Moreover,

$$A/\mu\cong A/\mu_*$$

*Proof.* The proof follows from Theorem 7.3.3.

Our attention now turns to characterize fuzzy prime ideals using their quotient structure. Let us first define an important concept.

**Definition 7.3.8.** [149] For any  $B \in \mathcal{K}$ , define

$$D(B) = \bigcup_{0 \neq y \in A} ((y) : (0))$$

where for each  $y \in A$  and  $I \in I(A)$ ,

$$(\langle y \rangle : I) = \{ x \in L : [x, y] \subseteq I \}$$

**Theorem 7.3.9.** If  $\mu$  is a fuzzy prime ideal of A, then

$$D(A/\mu) = (0)$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mu_x \in D(A/\mu)$ . Then  $\mu_x \in (\langle \mu_y \rangle : \langle \mu_0 \rangle)$  for some  $y \in A$  with  $\mu_y \neq \mu_0$ , i.e.,  $[\mu_x, \mu_y] = \langle \mu_0 \rangle$ . By (2) of Lemma 7.3.4

$$\{\mu_z : z \in [x, y]\} = \{\mu_0\}$$

which gives that  $\mu_z = \mu_0$  for all  $z \in [x, y]$ , i.e.,

$$\Theta^{\mu}(z,0) = 1$$
 for all  $z \in [x,y]$ 

which is equivalent to

$$\bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} \mu(d_i(z,0)) = 1 \text{ for all } z \in [x,y]$$

Since  $d_m(z,0) = z$ , we get  $\mu(z) = 1$  for all  $z \in [x,y]$ , i.e.  $[x,y] \subseteq \mu_*$ . Since  $\mu_*$  is prime either  $x \in \mu_*$  or  $y \in \mu_*$ . So that either  $\mu(x) = 1$  or  $\mu(y) = 1$ , which gives either  $\mu_x = \mu_0$  or  $\mu_y = \mu_0$ . Since  $\mu_y = \mu_0$  is impossible, we get  $\mu_x = \mu_0$  (the zero element in  $D(A/\mu)$ ). Therefore  $D(A/\mu) = (0)$ .

**Theorem 7.3.10.** Suppose that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy ideal of A such that  $Img(\mu) = \{1, \alpha\}$  where  $\alpha$  is a prime element in L. If  $D(A/\mu) = (0)$ , then  $\mu$  is fuzzy prime.

*Proof.* By Theorem 3.2.3, it is enough to show that  $\mu_* = \{x \in A : \mu(x) = 1\}$  is a prime ideal of *A*. Clearly it is a proper ideal. Let  $a, b \in A$  such that  $[a,b] \subseteq \mu_*$ . Then  $\mu(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in [a,b]$ . Then  $\mu(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in [a,b]$ , i.e.,  $\mu_x = \mu_0$  for all  $x \in [a,b]$ . By (2) of Lemma 7.3.4

$$[\boldsymbol{\mu}_a, \boldsymbol{\mu}_b] = \{\boldsymbol{\mu}_x : x \in [a, b]\} \subseteq \langle \boldsymbol{\mu}_0 \rangle$$

Then by our assumption either  $\mu_a = \mu_0$  or  $\mu_b = \mu_0$ , which is equivalent to that either  $a \in \mu_*$  or  $b \in \mu_*$ . Thus  $\mu_*$  is prime and hence proved.

## **Conclusion and further recomendations**

The notion of fuzzy ideals of universal algebras is introduced as a common abstraction to most of the existing theories of fuzzy ideals in different algebraic structures by applying the general theory of algebraic fuzzy systems. In this setting, basic concepts that are connected to ideals like the generator, the commutator, primeness, semi-primeness, the prime spectrum, maximality and the radical are extended to the class of fuzzy ideals in universal algebras. On the other hand, fuzzy congruence relations and their classes in universal algebras are studied in the dissertation. Several Mal'cev type characterizations are given for fuzzy congruence classes in general algebraic structures. Special fuzzy congruence classes called fuzzy congruence kernels are also studied in different algebraic structures. Furthermore, the structure of quotient algebras induced by fuzzy ideals is studied in ideal determined varieties. In addition, the notion fuzzy cosets in universal algebras is introduced as a generalization of fuzzy ideals ang fuzzy congruence classes. This notion is applied to characterize those congruence permutable varieties.

It is under investigation by the author to extend the notion of relative annihilators, annihilator ideals,  $\alpha$ -ideals and deductive systems in universal algebras to the fuzzy setting.

## **Bibliography**

- [1] S. Abou-Zaid, On fuzzy subgroups, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 55 (1993) 237-240.
- [2] S. Abou-Zaid, On fuzzy ideals and fuzzy quotient rings of a ring, Fuzzy Sets and Systems,
   59 17-25.
- [3] U. Acar, On L-fuzzy prime submodules, Hacet. J. Math. Stat., 34(2005) 17-25.
- [4] G. M. Addis, *Fuzzy homomorphism theorems on groups*, Korean J. Math., 26 (2018), 373-385.
- [5] G. M. Addis, D. A. Engidaw and T. G. Alemayehu, *Fuzzy action of fuzzy groups on a set*, Quasigroups and Related Systems, 26 (2018), 155-164.
- [6] P. Agliano, Prime spectra in modular varieties, Algebra Universalis, 30 (1993) 581-597.
- [7] P. Agliano, *The prime spectrum of a universal algebra*, Rivista di Mat. Pura ed AppL, 4 (1989), 83-91.
- [8] P. Agliano and A. Ursini, Cosets in universal algebra, J. of Algebra, 107 (1987), 376-384.
- [9] P. Agliano and A. Ursini, *Ideals and other generalizations of congruence classes*, J. Austral. Math. Soc., 53 (1992), 103-115.
- [10] P. Agliano and A. Ursini, *On some ideal basis theorems*, Rapporto Matematico n.182, Universita di Siena (1988).
- [11] P. Agliano and A. Ursini, On subtractive varieties II: General properties, Algebra Universalis, 36 (1996), 222-259.

- [12] P. Agliano and A. Ursini, On subtractive varieties III: From ideals to congruences, Algebra Universalis, 37 (1997), 296-333.
- [13] P. Agliano and A. Ursini, On subtractive varieties IV: Definability of principal ideals, Algebra Universalis, 38 (1997), 355-389.
- [14] N. Ajmal and A. S. Prajapati, *Fuzzy cosets and fuzzy normal subgroups*, Inform. Sci, 64 (1992) 237-240.
- [15] N. Ajmal and K. V. Thomas, *Fuzzy lattices*, Inform. Sci, **79** (1994) 271-291.
- [16] M. Akgül, Some properties of fuzzy groups, J. Math. Anal. Appl, 133 (1988) 93-100. 29.
- [17] B. A. Alaba and G. M. Addis, *L–Fuzzy ideals in universal algebras*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform., 17(1), (2019) 31-39.
- [18] B. A. Alaba and G. M. Addis, *L–Fuzzy prime ideals in universal algebras*, Advances in Fuzzy Systems, Vol. 2019, Article ID 5925036, 7 pages, 2019.
- [19] B. A. Alaba and G. M. Addis, *L–Fuzzy semi-prime ideals in universal algebras*, Korean J. Math., 27(2), (2019), 327-340.
- [20] B. A. Alaba, M. A. Taye and G. M. Addis, *Homomorphisms and L-fuzzy ideals in universal algebras*, Int. J. Fuzzy Math. Archive, 17(1) (2019) 1-12.
- [21] B. A. Alaba and G. M. Addis, *Fuzzy congruence relations on almost distributive lattices*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform., 14(3), (2017) 315-330.
- [22] B.A Alaba and T.G. Alemayehu, *Closure Fuzzy Ideals of MS-algebras*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform., 16, (2018) 247-260.
- [23] B.A Alaba and T.G. Alemayehu, *Fuzzy Ideals in Demipseudocomplemented MS-algebras*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform., 18, (2019) 123-143.
- [24] B.A Alaba and T.G. Alemayehu,  $\beta$ -Fuzzy Filters of MSalgebras, Korean J. Math., 27 (2019), 595–612.

- [25] B.A Alaba and T.G. Alemayehu, *e–Fuzzy Filters of MS-algebras*, Korean J. Math., (To appear).
- [26] B. A. Alaba and W. Z. Norahun, *Fuzzy annihilator ideals in distributive lattices*, Ann.Fuzzy Math. Inform. 16 (2018), 191-200.
- [27] B. A. Alaba and W. Z. Norahun, α-fuzzy ideals and space of prime a-fuzzy ideals in distributive lattices, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 17 (2019), 147-163.
- [28] B. A. Alaba and W. Z. Norahun, Fuzzy ideals and fuzzy filters of pseudo-complemented semilattices, Advances in Fuzzy Systems, vol. 2019, Article ID 4263923, 13 pages, 2019.
- [29] B. A. Alaba, M. A. Taye and D. A. Engidaw, *L-fuzzy ideals of a poset*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 16 (3) (2018) 285-299.
- [30] B. A. Alaba, M. A. Taye and D. A. Engidaw, *L-fuzzy prime ideals and maximal L-fuzzy ideals of a poset*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 18 (1) (2019) 1-13.
- [31] R. Ameri and R. Mahjoob, *The spectrum of prime L-submodules*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 159, (2008) 1107-1115.
- [32] J. M. Anthony and H. Sherwood, *Fuzzy groups redefined*, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 69 (1979) 124-130.
- [33] J. M. Anthony and H. Sherwood, A characterization of fuzzy subgroups, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 7 (1982), 297-305.
- [34] M. A. Asaad, Group and fuzzy subgroups redefined, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, **39** (1991) 323-328.
- [35] R. Bělohlávek, *Convex sets in algebras*, Acta Univ. Palacki. Olomuc, Fac. Rer. Nat, Mathematica 41 (2002) 21-33.
- [36] R. Bělohlávek and I. Chajda, A polynomial characterization of congruence classes, Algebra Univ. 37(1997), 235-242.

- [37] R. Bělohlávek, I. Chajda, *Congruence classes in regular varieties*, Acta Math. Univ. Com. (Bratislava) 68 (1999), 71-75.
- [38] E. Beutler, *c-reguläre Algebra*, Diplomarbeit, Univ. Hamburg 1972
- [39] E. Beutler, *Theorie der c-Ideale*, Diss. Univ. Hamburg 1975.
- [40] E. Beutler, H. Kaiser, G. Matthiessen and J. Timm, *Biduale Algebren*, Arbeitspapiere Nr. 21, Univ. Bremen 1979.
- [41] K. R. Bhutani, *Fuzzy sets, fuzzy relations and fuzzy groups: Some interrelations*, Inform. Sci., **73** (1993) 107-115.
- [42] G. Birkhoff, Lattice Theory, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. XXV, Providence, U.S.A., (1967).
- [43] G. Birkhoff, On the structure of abstract algebras, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc., 31 (1935), 433-454.
- [44] R. Biswas, *Fuzzy fields and fuzzy linear spaces redefined*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 33 (1989) 257-259.
- [45] T. S. Blyth, *Ideals and filters of pseudo-complemented semilattices*, Proceeding of the Edinburgh Mathematical Society, 23 (1980), 301-316.
- [46] Y. Bo and W. Wu, *Fuzzy ideals on a distributive lattice*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 35 (1990), 231-240.
- [47] D. Boixader, J. Jacas, Fuzzy actions, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 339 (2018) 17-30.
- [48] S. Burris and H. P. Sankappanavor, A Course in Universal Algebra, Springer-Verlag, GTM78, 1981.
- [49] I. Chajda, J. Rachünek, *Relational characterizations of permutable and n-permutable varieties*, Czech. Math. J. 33(1983), 505-508.

- [50] I. Chajda, G. Eigenthaler and H. Länger: Congruence classes in universal algebras, Research and Exposition in Mathematics, Vol. 26 (2003).
- [51] I. Chajda, *Regularity and permutability of congruences*, Algebra univ., 17 (1983), 170-173.
- [52] P. R. Chitipolu, *Fuzzy subalgebras and congruences*, Doctoral Thesis, Andhra University, 2013.
- [53] B. Csákány, Characterizations of regular varieties, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 31 (1970), 187-189.
- [54] B. Csákány, Congruences and subalgebras, Ann. Univ. Sci. Budapest. 18 (1975), 37-44.
- [55] M. Das, M. K. Chakraborty and T. K. Ghoshal, *Fuzzy tolerance relation, fuzzy tolerance space and basis*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 97 (1998) 361-369.
- [56] P. Das, Lattice of fuzzy congruences in inverse semigroups, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 91 (1997) 399-408
- [57] P.S. Das, Fuzzy groups and level subgroups, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 84 (1981) 264-269.
- [58] P. Das, *Fuzzy vector spaces under triangular norms*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 25 (1988) 73-85.
- [59] M. Demirci, Indistinguishability operators in measurement theory, Part I: Conversions of indistinguishability operators with respect to scales, Internat. J. General Systems, 32 (2003) 415-430.
- [60] M. Demirci, Indistinguishability operators in measurement theory, Part II: Construction of indistinguishability operators based on probability distributions, Internat. J. General Systems 32 (2003) 431-458.
- [61] B. De Baets, R. Mesiar, *T-partitions*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 97 (1998) 211-223.

- [62] B. De Baets, R. Mesiar, *Metrics and T-equalities*, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 267 (2002), 531-547.
- [63] P. Dheena and S. Coumaressane, Fuzzy 2-(0- Or 1-) prime ideals in semirings, Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 43 (2006), No. 3, pp. 559-573.
- [64] V.N. Dixit, R. Kumar and N. Ajmal, *Level subgroups and union of fuzzy subgroups*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 37 (1990), 359-371.
- [65] V.N. Dixit, R. Kumar and N. Ajmal, *Fuzzy ideals and fuzzy prime ideals of a ring*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 44 (1991) 127-138.
- [66] V. N. Dixit, R. Kumar and N. Ajamal, *On fuzzy rings*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 49 (1992) 205-213.
- [67] J. Duda, Mal'cev conditions for regular and weakly regular subalgebras of the square, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 46 (1983), 29-34.
- [68] W.A. Dudek, Y.B. Jun, *Fuzzy BCC-ideals in BCC-algebras*, Math. Montisnigri, 10 (1999), 21–30.
- [69] W.A. Dudek, Y.B. Jun and Z. Stojaković, On fuzzy ideals in BCC-algebras, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 123 (2001) 251–258.
- [70] T. K. Dutta and B. K. Biswas, On fuzzy congruence of a near-ring module, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 112 (2000) 343-348.
- [71] T. K. Dutta and T. Chanda, *Fuzzy Prime Ideals in* Γ-*rings*, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 30(1) (2007), 65-73.
- [72] K. Fichtner, Varieties of universal algebras with ideals (Russian), Math. Sb., 75 (1968), 445-453.
- [73] L. Filep and G. I. Maurer, *Fuzzy congruences and compatible fuzzy partitions*, Fuzzy Sets and Fuzzy Systems 29 (1989) 357-361.

- [74] R. Freese and R. McKenzie, *Commutator Theory for Congruence Modular Varieties*, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 125, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1987.
- [75] J. A. Goguen, L-fuzzy sets, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 18 (1967) 145-174.
- [76] G. Grätzer, *Two Mal'cev-type theorems in universal algebra*, J. Comb. Th. 8 (1970), 334-342.
- [77] G. Grätzer, General Lattice Theory, Birkhäuser, Basel 1978.
- [78] G. Grätzer, Universal algebras, Second edition, Springer, New York 1979.
- [79] H. P. Gumm and A. Ursini, *Ideals in Universal Algebra*, Algebra Universalis 19 (1984), 45-54.
- [80] M. M. Gupta and R. K. Ragade, *Fuzzy set theory and its applications: A survey*, IFAC Proceedings Volumes, 10(1977), 247-259.
- [81] H. J. Hoehnke, Radikale in allgemeinen Algebren, Math. Nachr., 32 (1966), 347-383.
- [82] J. Jacas, Similarity relations. The calculation of minimal generating families, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 35 (1990) 151-162.
- [83] J. Jacas, J. Recasens, *Fuzzy T-transitive relations: eigenvectors and generators*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 72 (1995) 147-154.
- [84] G. Janelidze, L. Márki and A. Ursini, *Ideals and clots in universal algebra and in semi-abelian categories*, J. Algebra, 307 (2007) 191-208.
- [85] C. Jayaram, Prime α-Ideals in 0- Distributive Lattice, Indian.J. Pure appl. Math. Sci, 3(1986), 331-337.
- [86] Y. B. Jun, J. Neggers and H. S. Kim, Normal L-fuzzy ideals in semirings, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 82(1996) 383-386.

- [87] Y.B. Jun, X.L. Xin, Fuzzy prime ideals and invertible fuzzy ideals in BCK-algebras, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 117 (2001) 471–476.
- [88] Y.B. Jun, K. J. Lee and C. H. Park, *Fuzzy soft set theory applied to BCK/BCI-algebras*, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 59 (2010) 3180-3192.
- [89] A. K. Katsaras and D.B. Liu, *Fuzzy vector spaces and fuzzy topological vector spaces*, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 58 (1977) 135-146.
- [90] J. L. Kelley, General topology, Von Nostrand, Princeton, New Jersey, 1955.
- [91] J. P. Kim and D. R. Bae, *Fuzzy congruences on groups, Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 85 (1997) 115-120.
- [92] J. G. Kim, Fuzzy orders relative to fuzzy subgroups, Inform. Sci, 80 (1994) 341-348. 31.
- [93] B. B. N. Koguep, C. Nkuimi and C. Lele, On fuzzy prime ideals of lattices, SJPAM, 3 (2008) 1-11.
- [94] M. Kondo, Fuzzy congruences on groups, *Quasigroups and Related Systems*, 11 (2004) 59-70.
- [95] D. Krishnaswamy and T. Anitha, *Fuzzy prime ideals in ternary semirings*, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 7(5), (2014) 755-763.
- [96] R. Kumar, Fuzzy ideals and fuzzy semi-prime ideals, Some ring theoretic analogues, Inform. Sci, 46 (1992) 43-52. 31.
- [97] R. Kumar, *Fuzzy nil radical and fuzzy primary ideals*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 43 (1991) 81-93.
- [98] R. Kumar, Fuzzy semi-primary ideals of rings, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 42 (1991) 263-273.
- [99] R. Kumar, *Certain fuzzy ideals of rings redefined*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 46 (1992) 257-260.

- [100] R. Kumar, Fuzzy prime spectrum of a ring, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 46 (1992) 147-154.
- [101] I. J. Kumar, P. K. Saxtena and P. Yadav, *Fuzzy normal subgroups and fuzzy quotients*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 46 (1992) 121-132.
- [102] R. Kumar, Fuzzy subgroups, fuzzy ideals, and fuzzy cosets: Some properties, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 48 (1992) 267-274.
- [103] H. V. Kumbhojkar, Spectrum of prime fuzzy ideals, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 62 (1994) 101-109.
- [104] H. V. Kumbhojkar and M. S. Bapat, *On semiprime fuzzy ideals*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems,**60** (1993) 219-223.
- [105] T. Kuraoka and N. Kuroki, On fuzzy quotient rings induced by fuzzy ideals, 47(1992), 381-386.
- [106] N. Kuroki, *Fuzzy bi-ideals in semigroups*, Comment. Math. Univ. St. Paul. 28 (1980)17-21.
- [107] N. Kuroki, *Fuzzy congruences and fuzzy normal subgroups*, Inform. Sei. 60 (1992) 247-259.
- [108] N. Kuroki, *Fuzzy congruences on inverse semigroups*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 87 (1997), 335-340.
- [109] N. Kuroki, *Fuzzy semiprime ideals in semigroups*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 8 (1982)71-79
- [110] N. Kuroki, On fuzzy ideals and fuzzy bi-ideals in semigroups, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 5 (1981) 203-215.
- [111] K. H. Lee, First course on fuzzy theory and applications, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 2005.

- [112] S. Li, Y. Yu and Z. Wang, *T-congruence L-relations on groups and rings*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 92 (1997) 365-381.
- [113] W. J. Liu, *Fuzzy invariant subgroups and fuzzy ideals*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 8 (1982) 133-139.
- [114] Y. L. Liu, *Quotient groups induced by fuzzy subgroups*, Quasigroupss and Rewlated Systems, 11 (2004), 71-78.
- [115] Y. L. Liu, J. Meng, and X. L. Xin, *Quotient rings induced via fuzzy ideals*, Korean J. Comput Appl. Math., 8 (2001), 631-643.
- [116] R. Magari, Su una classe equazionale di algebre, Ann. Mat. Pure Appl., (4) 65 (1967), 277-311.
- [117] B. B. Makamba, and V. Murali, *On prime fuzzy submodules and radicals*, J. Fuzzy Math. 8 (4), (2000) 831-843.
- [118] A. I. Mal'cev, On the general theory of algebraic systems (Russian), Matem. Sbornik 35(1954), 3-20.
- [119] D.S. Malik and J.N. Mordeson, *Fuzzy prime ideals of a ring, Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 37 (1990) 93-98.
- [120] D.S. Malik and J. Mordeson, *Fuzzy maximal, radical and primary ideals of a ring*, Inform. Sci, 53 (1991) 237-250.
- [121] D.S. Malik and J. Mordeson, *Radicals of fuzzy ideals*, Inform. Sci 65 (1992) 239-252.
- [122] D. S. Malik, Fuzzy ideals of Artinian rings, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 46 (1990) 111-115.
- [123] D. S. Malik and J. N. Mordeson, *Fuzzy primary representation of fuzzy ideals*, Inform. Sci, 55 (1991) 151-165.
- [124] G. Matthiessen, *Ideals, normal sets and congruences*, Coll. Math. Soc. J. Bolyai, 17 (1977), 295-310.

- [125] J. Meng and X. Guo, On fuzzy ideals in BCK/BCI-algebras, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 149 (2005), 509-525.
- [126] N. Mordeson, K. R. Bhuntani and A. Rosenfeld, *Fuzzy group theory*, Springer, 2005.
- [127] N. N. Morsi and S. E. Yehia, *Fuzzy-quotient groups*, Inform. Sci, **81** (1994) 177-191.
- [128] B. B. Mrkamba, V. Murali, *Normality and congruence in fuzzy subgroups*, Inform. Sci. 59 (1992) 121-129.
- [129] N. P. Mukherjee and P. Bhattacharya, *Fuzzy groups some group theoretic analogues*, Inform. Sci, **39** (1986) 247-268.
- [130] N. P. Mukherjee and P. Bhattacharya, *Fuzzy normal subgroups and fuzzy cosets*, Inform.
   Sci, 34 (1984) 225-239.
- [131] T. K. Mukherjee and M. K. Sen, *Prime fuzzy ideals in rings*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 32 (1989) 337-341.
- [132] T. K. Mukherjee and M. K. Sen, *On fuzzy ideals of a ring (I)*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 21 (1987) 99-104.
- [133] V. Murali, A study of universal algebras in fuzzy set theory, Doctoral thesis, Rhodes University, 1987.
- [134] V. Murali, *Fuzzy congruence relation*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 41(1991) 359-369
- [135] C. V. Negoita and D.A. Ralescu, Application of Fuzzy Systems Analysis, Birkhauser, Basel, 1975.
- [136] A. Rosenfeld, Fuzzy groups, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 35 (1971) 512-517.
- [137] M. A. Samhan, T. M. G. Ahsanullah, *Fuzzy Congruences on Groups and Rings*, Internat.J. Math. Math. Sci. 17(1994) 469-474.

- [138] M. A. Samhan, *Fuzzy congruences on semigroups*, Information Sciences, 74 (1993) 165-175.
- [139] M. A. Samhan, Fuzzy quotient algebras and fuzzy factor congruences, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 73 (1995), 269-277.
- [140] B. Šešelja and A. Tepavčevič, On a generalization of fuzzy algebras and congruences, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 65 (1994), 85-94.
- [141] M. Shabir, Y. B. Jun and M. Bano, On prime fuzzy Bi-ideals of semigroups, Iranian Journal of Fuzzy Systems 7(3), (2010) 115-128.
- [142] S. K. Shoara, R. A. Borzooeib and R. Moradian, *Fuzzy congruence relation generated by a fuzzy relation in vector spaces*, Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems, available in Articles in press.
- [143] K. L. N. Swamy and U. M. Swamy, *Fuzzy prime ideals of rings*, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 134 (1988) 94-103.
- [144] U. M. Swamy and D. V. Raju, *Algebraic fuzzy systems*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 41 (1991) 187-194.
- [145] U. M. Swamy and D. V. Raju, *Irreducibility in algebraic fuzzy systems*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 41 (1991) 233-241.
- [146] U. M. Swamy and D. V. Raju, *Fuzzy ideals and congruences of lattices*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 95 (1998) 249-253.
- [147] U. M. Swamy and N.V.E.S. Murthy, *Representation of fuzzy subalgebras by crisp subal-gebras*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 136 (2003), 115-119.
- [148] Y. Tan, *Fuzzy congruences on a regular semigroup*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 117 (2001)447-453.

- [149] A. Ursini, *Prime ideals in universal algebras*, Acta Universitatis Carolinae. Mathematica et Physica, 25 (1984) 75-87.
- [150] A. Ursini, Sulle varietà di algebre con una buona teoria degli ideali, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital., 6 (1972), 90-95.
- [151] A. Ursini, On subtractive varieties I, Algebra Universalis, 31 (1994), 204-222.
- [152] L. Valverde, On the structure of F-indistinguishability operators, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 17 (1985) 313–328.
- [153] L. -X. Wang, A first course in fuzzy systems and control, Prentice-Hall International, Inc., 1997
- [154] H. Werner, A Mal'cev condition on admissible relations, Algebra Univ. 3(1973), 263.
- [155] R. Wille, Kongruenzklassengeometrien, Springer Lect. Notes Math. 113, Berlin 1970.
- [156] C. K. Wong, *Fuzzy point and local properties of fuzzy topology*, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 46 (1974) 316-328.
- [157] X.Y. Xie, *Fuzzy Rees congruences on semigroups*, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 102 (1999) 353-359.
- [158] L. A. Zadeh, Fuzzy Sets, Inform. and Control 8 (1965), 338-353.
- [159] L. A. Zadeh, *Similarity relations and fuzzy orderings*, Inform. and Control 3 (1971) 177-200, 338-353.
- [160] M. M. Zahedi, A note on L-fuzzy primary and semiprime ideals, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 51 (1991) 243-247.
- [161] M. M. Zahedi, Some results on L-fuzzy modules, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 55 (1993), 355-361.

- [162] M. M. Zahedi, On L-fuzzy primary submodules, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 49 (1992), 231-236.
- [163] X. Zhou, D. Xiang, J. Zhan *Quotient rings via fuzzy congruence relations*, Italian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics 33(2014), 411-424.
- [164] H.-J. Zimmermann, Fuzzy Set Theory-and Its Applications, Fourth Edition, Springer Seience+Business Media, New York, 2001.